
Wednesday, 
26 February 2020

10.00 am

Meeting of
Performance and 

Overview Committee
Sadler Road

Winsford
Contact Officer:
Naomi Thomas

Democratic Services

Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service, Sadler Road, Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 2FQ

Tel: 01606 868804
E-mail: naomi.thomas@cheshirefire.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



Cheshire Fire Authority
Notes for Members of the Public

____________________________________________________________________________
Attendance at Meetings
The Cheshire Fire Authority welcomes and encourages members of the public to be at its 
meetings and Committees.You are requested to remain quiet whilst the meeting is taking place 
and to enter and leave the meeting room as quickly and quietly as possible.

All meetings of the Authority are held at Sadler Road Winsford.  If you plan to attend please 
report first to the Reception Desk where you will be asked to sign in and will be given a visitors 
pass.  You should return your pass to the Reception Desk when you leave the building. There 
are some car parking spaces available on site for visitors at the front of the Sadler Road.  
Please do not park in spaces reserved for Fire Service personnel.

If you feel there might be particular problems with access to the building or car parking please 
contact the Reception Desk at Sadler Road Winsford Tel (01606) 868700.
___________________________________________________________________
Questions by Electors
An elector in the Fire Service area can ask the Chair of the Authority a question if it is sent to 
the Monitoring Officer at Fire Service HQ to arrive at least five clear working days before the 
meeting.  The contact officer named on the front of the Agenda will be happy to advise you on 
this procedure.

Access to Information
Copies of the Agenda will be available at the meeting.  A copy can also be obtained from the 
contact officer named on the front of the Agenda. Alternatively, individual reports are available 
on the Authority’s website (www.cheshirefire.gov.uk)

The Agenda is usually divided into two parts. Members of the public are allowed to stay for the 
first part.  When the Authority is ready to deal with the second part you will be asked to leave 
the meeting room, because the business to be discussed will be of a confidential nature, for 
example, dealing with individual people and contracts.

This agenda is available in large print, Braille, audio CD or in community languages upon 
request by contacting; Telephone: 01606868414 or email: equalities@cheshirefire.gov.uk

Recording of Meetings
Anyone attending the meeting should be aware the Authority audio-records its meetings.  There 
is a protocol on reporting at meetings which provides further information.  Copies are available 
on the Service’s website www.cheshirefire.gov.uk or alternatively contact Democratic Services 
for details

Fire Evacuation
If the Fire Alarm sounds you should make you way to the nearest exit as quickly as possible and 
leave the building.  Please follow any instructions from staff about evacuation routes.

mailto:equalities@cheshirefire.gov.uk
http://www.cheshirefire.gov.uk/


MEETING OF THE PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY, 26 FEBRUARY 2020
Time : 10.00 am
Lecture Theatre - Sadler Road, Cheshire

AGENDA

PART 1 - Business to be discussed 

1 PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

1A Record of Meeting 
Members are reminded that this meeting will be audio-recorded.

1B Apologies for Absence 

1C Declaration of Members' Interests 
Members are reminded that the Members’ Code of Conduct 
requires the disclosure of Statutory Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, 
Non-Statutory Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Disclosable Non-
Pecuniary Interests.

1D Minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee 
To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the 
Performance and Overview Committee held on 27 November 2019 

(Pages 1 - 6)

ITEMS REQUIRING DISCUSSION/DECISION 

2 Financial Review - Quarter 3, 2019-20 (Pages 7 - 14)

3 Performance Report - Quarter 3, 2019-20 (Pages 15 - 56)

4 Programme Report - Quarter 3, 2019-20 (Pages 57 - 70)

5 Internal Audit Progress Report - Quarter 3, 2019-20 (Pages 71 - 96)

6 Bonfire Period Report 2019 (Pages 97 - 118)

7 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Update (Pages 119 - 132)

8 Grenfell Tower Inquiry Phase 1 Update (Pages 133 - 148)



9 Forward Work Programme 

The table includes those items that have been identified/agreed to-
date.  Members are asked to agree any additional items at the end 
of the meeting which need to be added to the programme.

(Pages 149 - 150)

PART 2 - BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED IN PRIVATE

NONE



1

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
held on Wednesday, 27 November 2019 at Lecture Theatre - Sadler Road, Cheshire at 
10.00 am

PRESENT: Councillors Phil Harris, Gina Lewis, James Nicholas, Peter Wheeler and 
Norman Wright

1 PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

A minute’s silence was held during the meeting to honour the passing of former 
Member, Councillor Terry O’Neill.

A Record of Meeting 

Members were reminded that the meeting would be audio-recorded.

B Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Razia Daniels, Jonathan 
Parry and independent (non-elected) member Derek Barnett.

C Declaration of Members' Interests 

There were no declarations of Members’ interest.

D Minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee 

RESOLVED: 

That the minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee held on 
Wednesday 4th September 2019 be confirmed as a correct record.

2 FINANCIAL REVIEW - QUARTER 2, 2019-20 

The Treasurer introduced a report which provided a review of the Service’s forecast 
financial performance at mid-year and an update on progress against the 2018-19 
capital projects.

He informed Members that the Quarter 2 Review was reporting a forecast 
underspend of £102k in relation to the revenue budget.  This meant that there was a 
cumulative underspend of £177k.

He also reminded Members about the substantial capital programme which was 
detailed in Appendix 3 to the report.

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 1D



Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee

Wednesday, 27 November 2019

2

In view of the timing of capital expenditure and the current level of reserves, the 
Treasurer recommended that the Authority should use reserves to finance the 
training centre and defer borrowing to a later date.  The funding for Crewe Fire 
Station would be revisited when feasibility of the project had been concluded.  
 
RESOLVED: That 

[1] the forecast outturn position be noted; and

[2] the movement in reserves as set out in Appendix 2 be approved. 

RECOMMENDED: That

[1] the Fire Authority change the way for the training centre is funded 
(utilising reserves rather than borrowing) noting the removal of the cost 
of borrowing from the revenue budget for April 2020.

3  PROGRAMME REPORT - QUARTER 2, 2019-20 

The Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive provided Members with an update on the 
Service’s programmes and projects.  He referred Members to Appendix 1 to the 
report which contained a health report for the Quarter 2, 2019-20.

He provided Members with an update on several programmes/projects which 
included: the replacement of Chester Fire Station; the replacement of Crewe Fire 
Station; the Sadler Road Training Centre project; the Operational Training Group 
Review and the sprinkler campaign. 

Members emphasised the importance of installing sprinklers in public buildings such 
as schools and assisted living facilities.  A Member queried whether Sanctuary 
Housing in Chester had sprinklers installed within their premises.  The Head of 
Protection and Organisational Performance confirmed that Sanctuary Housing had 
committed to installing sprinklers.  He stated that sprinkler installation costs had 
significantly risen but this had not deterred Sanctuary Housing’s commitment.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the Programme Report – Quarter 2 2019-20 be noted.

4  PERFORMANCE REPORT - QUARTER 2, 2019-20 

The Head of Protection and Organisational Performance introduced the report which 
provided Members with an update on the Service’s performance against the key 
performance indicators (KPIs) for Quarter 2, 2019-20. Appendix 1 to the report 
contained the corporate performance scorecard reflecting the Quarter 2 position 
against targets set and the year-on-year direction of travel for the Service’s KPIs.

Members were referred to Appendix 2 of the report which contained a detailed 
description of each KPI, including a summary of current performance and any 
actions taken to improve performance.  

Page 2



Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee

Wednesday, 27 November 2019

3

The Head of Protection and Organisational Performance highlighted that officers had 
recommended a 25% reduction in the target for Safe and Well visits delivered to 
properties of heightened risk because of difficulties securing the necessary targeting 
data.  Despite struggling to access data, he informed Members that performance at 
platinum addresses was above target. 

The Service Delivery Manager provided further details concerning the Service’s 
current performance for on-call availability.  A Member requested further clarification 
regarding the on-call availability and on-call recruitment target.  The Service Delivery 
Manager explained that the Service was under establishment and despite increased 
recruitment, the new recruits were required to undergo extensive training before 
being fully competent.  Until the recruits were competent, they would not be able to 
provide on-call availability. 

RESOLVED: That

[1] the Performance Report – Quarter 2, 2019-20 be noted.

5  HMICFRS INSPECTION ACTION PLAN - HEALTH REPORT 

The Head of Protection and Organisational Performance introduced the report which 
enabled Members to review the performance against the action plan created in 
response to the identified “Areas for Improvement” from the inspection report 
published by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue 
Services (HMICFRS).

He informed Members that the action plan was monitored by the Service 
Management Team on a quarterly basis.  It was agreed that Members would 
scrutinise performance against the action plan at the Performance and Overview 
Committee on a six monthly basis relying upon the health report. 

Members were reminded that the inspections reports for tranche 1 and 2 had been 
released, with tranche 3 were awaiting publication.  The Organisational Performance 
team had conducted an analysis of each tranche to identify good practice in other 
services for the Service Management Team to consider. 

The Head of Protection and Organisational Performance reported that the Service 
had made good progress against all of the actions within the report and that the 
recent staff survey results show improvements concerning the areas within the 
“people” section of the inspection report.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the HMICFRS Action Plan – Health Report be noted.

Page 3



Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee

Wednesday, 27 November 2019

4

6  INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT - QUARTER 2, 2019-20 AND FOLLOW-
UP REPORT 

Anne Marie Harrop (the Auditor), a representative from Mersey Internal Audit 
Agency (MIAA) was in attendance at the meeting to present the quarterly progress 
summary of the 2019-20 Internal Audit Plan, attached as Appendix 1 to the report.

She informed Members that during Quarter 2 the reports were completed 
concerning: Volunteers Safety Central Review; HMICFRS – Phase 1 Gap Analysis; 
and the Follow-Up. 

Members observed that the Volunteers Safety Central Review had obtained a 
substantial assurance rating and the HMICFRS – Phase 1 Gap Analysis but showed 
no major concerns at present. 

The Auditor had requested a deferral for the report on professional standards until 
next year as the standards had not been released.  She assured Members that a 
report would be produced when appropriate.

She highlighted the Follow-Up report attached as Appendix 2 to the report, which 
identified a number of recommendations that needed to be concluded.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the Internal Audit Progress Report – Quarter 2, 2019-20 and Follow-Up 
Report both be noted.

7  ANNUAL HEALTH, SAFETY AND WELLBEING REPORT 2018-19 

The Health, Safety and Wellbeing Manager introduced the report which provided an 
update on the management of health and safety in the Service.  He highlighted to 
Members the key achievements of the Service during 2018-19. 

Members were concerned about the slight increase in recorded attacks on staff in 
recent years.  The Health, Safety and Wellbeing Manager informed Members that 
the data included verbal attacks as well as physical.  Most attacks recorded were 
verbal and there were no injuries from physical attacks.  The Chief Fire Officer and 
Chief Executive also commented that Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service results 
were good compared to other fire and rescue services.

Members queried how firefighters dealt with obstructive parking whilst on duty.  The 
Health, Safety and Wellbeing Manager advised that campaigns, leaflets and social 
media advertisement were used to target areas of concern.  He also informed 
Members that occasionally, firefighters would physically move cars that obstructed 
access.

RESOLVED: That 

[1] the Annual Health, Safety and Wellbeing Report 2018-19 be noted.

Page 4



Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee

Wednesday, 27 November 2019

5

8  ANNUAL ROAD SAFETY REPORT 2018-19 

The Deliberate Fire Reduction and Road Safety Manager introduced the report 
which appended the Authority’s Annual Road Safety Report 2018-19, containing 
details of interventions delivered by the Service.  He highlighted the achievements of 
the Service at events throughout the year which included the success of the school 
pavement signs outside schools within Cheshire East.

A Member raised concerns with maintenance of the school pavement signs.  The 
Deliberate Fire Reduction and Road Safety Manager explained that the signs were 
the responsibility of the Cheshire East enforcement officer, who would remove them 
after the school had closed to ensure they were not damaged.  He also advised that 
the signs were filled with water so they were not likely be stolen. 

Members queried how many fatalities within Cheshire were motorway related.  The 
Deliberate Fire Reduction and Road Safety Manager stated that so far this year 
there were approximately 6 motorway-related fatalities from a total of 34.   

A Member queried how the use of black boxes had impacted the number of 
incidents involving young drivers.  The Deliberate Fire Reduction and Road Safety 
Manager informed Members that black boxes did not necessarily target a specific 
demographic. However, during the “thinkdrivesurvive” programme  black boxes were 
discussed and were considered to be effective at encouraging better driving and 
reducing the chances that a driver would succumb to peer pressure whilst driving.

Members thanked and congratulated the Deliberate Fire Reduction and Road Safety 
Manager and his team for their work and proactive commitment to road safety.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the Annual Road Safety Report 2018-19 be noted.

9  INTERIM BONFIRE REPORT 

The Deliberate Fire Reduction and Road Safety Manager provided Members with a 
verbal interim update on the preventative and operational activities of the Service 
during the bonfire period.  He confirmed that a full report would be presented to the 
Committee at its next meeting.

He reported that there had been a 20% reduction in incidents recorded during the 
bonfire period compared with the previous year.  He highlighted that the unitary 
areas saw a reduction in secondary deliberate fires, with the exception of 
Warrington.  He explained that the decrease in incidents was likely due to the 
popularity of organised displays and some major retailers no longer sold fireworks.

Members commended the work of the prevention staff and firefighters over the 
bonfire period as well as their partnership work with the police and housing 
association to identify hotspot areas to target. 

Page 5



Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee

Wednesday, 27 November 2019

6

RESOLVED: That

[1] The verbal interim bonfire report be noted.

10  ANNUAL "ON THE STREETS" YOUTH WORK REPORT 2018-19 

The Fire Cadet Manager introduced the report which provided Members with an 
update on the work undertaken by the ‘On the Streets’ (OTS) team over the past 12 
months.  She explained that the programme was delivered in areas with high levels 
of arson, small deliberate fires and anti-social behaviour.

The Fire Cadet Manager summarised the local engagement that had occurred with 
the OTS teams in each of the unitary areas within Cheshire.  She informed Members 
that working across all four unitary areas had resulted in increased community 
engagement.

Members queried whether the OTS team liaised with local councils to identify 
locations or individuals where the OTS activities could be focussed. The Fire Cadet 
Manager informed Members that the OTS team had been contacted by local 
councils to work in specific areas of concern. She also informed Members that the 
OTS team had recently worked with local partner agencies on a campaign against 
knife crime.

Members praised the OTS and prevention team for their continuous work within the 
unitary areas to decrease arson, small deliberate fires and anti-social behaviour. 

RESOLVED: That

[1] the Annual Report – ‘On the Streets’ Youth Work 2018-19 be noted.

11  FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 

The forward work programme was considered by Members and no 
changes/additions were made.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the Forward Work Programme be noted.

Page 6



CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY 

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
DATE:  26TH FEBRUARY 2020 
REPORT OF: HEAD OF FINANCE 
AUTHOR:  WENDY BEBBINGTON 
_______________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: FINANCIAL REVIEW - QUARTER 3, 2019-20 
_______________________________________________________________ 

Purpose of report 

1. This report provides Members with a review of the Service’s forecast of
financial performance at the end of Quarter 3 and reports on the 
progress against 2019-20 capital projects.

Recommended: That Members 

[1] note the forecast outturn position; and

[2] approve the movement in reserves as set out in Appendix 2.

Background 

2. The Authority’s vision, plans, policies, and organisational structures are
all focused on ensuring the Service can deliver the improvements in
safety outcomes that matter to the communities of Cheshire East,
Cheshire West and Chester, Halton and Warrington.

3. On 13th February 2019 the Authority approved the 2019-20 net revenue
budget of £43.461m together with a 2019-20 capital programme of
£17.488m.  Performance against both the revenue and capital budgets is
reported quarterly to the Performance and Overview Committee (P&O).
A summary of the revenue budget performance year to date is shown in
the following table. The position in the year to date is a forecast
overspend of £80k.

Revenue Budget Forecast Outturn 

(Under) 
/ Over 
£000 P&O Committee 

Quarter 1 - 30th June 2019 (75) 4th September 2019

Quarter 2 - 30th September 2019 (102) 27th November 2019

Quarter 3 - 31st December 2019  257 26th February 2020

Cumulative amount for 2019-20 80 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



Information 
 
Forecast Revenue Spending 
 
4. At third quarter there are no significant issues identified that will impact 

on the forecast to the year end.  Based on this assessment, there is a net 
forecast overspend of £257k as shown in the next table with further 
details of each service area’s forecast outturn set out in Appendix 1. 

 

Summary for 2019-20 Quarter 3 Review 
Original 
Budget 

£000 

Forecast 
Spend 

£000 
Variance 

£000 

Firefighting and Rescue Operations 27,363 28,556 1,193 

Protection 1,942 1,939 (3) 

Prevention 2,463 2,252 (211) 

Support Services 9,657 9,605 (52) 

Unitary Performance Groups 100 113 13 

Finance Resources 1,364 (494) (1,858) 

Contributions to/(from) reserves 572 1,727 1,155 

Net Revenue Position 43,461 43,698 237 

Funding:    

    Council Tax (Precept) (29,084) (29,084) - 

Collection Fund Surplus (council tax) (382) (362) 20 

Business Rates Retention scheme (9,501) (9,501) - 

Collection Fund Deficit (business rates) 86 86 - 

Business Rates S31 grants (653) (653) - 

Revenue Support Grant (3,927) (3,927) - 

Net Overspend in 3rd Quarter - 257 257 

 
5. The following details cover the main, significant variances shown in the 

above table. 
 
5.1. Service Delivery has incurred approximately £1.2m overspend due to 

being over-establishment on whole-time firefighters during 2019-20, 
partly offset by underspend on on-call establishment.  As part of 
workforce planning, there is a need to replace retirees and leavers and 
this over-establishment is short-term to ensure continuity of service and 
skills.  Also included is expenditure of £46k offset by funding from 
Derbyshire Fire (Whaley Bridge incident August 2019) and South 
Yorkshire Fire (flooding incident in November 2019) under the Bellwin 
Scheme.  Additional costs of £85k have been incurred in relation to 
employers’ pension contributions due to a number of employees being in 
the 1992 scheme, whereas the budget is based on the 2015 scheme 
costs.  Additional costs of £54k have been incurred due to the temporary 
appointment of two on-call support roles for six months as agreed by 
Service Management Team. 

Page 8



5.2. Operational Policy and Assurance is reporting an overspend at quarter 3 
of £233k.  A significant part of which is £200k for uniform and personal 
protective equipment for the new recruits, transferees and apprentices, 
as well as roll out of new kit to existing firefighters.  In addition, a new 
temporary unbudgeted High Rise Project Officer (Watch Manager) post 
has been created for 12 months costing £56.4k in recognition of the 
impact of the Grenfell Enquiry.  Finally, as part of the 2019-20 budget, 
funding for undress uniform of £115k was included.  However, it is now 
anticipated that the actual procurement will take place early in 2020-21 
and therefore this funding will be carried forward. 

 
5.3. Protection is anticipating an underspend of £3k.  The main variations 

include staff costs being £59k less than budget, offset by 
underachievement of primary authority income of £16k and additional 
costs as a result of the Beechmere investigation of £18k.   

 
5.4. Prevention is predicting an underspend of £211k in the third quarter.  

Impact of the reduction in Safe and Well visits have saved £71.6k, 
together with underspends of £27k on staff costs.  There is a general 
underspend on cadets related expenses, equipment and uniform giving a 
saving of £24k, of which £10k is to be transferred to reserve to part fund 
cadet kit refresh now planned for 2020-21.  There is an anticipated £30k 
reduction in the Authority’s contribution to Princes Trust as number of 
teams has reduced. 
 

5.5. Finance Resources hold a couple of contingency budgets which are not 
required in 2019-20 resulting in a saving of £125k which has been 
reflected in the permanent savings within the proposed 2020/21 budget.  
Additional income of £28k received on external investments is to be 
transferred to the capital reserve to contribute to the funding of the capital 
programme and reduce the future need to borrow.  Grant Thornton, the 
Authority’s external auditors, have invoiced for a supplementary fee for 
2018-19 and intend to charge £4.5k extra for 2019-20 for additional audit 
work required, including the impact of the McCloud case on pensions. 
 

5.6. For 2019-20 the pay budgets were set on the assumption that grey book 
employees were in the 2015 firefighter’s pension scheme.  Finance 
Resources holds a budget for the additional costs relating to some 
operational staff being in the 1992 pension scheme which is 30% more 
costly.  At mid-year, this budget was not deemed necessary as service 
areas have been able to absorb the additional costs within their pay 
budgets resulting in £400k underspend being reported at quarter 2 with a 
similar amount for the second half of the year. 
 

6. In summary, the position at the end of the quarter 3, when forecast 
expenditure and funding are brought together, is for a forecast overspend 
to the year end of £257k: i.e. a cumulative forecast overspend of £80k 
when the position for the previous quarters are included.  The position 
will continue to be monitored during the remainder of the financial year.     

 

Page 9



Capital Programme 
 
7. At the end of December 2019, the Authority had an overall capital 

programme of £32.5m. The forecast outturn spend is £34.2m, £1.7m 
above the current programme mainly due to the following major build 
projects. 

 
7.1. On 18th September 2019, the Authority approved the replacement fire 

station at Crewe for Fire only and noted that the existing £5m approval 
would need to be increased.  A revised estimate is used for financial 
planning purposes at this point, however it is still too early in the design 
stage to provide a firm indication of likely costs.  As agreed, a further 
report will be presented to the Authority containing detailed options, 
proposals and costs. 

 
7.2. Additional costs of £0.7m are currently forecast on the new operational 

training facility at Sadler Road.  This is higher than the approved 5% 
contingency (£550k) and is largely due to additional asbestos related 
costs; planning condition discharge delays; additional costs relating to 
ground conditions; and essential additional repair costs (fire alarm and 
window replacement and drainage) that were not included in the original 
plans.  Progress on the new operational training facility, including costs, 
is being monitored by the Land and Property Group.   

 
7.3. Chester Fire station has incurred additional cost of £0.25m which is 

within the approved 5% contingency (£275k).  These are mainly due to 
costs from planning refusal; the need for archaeological evaluation; 
higher than anticipated temporary accommodation costs; and higher 
service diversion/provision costs.  

 
8. Details of all the capital schemes are in Appendix 3.  
 

Financial implications 
 
9. This report considers financial matters. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
10. There are no legal implications arising from the report. 
 

Equality and diversity implications 
 
11. There are no equality and diversity implications arising from this report. 
 

Environmental implications 
 
12. There are no environmental implications arising from this report. 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS: NONE  

Page 10



Appendix 1 
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY QUARTER 3 2019-20     
      

  

Original 
Budget  

£000 

Forecast 
Spend  

£000 

Income/ 
expenditure 

variance 
£000 

Firefighting and rescue operations     

 Service Delivery 21,979 22,939 960 

 Operational Policy and Assurance 5,384 5,617 233 

Protection 1,942 1,939 (3) 

Prevention     

 Community Safety 2,042 1,866 (176) 

 Safety Centre 421 386 (35) 

Support Services     

 Executive Management 1,014 1,055 41 

 Workforce Transformation 197 212 15 

 Property Management 1,609 1,744 135 

 Finance 395 391 (4) 

 ICT 1,539 1,492 (47) 

 Legal and Democratic Services 528 500 (28) 

 People and Development 1,677 1,693 16 

 Planning, Performance & Communications 945 886 (59) 

 Procurement and Stores 234 209 (25) 

 Fleet services 1,519 1,423 (96) 

Unitary Performance Groups 100 113 13 

Finance Resources 1,364 (494) (1,858) 

Contributions to/(from) reserves  
* see appendix 3 

572 1,727 1,155 

Total Service Expenditure 43,461 43,698 237 

Funding:     

 Council Tax (Precept) (29,084) (29,084) - 

 Collection Fund Surplus (council tax) (382) (362) 20 

 Business Rates Retention scheme (9,501) (9,501) - 

 Collection Fund Deficit (business rates) 86 86 - 
 Business rates S31 grant (653) (653) - 
 RSG (3,927) (3,927) - 

Total Funding (43,461) (43,441) 20 

     

Forecast Net Overspend - 257 257 

         

Page 11



Appendix 2 
MOVEMENT IN RESERVES 2019-20 

  TOTAL 

Department Description £000 

Finance Resources Annual Contribution to Capital 572 

 Approved as part of 2019-20 Budget 572 
   

Property Management Annual contribution of RHI Income to Environment Reserve 25 

Property Management Annual contribution Poynton Maintenance 5 

ICT Annual contribution Mobile Data Terminals 34 

 Annual Contributions 64 
 

Q1 Contributions to/(from) Reserves (reported to P&O, 4 Sept 2019) 

Finance Resources Transfer to capital reserve - loan costs - not required in Qtr1 77 

Finance Resources Transfer to capital reserve - Additional Investment Income 22 

Finance Resources Repayment of LGPS actuarial costs funded from reserves 285 

Finance Resources Ill Health pension costs (16) 

OPA New Dimensions Grant - transfer to reserves 6 

OPA Vet fees funded from reserve (1) 

Protection Contribution to one retro fit of sprinklers (36) 

Prevention Road safety - transfer to reserve  7 

Prevention Cadets - temporary storage container * reversed Q2 (4) 

Workforce Transformation Contribution from reserve  to staff survey - bi-annual (11) 

Workforce Transformation Pilot Health & wellbeing advisor post costs falling into 2020-21 9 

Finance  Agresso upgrade funded from reserve (31) 

People & development Operational staff recruitment drive   (15) 

People & development Payroll contract extension then set up costs * reversed Q2 (44) 

Quarter 1 Review First Quarter Review underspend  to capital reserve 75 

 First Quarter Transfers 323 
   

  
Q2 Contributions to/(from) Reserves (reported to P&O, 27 November 2019)  

OPA Funding for NOGs post 2019-20 period 1 - 6 (27) 

OPA Funding for NOGS post 2020-21 period 1 - 6 32 

Protection Prosecution income to reserve 14 

Protection Whole Service Review project 31 

Protection ISO1720 accreditation delayed 18 

Prevention Cadets - temporary storage container * reversal of Q1 transfer 4 

Prevention Safety Central website funded from reserve (11) 

People & development Payroll contract extension then set up costs  * reversal of Q1 44 

People & development Payroll contract extension then set up costs  (1) 

Unitary Performance Groups Schemes committed to in previous years, paid in 2019-20 (16) 

Finance Resources Transfer to capital reserve - loan costs – no longer required 231 

Finance Resources Transfer to capital reserve - Additional Investment Income 50 

Finance Resources Transfer to capital reserve – Additional pension grant 301 

 Second Quarter Transfers 670 

   

Quarter 2 Review Second Quarter Review underspend  to capital reserve 102 

   
  

Page 12



Appendix 2 (cont’d) 
  

Department Description £000 
  

Q3 Contributions to/(from) Reserves (reported to P&O, 26 February 2020)  

Service Delivery Temporary on-call support roles  18 

OPA Training fees during Sadler Road site project  39 

OPA Drone project (1) 

OPA Inner fleeces / thermal fleeces (2017-18 OO867) (30) 

OPA Growth item for undress uniform delayed to 2020-21 115 

OPA Temporary High Rise Project Officer post 42 

OPA Operational equipment (branches / connections / hose reels) (70) 

Prevention 
Project to create profiles of members of the community which 
indicates how “fire safe” they are. 

15 

Prevention Cadet uniform refresh delayed until 2020-21 10 

Workforce Transformation 
Pilot Health & wellbeing advisor post costs falling into 2020-21 
* reversal of Q1 

(9) 

Property Management 
Transfer to capital reserve - Revenue contribution to Poynton 
drill tower 

27 

ICT Replacement servers (20) 

Legal and Democratic Services Democratic Services System hosting fee (3) 

People & development Corporate training 50 

Finance Resources Transfer to capital reserve - Additional Investment Income 28 

 Third Quarter Transfers 211 
   

 Sub-total 1,942 

Quarter 3 Review 
Third Quarter Review overspend reducing amount going to 
capital reserve 

(257) 

TOTAL POTENTIAL NET CONTRIBUTION TO/ (FROM) RESERVES 2019-20 1,685 

Page 13



Appendix 3 
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY CAPITAL QUARTER 3 2019-20 

  

2019-20 
Capital 
Budget 

Total 
Programme 

Budget 

 
2019-20 

Expenditure 
to end 
Dec19 

 
Total 

Expenditure 
to date 

Expected 
Scheme  
Outturn Variance 

Service Area Description £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Prior year schemes: ERP Programme - final fees and retention adjustments - - 20 20 25 25 

  ICT Review/Server Replacement Programme - 557 - 311 410 (147) 

  2 x cadets vehicles - 20 - - - (20) 

 Three New Appliances 2018-19 programme - 810 441 744 744 (66) 

 Support vehicles replacement 2018-19 programme  - 60 63 63 63 3 

 New Drill Tower - Poynton Fire Station - 60 76 76 87 27 

  Sub-total - 1,507 600 1,214 1,329 (178)   

2019-20 Schemes: New Operational Training Facility 8,800 11,000 4,008 4,612 11,700 700 

 Chester Fire Station 4,400 5,510 770 1,165 5,760 250 

 Crewe Fire Station 1,300 5,000 2 2 6,000 1,000 

 Fire Station Modernisation Programme 2,000 8,500 483 483 8,500 - 
 Three New Appliances 2019-20 programme 810 810 309 309 775 (35) 

  Support vehicles replacement 2019-20 programme 60 60 - - 60 - 

  Animal Rescue Unit  30 30 - - 30 - 

  2 x Rapid Response Units 60 60 - - 60 - 

  Replacement thermal image cameras (phased replacement) 28 28 26 26 26 (2) 

  Sub-total 17,488 30,998 5,598 6,597 32,911 1,913 

In-year approvals: None       

         
 Total 17,488 32,505 6,198 7,811 34,240 1,735 

 

P
age 14



 

                 CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY 
 

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
DATE: 26th FEBRUARY 2020 
REPORT OF: HEAD OF PROTECTION AND ORGANISATIONAL 

PERFORMANCE  
AUTHOR: ANTHONY JONES  
 

 

SUBJECT:  PERFORMANCE REPORT - QUARTER 3, 2019-20 
_______________________________________________________________ 

 
Purpose of Report 

1. To present the 2019-20 Quarter 3 review of performance for each of the 
Service’s Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). 

Recommended that:  

[1] Members review and consider the information presented in this report.  

Background 

2. The report forms part of the Authority’s performance reporting cycle and provides 
a summary of the Service’s performance against the KPIs for Q3 2019-20.  

Information 

3. The Service’s Performance and Programme Board (members of the Service 
Management Team) receives a quarterly review of performance against KPIs. 
The Board is responsible for monitoring and reviewing progress against 
performance targets and ensuring that action is taken wherever possible if 
targets are not being met.  The performance reviews are in turn presented to the 
Performance and Overview Committee. 

4. The Corporate Performance Scorecard is attached to this report. It reflects the 
Q3 position against targets set and the year-on-year direction of travel for the 
Service’s KPIs.  

5. A more detailed description of each KPI including a summary of current 
performance and any actions required to improve performance is set out in the 
Performance Health Report. 

6. At the meeting on 27th November 2019 Members were informed that the Safe 
and Well target for visits delivered to properties of heightened risk would be 
reduced by 25% due to difficulties in securing the necessary Exeter targeting 
data.   Members were also informed that the target for Fire Safety Audits in Non-
Domestic Premises would be revised. From this quarter the number of audits 
achieved will be shown against the number we have capacity to undertake. Each 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



Technical Fire Safety Officer is targeted to carry out 120 audits a year (30 audits 
per quarter). The revised targets are now reflected in the Performance Health 
Report. 

Financial implications 

7. There are no financial implications with this report. 

Legal implications 

8. There are no issues to report at the end of Q3 that should impact upon the 
Service’s ability to meet its statutory or other legal obligations. 

Equality and Diversity implications 

9. The Service has for a number of years collected and reported equality monitoring 
data across a number of indicators.  This is reported quarterly to the Equality 
Steering Group and annually to this committee so that trends can be identified 
and addressed.  

Environmental implications 

10. There are no specific environmental implications.  Environmental performance 
targets are reviewed and monitored as part of the delivery of the Authority’s 
Environmental Strategy.   

 
Appendix 1 - Safety Central Infographic 
Appendix 2 – Safe & Well Infographic 
Appendix 3 – On-call Availability 
 

Page 16



Page 3 of 42 
18/02/20 

 
THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

P
age 17



Page 4 of 42 
18/02/20   

Vision

IRMP 

Theme

A
c
tu

a
l

T
a

rg
e

t

Q
3
 Y

e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r

Q
3
 2

0
1
8
-

1
9

A
c
tu

a
l

T
a

rg
e

t

Q
3
 Y

e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r

Q
3
 2

0
1
8
-

1
9

A
c
tu

a
l

T
a

rg
e

t

Q
3
 Y

e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r

Q
3
 2

0
1
8
-

1
9

Deaths in Primary Fires 2 0  1 10 Minute Standard 85% 80%  85%
Average Days/Shifts Lost to 

sickness
3.24 4.13  3.17

Injuries in Primary Fires 30 38  44 On Call Availability 64% 85%  62% Working Days Lost To Injury 7.5 20  37

Accidental dwelling fires 241 277  277 Nucleus OC pumps 97% 85%

 - % starting in kitchens
134 

(56%) 
150 

(54%)
Primary OC pumps 65% 85%

 - % in homes with residents 

over pensionable age

40 

(17%) 
45 

(16%)
Secondary OC pumps 43% 85%

Deliberate fires (Primary and 

Secondary)
725 910  879

Fires in Non Domestic Premises 121 123  122

AFAs in Non Domestic Premises 404 358  339

A
c
tu

a
l

T
a

rg
e

t

Q
3
 Y

e
a
r 

o
n
 Y

e
a
r

Q
3
 2

0
1
8
-

1
9

HSAs Delivered to Heightened 

Risk
25,744 22,500  32,112

Platinum address success rate 66% 65%  66%

Thematic Inspections Completed 1,537 1,503  1,507

NDP Fire Safety Audits Completed 1,162 1,245  1,152

 Performance key Year on year direction key

 



 

 

Negative direction of travel year on year by  up to 10%

Negative direction of travel year on year by at least 10%

Failing against target by at least 10%

Year to Date 2019/20 Performance

A Cheshire where there are no deaths, injuries or damage from fires or other emergencies

Protecting Local Communities Responding to Emergencies Developing the organisation

Within 10% of target

Meeting target Improved direction of travel year on year

    No change in direction of travel

O
u

tp
u

ts
O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

P
age 18



Page 5 of 42 
18/02/20 

 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Indicator: [Number of Deaths in Primary Fires] 
Primary fires include all fires in buildings, vehicles and some outdoor structures or any fire 
involving casualties, rescues or fires attended by five or more appliances 
Reporting Period Q3 01/04/2019 

To 
31/12/2019 

Q1 Target 0 Q1 Actual 0 

Q2 Target 0 Q2 Actual 0 

Q3 Target 0 Q3 Actual 2 

YTD Cumulative 
Target 

0 
YTD Cumulative 
Actual 

2 

Previous Status Current Status  

 
 

 

Summary of Current Performance 

 

 
 
 

R G 

Page 19



Page 6 of 42 
18/02/20 

 
 
During quarter 3, 2 fatalities have been recorded both occurred in Winsford, with one due to an 
explosion with a subsequent fire and in the other incident the occupant fell on an electrical heater. 
One victim was aged 76 and the other 92. The cause for both has been recorded as unknown until 
the coroners inquest has taken place. If the coroner decides that either death was not fire related 
then the number of fatalities in primary fires will be reduced accordingly. 
 
Nationally, in 2017/18 41% of fatalities, in accidental dwelling fires, involved people aged 65 or 
older. However, within Cheshire over the last three years 5 out of the last 15 fatalities (33%) in 
primary fires have involved victims aged over 65 
 
The chart on the next page compares the rate of fatalities for over 65’s within Cheshire against the 
rate for England over the last 5 years, with the trend showing significant reductions within Cheshire 
compared to nationally. 

Page 20



Page 7 of 42 
18/02/20 

  

 
 
 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 Our fire investigation officers will continue to work with partner agencies and other 
stakeholders to examine the causes of fires and identify any emerging trends to better inform 
our prevention and protection activities and help prevent further fires occurring.    

 

 The Heads of Department meet every two months at the Incidents of Interest Scrutiny Group.  
Findings, outcomes and actions associated with any fire fatalities, serious injuries, 2 in 24s and 
other ‘incidents of interest’, e.g. Grenfell Towers, are monitored and scrutinised to ensure the 
Service continually improves and learns from these incidents to prevent further fires 
occurring.   

 

 The new set of data identifying potential additional vulnerabilities outside of the over 65 
demographic continues to be used. This is to further ensure our prevention work minimises 
the risks of fire to a broad section of groups.  
 

 The fatal fires and injuries reporting policy enables us to respond to fatalities in fires and a 
thorough internal review will take place to make sure any information from the Fatal Fire 
Review Reports  is scrutinised by Heads of Department and that actions and learnings are 
monitored and communicated effectively. 

 
 The two fatalities in CWAC were over 65 years of age and had previous prevention 

engagement with CFRS.  Prevention activities have been carried out in the local 
neighbourhood and prevention teams are working closely with family members providing 
support.  Fire investigations are ongoing to establish causes for both incidents and Fatal 
Fire/Serious Injury Review reports are being undertaken.  

 

Page 21



Page 8 of 42 
18/02/20 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Indicator: [Injuries in Primary Fires] 
Primary fires include all fires in buildings, vehicles and some outdoor structures or any fire 
involving casualties, rescues or fires attended by five or more appliances. 
 
Reporting Period Q3 

01/04/2019 
To 
31/12/2019 

Q1 Target 11 Q1 Actual 10 

Q2 Target 13 Q2 Actual 6 

Q3 Target 14 Q3 Actual 14 

YTD Cumulative 
Target 

38 YTD Cumulative Actual 30 

Previous Status Current Status 

 
 

 

Summary of Current Performance 

 
 

G G 

Page 22



Page 9 of 42 
18/02/20 

 
  
 
The number of Injuries in primary fires are on target and we have seen a reduction compared to 

2018/19 from 44 to 30 

 15 of the 30 injuries took place in accidental dwelling fires.   

 4 injuries involved victims aged 65 or over. 

 6 injuries were classified as a serious  of which 1 was in an accidental dwelling fire. 

Unitary Authority Number of Injuries (year to 
date)  

Cheshire East 4 

Cheshire West & Chester 12 

Halton 8 

Warrington 6 

Total 30 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 23



Page 10 of 42 
18/02/20 

Cause Number of Injuries 

Fuel/Chemical 5 

Smoking   5 

Cooking 5 

Naked flame 4 

Other appliance or 
equipment 

3 

Candles  2 

Electrical Supply 2 

Industrial Equipment  2 

Heating Equipment  1 

Vehicles only – Electrical 
fault 

1 

Total 30 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Age Group Number of 

Injuries 
Serious 

Number of 
Injuries 
Slight 

0-9 0 2 

10-19 0 2 

20-29 0 2 

30-39 1 4 

40-49 2 5 

50-59 0 2 

60-69 2 5 

70-79 0 1 

80-89 1 0 

90+ 0 1 

Total 6 24 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Injury Description Number of 
Injuries 
Serious 

Number 
of 

Injuries 
Slight 

Burns - severe 4 0 

Burns - slight 0 10 

Combination of burns and 
overcome by gas/smoke 

1 0 

Overcome by gas, smoke or 
toxic fumes; asphyxiation 

1 13 

Breathing Difficulties (other 
than Overcome by gas, smoke 
or toxic fumes; asphyxiation) 

0 1 

Fracture 0 1 

Total 6 24 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 24



Page 11 of 42 
18/02/20 

Cheshire East 
There have been 4 injuries in Cheshire East of which 2 injuries due to deliberate fires in Styal 
Prison and 2 in accidental fires. All injuries were classified as slight. 
Halton & Warrington 
There were 14 injuries in Halton and Warrington one of which was serious and involved the 
deliberate ignition of a property.  
Cheshire West & Chester 
There were 12 injuries of which five were serious , each occurring in separate incidents, with all 
serious injuries being accidental.  A varied number of identified causes were evident in quarter 3, 
which included smoking, faulty electrical goods, heating equipment and unsafe working practices.  
Prevention teams are working closely to establish the severity of the injuries and appropriate 
home fire safety measures in conjunction with Social Services.  One individual has now been 
referred to the CWAC High Risk Panel meetings which CFRS attend.   
 
Press releases through social media and local press raising concerns over faulty substandard 
charging devices were issued following an incident affecting two small children.   
 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 The Fatal Fire and Serious Injuries Reporting Policy enables us to respond to incidents and 

ensure our activities are focussed on preventing further injuries caused by fire.  The policy 

directs that where a serious injury occurs, as a result of fire, a thorough internal review will 

take place.  Internal Serious Injuries Review Reports will then be scrutinised alongside Fatal 

Fire Review Reports by the Heads of Department at the Incidents of Interest Scrutiny group on 

a bi-monthly basis to ensure that any outcomes, actions and learning points are monitored 

and communicated effectively. 

 Prevention teams continue to work to establish severity of the injuries and appropriate home 

fire safety measures in conjunction with Social Services and other partnership agencies. 

 Station twitter and Facebook accounts continue to be active informing the public with safety 

messages, some being focused on specific issues e.g. faulty substandard charging devices 

following an incident affecting two small children. 

 Following any accidental injury related fire incident, corporate communications instigate a 

social media campaign, highlighting safety messages specific to the causation of the fires.  

 All domestic fires are followed up with targeted “hotspotting” of the local area, to ensure 

those living in close proximity of affected properties also receive fire safety advice and 

reassurance. 

 The figures indicate a large proportion of the fire injuries occurred outside of our “normal” 

targeted Safe and Well approach, in engaging with the over 65 demographic of our 

communities. 

 As a consequence of identifying those households at risk our pilot to target people with 

additional vulnerabilities, using MOSAIC profiling data, will help support targeting the under 

65 demographic for: 

 People living in rented accommodation 

 Those who smoke excessively 

 Those who drink excessively 

 Single parent family, with children under high school age 

 Those in receipt of disability or incapacity benefits. 

Page 25



Page 12 of 42 
18/02/20 

  

 The pilot stations are: Powey Lane, Chester, Winsford, Northwich, Wilmslow, Macclesfield and 
Crewe. During the visit crews will be asked to validate the data they are using. 

 Injuries are monitored and where possible validated and any follow up/referrals to partner 
agencies is carried out by the Prevention Department. 

Page 26



Page 13 of 42 
18/02/20 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Indicator: [Number of Accidental Dwelling Fires (ADFs)] 

Reporting period Q3 01/04/2019 
To 
31/12/2019 

Q1 Target 95 Q1 Actual 89 

Q2 Target 84 Q2 Actual 74 

Q3 Target 98 Q3 Actual 78 

YTD Cumulative 
Target 

277 YTD Cumulative Actual 241 

Previous Status Current Status 

 
 

 

Summary of Current Performance 

 
At the end of Q3 there were 241 Accidental Dwelling Fires compared to a target of 277, this is 

also a reduction of 36 incidents compared to the same period in 2018/19.                                        

Looking at the key risk areas, there has been a reduction in the number of kitchen fires of 16. In 

addition there has been a decrease in the number of fires involving single occupancy households 

from 88 to 80. The reduction is split across both single occupancy household types.  

In reviewing all occupancy types no fire-fighting action was required at 98 incidents (40.7%) and 
there was no fire spread beyond the room of origin in 218 (90.4%) of Accidental Dwelling Fires. 

G G 

Page 27



Page 14 of 42 
18/02/20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Occupancy Type No of 
Incidents 

Dwellings Indexed 
Score 

Lone person over pensionable age 40 56533 299 

Lone person under pensionable 
age 

40 73421 230 

Couple one or more over 
pensionable age, no children 

33 80559 172 

Lone parent with dependant 
children 

16 82396 82 

Couple both under pensionable 
age with no children 

29 167332 73 

Couple with dependant children 57 347436 69 

Other 26 209308 52 

 

Unitary Authority Total 

Cheshire East 79 

Cheshire West & Chester 83 

Halton 31 

Warrington 48 

Total 241 

Fire Location Total 

Kitchen 134 

Bedroom 21 

External Fittings  14 

Living Room 18 

External Structures 8 

Utility Room 7 

Bathroom/toilet  7 

Other 32 

Total 241 

Occupancy Type Was a smoke 
alarm present? 

Yes 

Lone person over pensionable age 92.5% 

Lone Person under pensionable age 95% 

Lone parent with dependant 
children 

100% 

Couple one or more over 
pensionable age, no children 

97% 

Couple with dependant children 87.7% 

Couple both under pensionable age 
with no children 

82.8% 

Other                    76.9% 

Total                    90.0% 

  

Page 28



Page 15 of 42 
18/02/20 

The indexed score is a risk score which compares the rate of incidents for each occupancy type 

against the average rate of accidental dwelling fires within Cheshire. The rate is converted to an 

indexed score, with the average rate for Cheshire being converted to a score of 100. The indexed 

score is used rather than the rate so that simple comparisons can be made quarter on quarter 

and across occupancy types. For example an indexed score of 200 indicates that occupancy type 

is twice as likely as average to have an accidental dwelling fire. 

 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

Cheshire East 

 Accidental Dwelling Fire Reports completed by Officer in Command including photos. 

 Incidents are followed up with the Prevention Department 

 Operational crews are delivering safety messages whilst visiting schools and local groups 
visit stations. 

 Post incident visits will continue to be completed. 

 Press releases are sent out by corporate communications and Station Twitter pages are 
updated with timely and relevant messages. 
 

Halton 

 Social media campaigns continue to focus on kitchen safety as this is the place in which the 
majority of accidental fires occur. 

 In response to Fires in the kitchen, Widnes crews held an event at Spike Island Christmas 
Markets in early December along with the Kitchen Safety Unit. 

 Runcorn crews visited Broome Court (flats) to discuss home and electrical safety. 

 During Gas Safety Week each crew held various community safety events. 

 There has been a low uptake in school visits to Safety Central in the Halton area.  Therefore  
every school has now been visited by the team and there has been an increase in the number 
of planned visits to the centre.   
 

Warrington 

 Crews are ensuring that following each incident the relevant social media messages are 
sent out to increase the reach output of our safety messages. Due to the number of 
incidents in the kitchen crews focussed heavily on kitchen & cooking safety during various 
community events including the Firefighter Charity car wash and HSA & Safe & Well visits. 

 Following kitchen safety events in November it must be noted that incidents have reduced 
and the Unitary are below target for this quarter and also year to date. The crews are 
continuing to focus on “distraction whilst cooking” to further educate and reduce this type 
of accidental dwelling fire.  

 
Cheshire West & Chester 

 Following a serious incident research is taking place regards the feasibility of replacing 
halogen heaters with oil filled heaters when they are identified during prevention activities. 

 Other feasibility activities include: 
o the addition of highlighting the Government’s online recall list for household goods 

and the importance of registering ‘White Goods’ 
o if the use of flame detection in the use of gas hobs is readily available for at risk 

groups 
 
 
 

Page 29



Page 16 of 42 
18/02/20 

Safety Central 
Since 1st April 2019 has welcomed 6,668 visitors: including 2,517 pupils and 355 adults from 48 
mainstream schools; 376 young people and 146 adults from 26 non – mainstream schools and 
colleges; 1,339 people and 164 helpers from 48 community groups and 1,771 stakeholders 
attending training or meetings. 
There is on average a 74% improvement in test of key life-skills subject knowledge. 100% of 60 
teachers rated their visits as “very good” or “excellent” with all saying they would visit again. 
See infographic attached as Appendix 1 
 

 
  

Page 30



Page 17 of 42 
18/02/20 

 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Indicator: [Number of Deliberate Fires] 

Reporting Period Q3 01/04/2019 
To 
31/12/2019 

Q1 Target 
(Primary) 
(Secondary) 

 
67 
252 

Q1 Actual 
(Primary) 
(Secondary) 

 
55 
265 

Q2 Target 
(Primary) 
(Secondary) 

 
69 
247 

Q2 Actual 
(Primary) 
(Secondary) 

 
68 
149 

Q3 Target 
(Primary) 
(Secondary) 

 
61 
214 

Q3 Actual 
(Primary) 
(Secondary) 

 
59 
129 

YTD Cumulative 
Target 
(Primary) 
(Secondary) 

 
197 
713 

YTD Cumulative Actual 
(Primary) 
(Secondary) 

 
182 
543 

Deliberate Primary Fires                              Deliberate Secondary Fires

Previous Status Current Status Previous Status Current Status 

 
 

   

Summary of Current Performance 

 
 

G G G G 

Page 31



Page 18 of 42 
18/02/20 

Overall 182 deliberate primary fires were recorded at the end of Q3, against a target of 197.  Overall 
the station areas with the highest number of incidents are Runcorn(24), Warrington(23) and 
Birchwood(21) 
 
Across Cheshire, 62 incidents (50%) involved the deliberate ignition of a road vehicle.  Of these, 51 
were cars and 18 motorcycles. 16 out of 18 incidents involving the deliberate ignition of motorcycles 
occurred in Ellesmere Port, Runcorn and Warrington. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deliberate Secondary Fires 

 
 
 
The number of deliberate secondary fires recorded in Q2 was 543 which is 170 under target. The 
highest number of incidents have been in the following station areas - Warrington (117), Runcorn 
(80) and Widnes (59). These three station areas account for 47% of all incidents.   

 
The main property types are loose refuse (160) and small refuse/rubbish/recycling container and 
wheelie bins (157). The main issue in Warrington and Widnes related to the number of fires in 
wheelie bins and small refuse containers. 
 

Unitary area Number of 
Deliberate Primary 

Fires 

Cheshire East 45 

Cheshire West and Chester 46 

Halton 42 

Warrington 49 

Total 182 

Page 32



Page 19 of 42 
18/02/20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Unitary area Number of 
Deliberate 

Secondary Fires 

Cheshire East 90 

Cheshire West and Chester 122 

Halton 162 

Warrington 169 

Total 543 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

Cheshire East (CE) 

 The Superintendent for local policing in Crewe and Macclesfield is going to take the deliberate 
fire data to his TTCG (Tactical Tasking and Coordination Group) meetings going forward. 

 Station Managers currently attend Multi Agency Action Group (MAAG) meetings where fire 
performance is discussed.  CE Protection Dept. attend Vacant & Void meetings. 

 Operational crews continue to complete Police Notification Reports (PNR) as per the policy and 
Police log numbers noted. 

 Operational crews distributed arson leaflets to local schools before breaking up for the school 
holidays.  Discussions around hoax calls also took place and will continue. 

 Fire Investigations are requested where necessary. 

 HD Mobile CCTV units available in local authority area in hotspot areas when required.   
 

Warrington 

 Following an increase in wheelie bin fires in the Orford area of Warrington the Station 
Manager contacted the Police Inspector, Torus Housing and Warrington Borough Council 
(WBC) in relation to holding an impact event with CFRS leading. WBC issued over 500 bin 
policy letters in the area and Torus Housing sent out Warrington wide communications via 
their media networks. 

 Following an increase in deliberate fires, Birchwood have visited the various hot spot areas 
speaking to local residents and handing out wheelie bin stickers.  

 As Chair of the Partnership, Task and Co-ordinating Group, the Station Manager completed a 
funding bid for 20k from the Police and Crime Commissioner’s community safety funding, the 
bid was successful and money will be used to purchase 2 mobile CCTV cameras.  We see the 
importance for temporary, mobile and semi-permanent CCTV to drive our agenda through 
partnership tasking, which will help reduce deliberate fire setting along with other petty 
crime, including fly tipping and vandalism. The equipment will target hotspot areas, with the 
flexibility of being able to move to different locations as required following scrutiny of 
intelligence. 

 
Halton 

 All incidents are being followed up via Beat Managers and Tasking & Co-Ordinating Meetings.  
PNRs completed for all incidents.  

 Following significant anti social behaviour there were only a small number of incidents in Upton 
Rocks Park.  Through the excellent partnership working of Operation Treacle escalation was 
prevented. 

 Utilising the Quarter 2 secondary incidents data highlighting the hot spots, all Runcorn Watches 
have been given detailed hotspots to target by the Deliberate Fire lead.  They have  talked to 
the owners of bins left out and placed stickers on their bins.  

Page 33



Page 20 of 42 
18/02/20 

 Through match funding between Halton Borough Council and Halton Unitary Performance 
Group budget, 6 Stryker Cameras were purchased. Discussions are held at each Tasking & Co-
Ordinating Meeting to decide where the cameras should be situated. Current areas for January 
2020 are: - 
 

Stryker Camera Deployment(s) 

 Upton Rocks Park, Widnes – leave in situ  

 Blackburne Avenue – Neighbour dispute 

 Iveagh Close, Runcorn 

 Mooring Close – ASB in the Marina 

 Busway, Castlefields, Runcorn – leave in situ  
 
ROC (Redeeming our Communities) initiative continues to be active in Halton. This is now being 
rolled out across all Unitary Areas. 
 
Cheshire West & Chester 

 At a development in Chester following three separate incidents CFRS have been working 
closely with the development company and the Police.  The development company have 
bolstered their security measures, whilst Police and Fire have agreed to increase presence in 
that area. Teams from CFRS will be undertaking a programme of prevention in local schools as 
a deterrent. 
 

 Extensive partnership working between Police and Fire has been undertaken in Ellesmere 
Port. This has included joint engagement initiative and intelligence sharing and community 
engagement. The latest initiative of empowering the community through the formation of a 
community group in the Bunbury Green area has meant residents feel stronger to report anti 
social behaviour and its perpetrators, having a positive effect on the anti social behaviour in 
the area. 

 

 
  

Page 34



Page 21 of 42 
18/02/20 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Indicator: [Fires in Non-Domestic Premises] 

Reporting Period Q3 01/04/2019 to 31/12/2019 

Q1Target 45 Q1 Actual 42 

Q2 Target 42 Q2 Actual 43 

Q3 Target 36 Q3 Actual 36 

YTD Cumulative 
Target 

123 YTD Cumulative Actual 121 

Previous Status Current Status 

  

Summary of Current Performance 

 
There have been 121 Non-Domestic Premises fires in the first 9 months which is the same number 
for the same period last year. 
 
The most significant numbers of fires have been identified in the following building types – with 
other categories having less than 8 occurrences: 
 

 Prison             17 

 Single Shop    10 
 

The main causes for fires in Non-Domestic Premises: 

 43 electrical causes - including fluorescent lights, other lights, batteries, wires and cabling.   

 18 industrial equipment including kilns and dryers. 

G G 

Page 35



Page 22 of 42 
18/02/20 

 16 cooking related incidents - including cookers, deep fat fryers and microwaves. 
 

63% of the 121 fires (77 incidents) were either confined to the item first ignited (62) or involved 
smoke and heat damage only (15).  Whilst a further 26 (21%) fires were confined to the room of 
origin.   
 

Cause Heat or 
smoke 

damage 
only 

Confined 
to item 1st 

ignited 

Confined 
to Room of 

origin 

Other 

Electrical 8 24 10 1 

Industrial Equipment 1 10 5 2 

Cooking 0 12 3 1 

 

Unitary Area Accidental Deliberate 

Cheshire East 30 5 

Cheshire West & Chester 34 5 

Halton 13 3 

Warrington 16 15 

Grand Total* 93 28 

 
*For two incidents the cause is unknown 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 The review of our risk-based inspection strategy to improve our targeting methodology is 
ongoing.   

 Offices continue to follow up every fire within non domestic premises with a specific post fire 
inspection (SPIF), in order to identify any deficiencies in fire safety management that lead to 
the occurrence.  These inspections are followed up with audits to ensure compliance and 
action is taken as required. 

 Protection officers continue to take enforcement action in accordance with our enforcement 
management model and prosecute duty holders as appropriate.  Where businesses are 
successfully prosecuted we will use social media and the press to highlight these cases as a 
means of deterrent.     

 In response to enquiries relating to the hire of school/church/community rooms to groups 
such as scouts, guides, fitness classes free workshops were delivered for those who volunteer 
or make decisions about fire safety.  The team also deliver workshops to businesses, schools 
and local authority partners to educate and inform those responsible for fire safety.  

 The Business Safety team continues to utilise social media, the Cheshire Fire Alert system, 
meaning that relevant fire safety and campaigns messages can be communicated to our 
business community quickly.   A ‘Business Information Pack’ is provided during every visit 
made to both new and existing  businesses, this includes all relevant fire safety messages.  In 
addition, free fire-risk assessment templates are available on the Service’s website to assist 
businesses to improve fire safety on their own premises.  The team have also been carrying 
out local hot-spotting activities following incidents.   

 The team also deliver workshops to businesses, schools and local authority partners to 
educate and inform those responsible for fire safety.  

 The department continues to promote the benefits of fire sprinkler systems when engaged 
with businesses and organisations  

 The team are working with social landlords across the service area. 

Page 36



Page 23 of 42 
18/02/20 

 The Protection team is working with the Health and Safety Executive to improve fire safety at a 
number of sites.  

 Officers are working with partner agencies, such as local housing authorities, the Police and  
business leaders to address issues.  

 

 
  

Page 37



Page 24 of 42 
18/02/20 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Indicator: [Number of Automatic Fire Alarms (AFAs) in Non-Domestic 
Premises]/False Alarms 

Reporting Period Q3 01/04/2019 
To 
31/12/2019 

Q1 Target 116 Q1 Actual 115 

Q2 Target 142 Q2 Actual 154 

Q3 Target 100 Q3 Actual 135 

YTD Cumulative 
Target 

358 YTD Cumulative Actual 404 

Previous Status Current Status 

 
 

 

Summary of Current Performance 

 

 
 

An Unwanted Fire Signal is defined by the British Fire Protection System Association as “any alarm 
signal other than a genuine fire or test signal”.   Any false alarm which is subsequently passed to 
the fire and rescue service from an Automatic Fire Alarm is classed as an Unwanted Fire Signal.   
 
At the end of Q3 there were 404 attendances to Automatic Fire Alarms in Non-Domestic Premises 
against a target of 358.   

 

R A 

Page 38



Page 25 of 42 
18/02/20 

The station areas with the highest number of calls are Chester, Macclesfield and Warrington 
which together account for 45% (181) of the overall total. 

 
The main property types for Automatic Fire Alarms are hospitals (118) and nursing, retirement or 
care homes (112).   
 
The most common reason for the alarm to go off was a fault (146), followed by 
accidentally/carelessly set off (71). 
 
This indicator was on target in quarter 1 but has been  off target for quarter 2 and 3. There has 
been an increase compared to last year however there are no core trends as the increases are 
small increases across a number of station areas. The main property types eg care homes and 
hospitals have seen a decrease in the number of attendances , however there has been an 
increase in the number of property types with a single attendance, so there is little in terms of 
trends within the data.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Since the introduction of the revised policy in 2017/18, UWFS have reduced by over 50%. Whilst 
some activations can still be challenged it is unlikely that additional reductions can be achieved 
without a further change to policy which would result in non-attendance to all UWFS without a 
confirmatory phone call. Members have previously indicated a reluctance to progress this 
approach. 
 
Performance in 2018 was 82% lower than in 2005 (before we began targeting UWFS reduction) 
and is likely to improve this year even though the target is not being achieved.  
 
 

Unitary area Number of AFA’s 

Cheshire East 149 

Cheshire West and Chester 157 

Halton 31 

Warrington 67 

Total 404 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 Our fire safety inspecting officers continue to work with business representatives where there 
have been instances of multiple false alarms to reduce calls, e.g. hospitals and residential care 
homes.  

 
 A review of our Unwanted Fire Signal policy is underway to ensure that it takes into account 

modern technology and that premises outside of our attendance policy are scrutinised.  

 

 
  

Page 39



Page 26 of 42 
18/02/20 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Indicator: [A) Number of Safe and Well visits delivered to properties of 
Heightened Risk] 

Reporting Period Q3 01/04/2019 
To 
31/12/2019 

Q1 Target 7,500 Q1 Actual 8,145 

Q2 Target 7,500 Q2 Actual 9,738 

Q3 Target 7,500 Q3 Actual 7,861 

YTD Cumulative 
Target 

22,500 YTD Cumulative Total 25,744 

Previous Status Current Status 

 
 

 

Summary of Current Performance 

 
Number of Safe and Well Visits 
Up to the end of Q3 25,744 heightened risk visits have been completed by Prevention and 
operational staff.   Since 1st April 2019.  2.8% of visits have resulted in referrals to partner health 
agencies – see Infographic attached at Appendix 2.   

 
Platinum Address Success Rate –  
“Platinum” – the top 10,000 households identified at most risk from fire. 

 
The percentage of platinum addresses where we have completed a Safe and Well visit is 66% which 
is above our target of 65% and an improvement on the same period last year. 
 
 
 
 

Indicator: [B) Platinum Address Success Rate 

Reporting Period Q3 01/07/2019 
To 
31/12/2019

Q1 Target 65% Q1 Actual 78% 

Q2 Target 65% Q2 Actual 70% 

Q3 Target 65% Q3 Actual 66% 

YTD Cumulative 
Target 

65% YTD Cumulative Total 66% 

Previous Status Current Status 

 
 

 

Summary of Current Performance 

G 

G G 

G 

Page 40



Page 27 of 42 
18/02/20 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 Safe and Well targets have now been reviewed and are in place for Qtr. 4. 
 

 The Service will continue with our 6 month trial targeting additional domestic property 
occupancy types, utilising Mosaic data.  This data specifically targets households where 
the occupant is under the age of 65, but falls into other “vulnerability” categories based 
on our historical fire data. 

 

 This data set, augments the Exeter data and the first review of its benefits and accuracy is 
now being undertaken. The outcomes of this trial will be reviewed throughout the trial 
period and evaluated as to the success at the end of Qtr.4. 

 

 Work is ongoing to ensure any person under the age of 65, in receipt of ASC support 
packages are offered a visit by Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service to undertake a Safe and 
Well visit, as part of the periodic review of their support package.   The Prevention 
Department are scoping, consent based data sharing agreements, with Cheshire East, 
CWAC and Warrington  Adult Social Care (ASC) teams within Cheshire.  The agreement has 
already been finalised in Halton and work is due to start on 1st April 2020.  

 

 Any visit request that is received via this route, will be completed by the Prevention team, 
due to the potential for more complex needs and the need for partner agency 
involvement. 

 

 Following an evaluation of this process, we may look to expand this agreement to capture 
those families that are in receipt of Children and Young person’s social care support.  

 

 The Prevention Department are also scoping the commissioning of a research and analysis 
organisation to identify future “at risk groups” based on societal influences, that will allow 
us to engage with these groups before they have a fire. 

 

 
  

Page 41



Page 28 of 42 
18/02/20 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Indicator: [Thematic Inspections Completed by Operational Crews] 

Reporting Period Q3 01/04/2019 
To 
31/12/2019 

Q1 Target 501 Q1 Actual 475 

Q2 Target 501 Q2 Actual 563 

Q3 Target 501 Q3 Actual 499 

YTD Cumulative 
Target 

1,503 (75%) YTD Cumulative Total 1,537 (77%) 

Previous Status Current Status 

 
 

 

Summary of Current Performance 

A thematic inspection is a fire safety assessment carried out by operational crews of low-risk Non-
Domestic Premises.   Thematic inspection targets are allocated to all stations with the exception of 
on-call.  By the end of Q3 a total of 1,537 thematic inspections were completed against a target of 
1,503.      
 
 
 

Unitary Number 

Cheshire East 318 

Cheshire West & Chester 482 

Halton and Warrington 737 

TOTAL 1,537 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 In Q4 2019 / 2020 the focus of thematic inspections for operational crews will continue to be 

small shops, which have been identified as premises with the highest incidence of fire. This 

allows the Protection officers to focus on fire safety audits of higher risk premises.  The 

Protection team continue to monitor, identify and inform crews of any emerging trends to 

ensure that the correct types of premises are targeted for thematic inspections.   

 In Chester crews will focus thematic visits in the city centre with a focus on fire safety 

considerations in heritage buildings. 

 In Warrington and Halton crews have focused on those areas outside or on the limit of the 10 

minute attendance times, and the visits have been to shops and other small businesses.  

 At Operational fire safety training sessions we remind crews of the importance of referring any 

issues found during their thematic inspections to the Protection team. The Protection team will 

continue to follow-up on any of these issues and take enforcement action where appropriate.  

 The thematic questionnaire will be added to the new data platform – SAFFIRE - to ensure that 

crews can use it effectively once the platform goes live. 

G 

Page 42



Page 29 of 42 
18/02/20 

 This area of performance is also managed through the Service Delivery Managers (SDM) 

Meetings in each of the unitary areas, ensuring that the target is achieved, standards are 

maintained and feedback following referrals is fed back to crews to enhance their protection 

knowledge and understanding.  

 Multi agency business engagement days continue to be held with a programme of activity for 

Qtr. 4. 

 
  

Page 43



Page 30 of 42 
18/02/20 

 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Indicator: [Fire Safety Audits in Non-Domestic Premises] 

Reporting Period Q3 01/04/2019 
To 
31/12/2019 

Q1Target 450 Q1 Actual 395 

Q2 Target 450 Q2 Actual 345 

Q3 Target 345 Q3 Actual 422 

YTD Cumulative 
Target 

1245  YTD Cumulative Total 1162  

Previous Status Current Status 

 
 

 
 

Summary of Current Performance 

From this quarter we are showing the number of audits achieved against the number we have 
capacity to undertake.  Each of our qualified inspectors are targeted to carry out 30 audits per 
quarter.  For quarter 3 we had capacity to achieve 345 and actually achieved 422.  
 

Area Performance  

Qualified Staff * Q3 Capacity Q3 Total 

Cheshire East 4.5 135 160 

CW & C 3.5 105 107 

Halton & 
Warrington 

4 120 155 

Total 11.5 345 422 

*  Includes Level 3 qualified TFSO  auditing simple premises 

 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 Individual and team targets have been adjusted and performance continues to be monitored 

robustly by Protection managers in a bid to ensure year end targets are met. Staff continue to 

move through the development process which is having an impact on performance against 

target, but this does mean that some staff can only audit less complex premises as outlined 

above. 

 A number of Prohibitions have been issued which has resulted in significant work for officers 

and in addition on-going potential prosecution cases have taken a considerable amount of time 

R A 

Page 44



Page 31 of 42 
18/02/20 

to produce. There were nine prohibitions in Q1, a further five in Q2 and nine in Q3 (8 of these 

are related to The Decks).  

 Resources have been diverted away from audits to focus on investigation and enforcement in 

a number of high profile premises, such as Beechmere, The Decks and Chester rows.   

 A number of impact events have been held increasing business engagement. 

 
  

Page 45



Page 32 of 42 
18/02/20 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Indicator: [10 Minute Standard] 

Reporting Period Q3 01/04/2019 
To 
31/12/2019 

Q1Target 80% Q1 Actual 86% 

Q2 Target 80% Q2 Actual 85% 

Q3 Target 80% Q3 Actual 83% 

YTD Cumulative 
Target 

80% YTD Cumulative Actual 85% 

Previous Status Current Status 

 
 

 

Summary of Current Performance 

 
Overall 85% of life risk incidents were attended within 10 minutes, which is above the target of 
80%. The average attendance time for life risk incidents is 8 minutes and 09 seconds. 
 
Dwellings 
88% of dwelling fires were attended within 10 minutes. 
There were 23 attendances to dwelling fires year to date which failed the standard, of which 8 
occurred during quarter 3. The average attendance time for a first pump to a dwelling fire 
between April 2019 and December 2019  inclusive was 7 minutes and 23 seconds. 
 
Incidents during Q3: 
 
Cheshire East – There were two failures due to: 

 Access to the address being down various tight streets with parked cars 

 One firefighter’s delayed arrival at the station due to alerter issue.  
 
Halton – None  
 
Warrington – There was one failure due to failure to press 'In Attendance' button on the MDT 
correctly. 
 
Cheshire West - There were 5 failures due to distance from the station to the incident. 
 
 
Road Traffic Collisions  
79% of Road Traffic Collisions were attended within 10 minutes.  Overall there were 44 incidents 
year to date which failed the standard, of which 19 occurred during quarter 3. The average time 
from alert to in attendance was 09 minutes 14 seconds. 
 
 

G G 

Page 46



Page 33 of 42 
18/02/20 

Incidents during Q3: 
 
Cheshire East – There were 11 failures due to: 

 Distance from the incident – seven  

 Heavy traffic 

 Confusion regarding the location of the incident  

 Time of day and weather conditions 

 Location of incident and treacherous driving conditions due to ice on the road. 
 
Halton – None 
 
Warrington – There was three failures which were all due to heavy traffic.  
 
Cheshire West - There were five failures due to distance from the station to the incident. 
 
 
Call Handling data 
 
The data below looks at the call handling time (time of call to time of alert) for all fire incidents. 

 
 

 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 CAP holders scrutinise failures and validate these at the local scrutiny meeting. Appropriate 
action is taken to prevent future failures. 

 Following a successful trial of pre-alerting at several stations, SMT has given approval for it to 
be introduced across all stations and duty systems on 23 January.  A pre-alert will be triggered 
on receipt of a call to NWFC. The nearest single appliance will be pre-alerted, regardless of 
what incident type the call turns into.  During the six month trial, improvements in turn-out 
times were observed across all participating duty systems. Wholetime stations averaged a 24 
second improvement with on call stations averaging a 64 second improvement. These will 
continue to be monitored and fed back to crews.    

Page 47



Page 34 of 42 
18/02/20 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Indicator: [On-call Availability] 

Reporting Period Q3 01/04/2019 
To 
31/12/2019 

Q1 Target 85% Q1 Actual 63% 

Q2 Target 85% Q2 Actual 62% 

Q3 Target 85% Q3 Actual 66% 

YTD  
Cumulative 
Target 

85% YTD  Cumulative Actual 64% 

Nucleus Primary on-call Secondary on-call 

Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Previous Status Current Status 

      

Summary of Current Performance 

On Call YTD global availability is currently 63.6% (crew of 4) and 70.3% (crew of 3, available as a 
Small Incident Unit *) 
 
However, there are variations of availability between the differing on-call shift systems, where an: 

 On-call pump is part of nucleus crewing (e.g. Birchwood) 

 On-call pump is the primary pump (e.g. Malpas, Poynton etc.).   

 On-call pump is the second pump (e.g. Winsford etc.) 

 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

The On Call Programme team is now well established within Cheshire since it was introduced in 
early 2019. Across a number of departments, Officers and Fire staff are working closely together 
to make the necessary improvements to the On Call part of the Service. 
 
This involves a number of key workstreams which can be viewed via our intranet home page using 
the link https://i.cheshirefire.gov.uk/news-events/news/new-on-call-section-on-the-intranet  
 
The National Fire Chiefs Council, in conjunction with the Home Office began a rebranding exercise 
for the On Call in 2018 and this campaign and the resultant network of contacts in other UK Fire 
and Rescue Services is critical to seeing our own On Call sector improve. 
 
The #needmore hashtag on social media posts, brightly coloured banners and vehicle wraps are 
just some of the methods our Recruitment team utilise to generate conversation, interest and 
enquiries. A national website provides data analytics and allows us to understand how and where 

G G R R R R 

Page 48

https://i.cheshirefire.gov.uk/news-events/news/new-on-call-section-on-the-intranet


Page 35 of 42 
18/02/20 

we target our recruitment campaigns. We are using innovation such as Facebook to precision 
target who and where our most likely recruits will come from. 
 

 
 
One of the most successful elements of the On Call Programme Team is the pilot of the On Call 
Support Crew Managers. This team of six committed, passionate individuals are actively improving 
appliance availability by attending stations which may have deficiency as well as recruiting and 
training new firefighters to enhance our numbers. 
 
Improvements to our recruitment processes in terms of reducing the time from initial enquiry to 
starting training courses and then riding a fire appliance have proved successful. An increase in 
initial courses for trainee firefighters has been programmed for 2020/2021, based on the increase 
in numbers in the last twelve months. 
 
Work to improve our retention of On Call firefighters is also well underway. The team are 
exploring reward and recognition options for our firefighters as well as the primary employers 
who allow many to respond to emergencies whilst in their main work.  
 
There is strong collaborative work taking place both internally and with our colleagues across the 
UK through the NFCC On Call Practitioners forum. A new Northern regional working group has just 
been established to further cement the work and share the burden of trying to improve the 
sustainability of the On Call sector. Officers from Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service are playing a 
lead role within this group, directing, supporting and shaping the future of the sector. 
 
Notable improvements in the Q3 performance has seen an overall availability increase of 4% from 
Q2 and improvement in availability of 14 from 21 On Call teams when compared to the same time 
last year. 
 
Year to date On Call availability breakdown 
 

Shift With a crew of 
4 

With a crew of 3 
*(SIU) 

Nucleus On Call 96.71% 97.05% 

Primary On Call 64.7% 72.91% 

Secondary On 
Call 

43.13% 49.33% 

 

 
  

Page 49



Page 36 of 42 
18/02/20 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Indicator: [Average Days/Shifts Lost to Sickness] 

Reporting Period Q3 01/04/2019 
To 
31/12/2019 

Q1 Target 1.38 Q1 Actual 0.84 

Q2 Target 
(cumulative)  

2.75 Q2 Actual  
(cumulative) 

1.79 

Q3 Target  
(cumulative) 

4.13 Q3 Actual  
(cumulative) 

3.08 

YTD  Cumulative 
Target 

4.13 YTD  Cumulative Actual 3.08 

Previous Status Current Status 

 
 

 

Summary of Current Performance 

Performance for Fire Staff (4.98) shows higher average days lost than for Operational Staff (2.57) 
and is above the cumulative Q3 target. However the figure for Fire Staff this quarter is lower than 
for Q3 last year which was 6.22. The performance of Operational Staff is strong at 2.57, which is 
well below the target of 4.13, although is a slight increase on the Q3 figure from last year (2.33). 
 
Overall, the figure of 3.08 days lost means that the Service is under target for the quarter. In terms 
of total days lost, for Q3 19/20 this figure is 2,902.5 which is a reduction compared with the slighter 
higher figure of 2,951.5 at the end of Q3 18/29.  
 

Staff 
Category 

# of 
sickness 

days/shifts 

 
Headcount 

Average 
working 

days lost to 
sickness 

per person 

Whole-time 1,080.5 449 2.41 

On-call 822 292 2.82 

Uniform 
Total 

1,902.5 741 2.57 

Fire Staff 1,000 201 4.98 

Q3 Total 2902.5 942 3.08 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 Monthly scrutiny at the Attendance Management meetings continues to be applied to all 
absence cases to ensure that the appropriate interventions are put in place to ensure staff are 
given adequate support to assist with their return to the workplace. 

 Quarterly contract meetings with Occupational Health Unit are also ongoing to monitor service 
delivery and performance. 

 There has been a lot of promotion of preventative health screening appointments for Fire Staff 
following no take up of this offer in 18/19. This has led to 15 staff booking an appointment so 
far in 19/20.  

G G 

Page 50



Page 37 of 42 
18/02/20 

 An Attendance Management Toolkit will shortly be launched to provide managers with an easy 
to use guide to key elements of the attendance management process to help upskill them and 
ensure that absence issues are managed appropriately and staff are adequately supported. This 
will be fully rolled out to all stations. 

 In light of Fire Staff performance being over target this quarter, further work will be undertaken 
to identify any significant trends, underlying causes.  

 The Quarter 2 data from Cleveland Fire Brigade’s quarterly benchmarking exercise showed that 
CFRS had the lowest percentage of Wholetime shifts lost to sickness in the country. The figure 
for Retained staff was the 4th lowest in the country. The figure for Fire Staff showed that CFRS 
was in the top half of best performing services, and the CFRS percentage figure for Fire Staff 
absence was well below the average percentage figure across all services. No data is available 
yet for Quarter 3 performance from Cleveland.  

  

Page 51



Page 38 of 42 
18/02/20 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Indicator: [Working Days Lost to Injury] 

Reporting Period Q3 01/04/2019 
To 
31/12/2019 

Q1 Target 10 Q1 Actual 0 

Q2 Target 10 Q2 Actual 6 

Q3 Target 10 Q3 Actual 1.5 

YTD Cumulative 
Target 

30 YTD Cumulative Actual 7.5 

Previous Status Current Status 

 
 

 

Summary of Current Performance 

In Q3 there were one and a half duty days lost which was a result of an ongoing ankle injury 
sustained in Q2.   The investigation did not identify any actions to be taken by CFRS as it was  
caused by uneven ground. 
 
The Service is below target for the quarter, the yearly total to date is also below the target. 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

The Service Health Safety and Well-Being Committee continues to monitor accident trends in an 
attempt to identify any causes of accidents where we can take proactive measures to prevent 
future occurrences. However one serious accident can skew the figure considerably. 

Page 52



Page 39 of 42 
18/02/20 

Appendix 1  

P
age 53



Page 40 of 42 
18/02/20 

 
 

Appendix 2  

Page 54



Page 41 of 42 
18/02/20 Page 55



Page 42 of 42 
18/02/20 

 

 

APPENDIX 3

Shift System* Appliance Location Call Sign

January 

2019

February 

2019

March 

2019

April 

2019 May 2019

June 

2019 July 2019

August 

2019

September 

2019

October 

2019

November 

2019

December 

2019

Percentage 

without SIU

Percentage with 

SIU

Nucleus OC Macclesfield E19P1 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 96.77% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 99.73% 99.73%

Nucleus OC Birchwood E02P1 98.72% 99.93% 99.93% 98.89% 94.83% 99.58% 96.71% 93.82% 99.72% 98.12% 99.93% 97.58% 98.12% 98.80%

Nucleus OC Wilmslow E23P1 100.00% 100.00% 99.73% 80.76% 83.80% 82.15% 79.77% 94.35% 97.15% 97.78% 98.19% 94.15% 92.29% 92.63%

Primary OC Nantwich E12P1 97.85% 98.44% 96.64% 94.83% 89.11% 89.13% 95.06% 92.10% 93.72% 96.98% 96.08% 96.00% 94.64% 94.65%

Primary OC Poynton E22P1 85.69% 81.96% 83.23% 81.42% 85.22% 91.28% 80.31% 83.80% 87.26% 81.96% 87.57% 81.12% 84.22% 88.09%

Primary OC Alsager E14P1 83.90% 75.45% 70.97% 81.74% 80.07% 78.23% 87.80% 80.24% 83.16% 82.90% 79.58% 89.21% 81.16% 85.96%

Primary OC Sandbach E16P1 76.04% 80.88% 77.35% 84.20% 78.76% 80.45% 82.93% 72.48% 78.30% 78.33% 84.44% 81.05% 79.57% 87.85%

Primary OC Middlewich E26P1 79.91% 76.67% 79.60% 69.13% 78.36% 82.05% 82.59% 63.81% 79.69% 80.58% 78.68% 70.23% 76.77% 78.89%

Primary OC Audlem E13P1 80.38% 78.79% 77.25% 75.14% 84.95% 80.90% 80.61% 62.67% 78.78% 73.52% 71.74% 76.01% 76.71% 86.50%

Primary OC Bollington E20P1 72.82% 68.42% 58.06% 65.28% 48.59% 66.74% 56.69% 56.35% 63.26% 72.24% 79.24% 72.92% 64.98% 71.22%

Primary OC Malpas E11P1 74.19% 65.81% 58.70% 50.00% 49.29% 53.58% 57.36% 49.93% 61.42% 67.88% 64.72% 66.26% 59.91% 67.08%

Primary OC Holmes Chapel E17P1 67.07% 48.07% 61.46% 46.84% 51.85% 53.72% 49.73% 54.03% 29.55% 56.22% 73.99% 65.63% 54.94% 74.08%

Primary OC Stockton Heath E03P1 24.90% 31.03% 46.14% 53.09% 60.01% 67.40% 49.93% 68.72% 54.51% 64.18% 70.80% 59.88% 54.33% 61.23%

Primary OC Knutsford E24P1 52.12% 46.21% 38.84% 44.79% 43.88% 50.73% 48.96% 38.21% 46.32% 49.97% 45.45% 43.45% 45.73% 53.34%

Primary OC Tarporley E10P1 56.79% 42.34% 50.67% 53.02% 33.40% 42.33% 42.57% 38.10% 32.22% 32.46% 41.04% 30.41% 41.26% 64.21%

Primary OC Frodsham E06P1 35.79% 31.29% 39.18% 34.51% 38.47% 21.94% 18.35% 18.58% 9.24% 30.34% 23.78% 20.67% 26.86% 34.77%

Secondary OC Macclesfield E19P2 68.35% 75.30% 71.30% 59.79% 64.35% 57.81% 52.89% 40.89% 62.19% 66.16% 55.42% 54.97% 60.69% 69.55%

Secondary OC Penketh E29P2 52.22% 52.86% 54.33% 56.22% 42.27% 44.62% 56.96% 47.31% 57.85% 61.53% 65.66% 45.93% 53.12% 54.97%

Secondary OC Northwich E25P2 58.37% 45.24% 48.86% 47.08% 37.26% 40.07% 45.36% 42.00% 43.40% 41.43% 37.50% 31.59% 43.18% 54.30%

Secondary OC Runcorn E05P2 44.56% 38.43% 28.13% 27.47% 29.77% 35.42% 42.20% 32.09% 47.67% 50.60% 59.06% 46.47% 40.15% 46.48%

Secondary OC Winsford E27P2 20.36% 19.23% 12.67% 4.79% 11.12% 40.97% 9.07% 23.05% 19.41% 20.03% 19.10% 22.72% 18.51% 21.38%

68.10% 64.59% 64.43% 62.33% 61.21% 64.72% 62.66% 59.49% 63.09% 66.82% 68.19% 64.11% 64.14% 70.90%

Percentage Improvement compared to Q3 

2018/19

ON-CALL AVAILABILITY

Quarterly Availability

Monthly Availability

Quarterly Availability as SIU 72.91% 69.88% 68.34% 72.49%

65.70% 62.75% 61.75% 66.37%

Quarter 4 2018/19 Quarter 1 2019/20 Quarter 2 2019/20 Quarter 3 2019/20

P
age 56



CHESHIRE FIRE & RESCUE SERVICE 

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
DATE: 26 FEBRUARY 2020 
REPORT OF: CHIEF FIRE OFFICER AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
AUTHOR: JOANNE CARTLEDGE/JANET GAUKROGER  

 

SUBJECT: PROGRAMME REPORT - QUARTER 3, 2019-20 

Purpose of Report 

1. To update Members on the Service’s programmes and projects (including those 
contained within the Authority’s annual IRMP action plan). 

Recommended: That 

[1]  Members review the information provided. 

Background 

2. This report forms part of the Authority’s quarterly performance reporting cycle 

which also includes reports on key performance indicators and financial 

performance. 

Information 

3. Progress on delivery of the programmes and projects is reported in the form of a 

quarterly health report to the Service’s Performance and Programme Board 

(members of Service Management Team). The Board is responsible for ensuring 

the successful delivery of programmes and projects contained in the Authority’s 

annual IRMP action plans. The Programme Health Report for the second quarter 

of 2019-20 is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. It was produced for 

Performance and Programme Board in February 2020, verbal updates will be 

provided, where necessary.    

Financial Implications 

4. Specific financial and budget impacts are detailed in the finance report presented 

separately by the Head of Finance. 

 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 4



Legal Implications 

5. There are no issues to report that impact upon the Service’s ability to meet its 

statutory or other legal obligations. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

6. Programmes and projects are required to have equality impact assessments 

completed in accordance with the approved Project Management Framework. 

Environmental Implications 

7. Projects are individually assessed for environmental implications by the relevant 

project managers in accordance with the Service’s Project Management 

Framework. 

CONTACT: NAOMI THOMAS, CLEMONDS HEY, WINSFORD 

TEL [01606] 868804 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  NONE 

 

APPENDIX 1 – PROGRAMME HEALTH REPORT 

Page 58



 Report Submitted to  
Performance and Overview Committee  

 26th February 2020  

 

 
 

  
           Author: Strategic Change Team 

  Data taken from CPS: 21st January 2020  
  

  

Performance and Programme Board – Programme Health Report 
All data supplied in the report has been populated directly from the Cheshire Planning System.  

Reporting Period FROM 1st October 2019 TO 31st December 2019 

 

 

ACTION OR DECISION REQUIRED BY PROGRAMME BOARD 

 
No actions or decisions required. 
 

 

1561 WHOLE SERVICE REVIEW 

PROJECT SPONSOR 
Chief Fire Officer and 
Chief Executive 

PROJECT MANAGER 
Assistant Chief Fire Officer, 
Operational Assurance and 
Service Improvement 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Explanation 
(where status is red or amber) 

  
 

Programme Update 
 

During the last quarter the focus has been completing the Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) development.  In 
December 2019 Fire Authority Members approved the draft IRMP 2020-24 for formal internal and external 
consultation.    Meetings have been held with Corporate Communications to finalise the consultation strategy which 
has been agreed by the Service Management Team (SMT).  The consultation is open until Friday 20 March 2020 and 
members of the public can comment using an online survey or through the Service’s Facebook or Twitter accounts.  
There will also be a series of consultation roadshows across Cheshire during January and February 2020 where staff 
from Corporate Communications will be handing out copies of the summary draft IRMP and paper copies of the survey 
alongside fire safety leaflets.    
 
Consultation will also take place with staff, cadets and volunteers and with a range of stakeholders across Cheshire 
such as representative bodies, local authorities and community/voluntary groups.  Feedback from the consultation on 
the draft Plan will be provided for Members of Cheshire Fire Authority to consider at the meeting on Wednesday 22 
April 2020. 
 
The Strategic Focus Group continues to meet to provide direction and monitor progress and risks.    Once the IRMP has 
been finalised Project Leads will be assigned to each project.  Project plans / PIDS will need to be developed and 
monthly programme meetings will be set up to allow leads to share information and ideas.   Projects will also need to 
be incorporated into departmental plans which are due for final sign off in March 2020.   

Page 59



 Report Submitted to  
Performance and Overview Committee  

 26th February 2020  

 

 
 

  
           Author: Strategic Change Team 

  Data taken from CPS: 21st January 2020  
  

  

 
The Planning and Performance team and Organisational Performance team have been working with Greenstreet 
Berman to review the analysis and modelling that has taken place as part of the Whole Service Review.   A review is 
also underway of the Community Risk Management Policy to ensure the process that the organisation uses to identify 
and assess risk is fit for purpose.  
 

 

1566 PRIORITY BASED BUDGETING IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

PROJECT SPONSOR 

Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer, Operational 
Assurance and Service 
Improvement 

PROJECT MANAGER 
Organisational 
Performance Manager  

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Explanation 
 (where status is red or amber) 

 

  
 

Programme Update 
 

During the last quarter budget meetings have been held with the budgets holders to determine the final budget (‘draw 
the line’) and distribution of available funds across each department and the entire service.    The Service Management 
Team (SMT) have reviewed all of the prioritised budgets and ‘Ranked’ (10 essentials to 1 do not fund) them 
accordingly.  They have taken into account the whole service priority along with departmental priority. The next steps 
are to finalise the departmental budgets before 31st March 2020 and to present the final budget to the Fire Authority 
on 12th February 2020.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



 Report Submitted to  
Performance and Overview Committee  

 26th February 2020  

 

 
 

  
           Author: Strategic Change Team 

  Data taken from CPS: 21st January 2020  
  

  

 

 

Governance and Commissioning  

1226 BLUE LIGHT COLLABORATION PROGRAMME  

PROGRAMME SPONSOR 
Director of Governance and 
Commissioning   

PROGRAMME MANAGER Head of Strategic Change   

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Explanation 
 (where status is red or amber) 

  

Current status remains amber as the underlease has not yet been approved and the end state 
collaboration agreement has not been finalised. 

Programme Update 
 

Hearing loops have now been installed in Conference Room 7 at Clemonds Hey. 
End State Collaboration Agreement - The agreement draft is not yet available. 
Underlease – No change since last quarter; this still has not been approved. 
Car Parking - Notwithstanding the fact that extra spaces were secured the current car parking situation is extremely 
poor leading to Members of the Fire Authority being asked to park on the nearby estate recently. 
Visioning Event - This is due to occur on 30th January 2020 and will involve the Chiefs, Chair of the Fire Authority and 
the Police & Crime Commissioner.  
 

1565 AGRESSO SYSTEM UPGRADE  

PROJECT SPONSOR 
Director of Governance 
and Commissioning 

PROJECT MANAGER 
Project Business Manager  

 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Explanation 
 (where status is red or amber) 

  

 

Programme Update 
 

The Service successfully went live with the new Agresso system (Unit 4 Business World) in September 2019.  A number 
of snagging issues remained post go-live and the majority of these are now resolved.    All the high priority issues have 
been closed and the minor issues are now being raised with Unit 4 through the support contract as time available with 
the Embridge consultants is now at an end. 
 

Page 61



 Report Submitted to  
Performance and Overview Committee  

 26th February 2020  

 

 
 

  
           Author: Strategic Change Team 

  Data taken from CPS: 21st January 2020  
  

  

The Making Tax Digital (MTD) module was implemented successfully in both Test and Live environments.  Due to the 
fact the implementation was completed so swiftly the Unit 4 consultant will be coming back in to assist the Finance 
team during its first Tax submission in late January at no extra cost.  This will help ensure a worry free first submission 
with the module. 
 
Apart from delays caused by a balance table defect during Test system implementation the project has gone very 
smoothly and the new system is delivering the functionality and outputs expected.    
 
The project will be enter the closedown phase in the next couple of weeks so lessons learnt will be reviewed and the 
benefits will be assessed. 
 

 

1544 REPLACEMENT OF CHESTER FIRE STATION  

PROGRAMME 
SPONSOR 

Director of Governance 
and Commissioning  

PROGRAMME MANAGER 
Group Manager  
Cheshire West and Chester   

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Explanation 
 (where status is red or amber) 

  

 
 
 

Programme Update 
 

The old St Anne Street building was handed over to ISG on the 6th December 2019. Removal of internal fittings 
commenced prior to Christmas with demolition of the appliance bays making good progress. The initial asbestos surveys 
have reported slightly more than anticipated, but not enough to cause a significant issue. Current predictions are that 
the build is on track with handover of the new fire station still set for November 30th 2020. A security guard has been 
employed to maintain the security of the old building until it’s full demolition by the end of January 2020.  
 
Teams have successfully relocated into the temporary station following rigorous testing of the mobilisation systems, staff 
have been impressed with the temporary accommodation. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 62



 Report Submitted to  
Performance and Overview Committee  

 26th February 2020  

 

 
 

  
           Author: Strategic Change Team 

  Data taken from CPS: 21st January 2020  
  

  

 

 

 

 

1558 REPLACEMENT OF CREWE FIRE STATION  

PROJECT SPONSOR 
Director of Governance 
and Commissioning 

PROJECT MANAGER 

Group Manager  
Governance and 
Commissioning  

 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Explanation 
 (where status is red or amber) 

  

Current status remains amber due to the ongoing design phase.   

Programme Update 
 

At the last Crewe fire station design team meeting held with Cheshire East Service Delivery Managers and ISG 
representatives, discussions covered the three potential options for the site. This meeting explored the operational 
issues presented by the internal and external layout of the site and a response has been returned to ISG for the next 
meeting during February. The operational flow and layout of option two was a preferred design however it was 
discussed that further work would be required on room layouts on option two to improve operational response when 
responding to emergencies. Option two is the complete rebuild of the site with the aim to provide accommodation as 
close to the appliance bay as possible, therefore reducing the turnout times of crews.   
 

1557 STATION MODERNISATION PROGRAMME 

PROJECT SPONSOR 
Director of Governance 
and Commissioning 

PROJECT MANAGER Group Manager  

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Explanation 
 (where status is red or amber) 

 
 

  
 

Programme Update 
 

Page 63



 Report Submitted to  
Performance and Overview Committee  

 26th February 2020  

 

 
 

  
           Author: Strategic Change Team 

  Data taken from CPS: 21st January 2020  
  

  

Year Zero Projects are now completed with minor snagging issues being resolved by Crudens staff, with a final account 
meeting to be held on the 17th January 2020, which is to be chaired by the North West procurement framework 
management. 
 
Year One projects; Birchwood, Runcorn, Middlewich and Sandbach are scheduled to begin works on the 17th February 
2020. Estates and IT are currently engaged to remove non-operational equipment to storage areas. 
 

 

 

Operational Policy and Assurance  

1490 SADLER ROAD TRAINING CENTRE PROGRAMME  

PROGRAMME 
SPONSOR 

Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer, Operational 
Assurance and Service 
Improvement 

PROGRAMME MANAGER 

Group Manager  
Operational Policy and 
Assurance  

 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Explanation 
 (where status is red or amber) 

  

This project remains amber due to delays within the programme. 

Programme Update 
 

The final pre commencement planning condition has finally been signed off; all conditions have now been discharged.   
 
The Fleet Manager and Technical support area is nearing completion and as a result of some additional asbestos removal 
the completion date has experienced a minor delay.  
 
The completion date has now been split into two handover dates to allow completion of the Fleet Manager's area first 
on 17th January 2020, and in turn enables the contractors to start work in the workshop area. The Technical support 
team will relocate to their new work space at the start of February 2020. 
 
Surplus spoil is still awaiting removal from the site, a number of factors are delaying the removal including heavy rainfall 
and access to the disposal site. The surplus spoil is delaying contractors starting work to the Compartment Fire 
Behaviour Training (CFBT) and Rural zone although this is not expected to impact on the programme completion date. 
 
The foundations for the firehouse, indoor training area and terraced houses have now been completed; the brickwork to 
the terraced houses is at first floor level. The structural steel for the protected stairwell and integrated tower in the 
firehouse has been erected along with the re-enforced retaining wall. 
 

Page 64



 Report Submitted to  
Performance and Overview Committee  

 26th February 2020  

 

 
 

  
           Author: Strategic Change Team 

  Data taken from CPS: 21st January 2020  
  

  

The Transport zone has now had the first layer of Tarmac added; the Road Traffic Collision (RTC) ditch which has been 
cast and the framework for the RTC classroom has been erected.  The fenced areas have been completed along this 
section which adjoins the service houses at Winsford Fire Station and along the boundary with the police station. 
 
The ground floor extension has new exterior panelling and work is underway to re-cover the existing roof. Interior works 
include the levelling of floors and installation of internal walls.  
 
Section 4 (Trauma and ICT classrooms) is nearing completion; minor delays have been added to the completion date due 
to electronic door lock installation issues and door warranties going forward. The delays will omit any warranty issues as 
ISG work with suppliers to work out an agreed resolution. Handover is expected at the beginning of January 2020. 
 
The programme is behind by 11 weeks due to the late discharge of the outstanding pre-commencement condition. 
The programme risks have been reviewed and remain sufficient to the programme. 

 

1553 OPERATIONAL TRAINING GROUP REVIEW  

PROJECT SPONSOR 

Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer, Operational 
Assurance and Service 
Improvement 

PROJECT MANAGER 

Group Manager  
Operational Policy and 
Assurance  

 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Explanation 
 (where status is red or amber) 

 
 

  

This project remains amber due to slippage within the project. 
 

Programme Update 
 

Formal consultation/negotiations have continued during the past quarter with discussions taking place between 
Managers and the Fire Brigade Union both prior and during Joint Consultative Negotiating Panel (JCNP). 
 
During the discussions at JCNP there have been a number of positive steps taken towards reaching an agreement with 
the most recent response by management provided to the FBU at the November JCNP meeting. This will be discussed 
at a meeting with the instructors in January 2020. 
The project risks have been reviewed and the implementation of a new duty system remains on target for April 2020. 
 

1567 CHESHIRE FIRE DRONES  

PROJECT SPONSOR 
Head of Operational 
Policy and Assurance  

PROJECT MANAGER 
Head of  Operational Policy 
and Assurance 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Explanation 
 (where status is red or amber) 

 

Page 65



 Report Submitted to  
Performance and Overview Committee  

 26th February 2020  

 

 
 

  
           Author: Strategic Change Team 

  Data taken from CPS: 21st January 2020  
  

  

  

The project has been slightly delayed due to some technical issues with the drone and 
changing Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) requirements, however it is now nearing completion. 

Programme Update 
 

Governance surrounding the drone is now in place. The Operations Manual and Operating Safety Case to make use of 
the emergency services exemptions are complete.  Flight training is on-going with the new pilots and nearly complete, 
they will then need to be passed out by our assessor.  
 
The drone has required some technical updates from the supplier due to issues with other services using the same 
drone which has caused some delays.  
 
The new registration and certification scheme brought in by the CAA has also been completed. 
 
We are still waiting for support from IT over a number of issues but this is being followed up on. 
It’s expected that the drone will be fully operational and able to respond to incidents within weeks. 

Service Delivery  

1556 ON-CALL PROGRAMME 

PROJECT SPONSOR Head of Service Delivery PROJECT MANAGER 
Group Manager  

Cheshire West and Chester   

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Explanation 
 (where status is red or amber) 

 
 

  
 

Programme Update 
 

The On Call Programme team is now well established within Cheshire since it was introduced in early 2019. Across a 
number of departments, Officers and Fire staff are working closely together to make the necessary improvements to 
the On Call part of the Service. 
 
The #needmore hashtag on social media posts, brightly coloured banners and vehicle wraps are just some of the 
methods our Recruitment team utilise to generate conversation, interest and enquiries. A national website provides 
data analytics and allows us to understand how and where we target our recruitment campaigns. We are using 
innovation such as Facebook to precision target who and where our most likely recruits will come from. 
 
Work to improve our retention of On Call firefighters is also well underway. The team are exploring reward and 
recognition options for our firefighters as well as the primary employers who allow many to respond to emergencies 
whilst in their main work.  
 

Page 66



 Report Submitted to  
Performance and Overview Committee  

 26th February 2020  

 

 
 

  
           Author: Strategic Change Team 

  Data taken from CPS: 21st January 2020  
  

  

The On Call Project Team (OCPT) have produced recommendations for improvement to the On Call system including 
payments for the completion of development folders, rewarding improvement in availability and reward and 
recognition of employees and employers. The On Call pass out dinner preparations are well under way which is 
scheduled for the 27th February 2020.  
 
Representation at the On Call practitioners group was made by officers from CFRS which will be contributing to 
national solutions on the On Call system. Specific areas of work are linked to Learning and development.  
 
One of the most successful elements of the On Call Programme Team is the pilot of the On Call Support Crew Managers 
that are having a consistent increasing affect on daytime availability of 15%.  
 
A notable improvement in the quarter 3 performance has seen an overall availability increase in 4% from quarter2 and 
improvement in availability of 14 from 21 On Call stations. 
 
 
 
 
 

Protection and Organisation Performance  

1058 SPRINKLER CAMPAIGN 2014  

PROJECT SPONSOR 

Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer, Operational 
Assurance and Service 
Improvement 

PROJECT  MANAGER 
Head of Protection and 
Organisational Performance 

 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Explanation 
 (where status is red or amber) 

  
 

Seven blocks are now completed. Churchill Mansions had three occupiers refusing the sprinkler installation but it is 
understood that this number has now reduced to two. Efforts are still being made by Halton Housing Trust (HHT) to 
overcome this. Plans are in progress to transfer the part funding to HHT. The part funding has been paid for Joseph 
Groome Towers and publicity is being arranged to celebrate this achievement but was delayed by the election.  
The three blocks in Handforth are complete and discussions will begin shortly over the transfer of funds once 
commissioning and completion certificates are obtained.  
The aim of this project was to achieve 4 blocks retro fitted with sprinkler installations (one per unitary). To date there 
have been 7.  
 
Discussions will now take place about closing this project and using project 1549 to manage the remaining installations. 
 

 

1549 HIGH RISE SPRINKLER CAMPAIGN 2018 

Page 67



 Report Submitted to  
Performance and Overview Committee  

 26th February 2020  

 

 
 

  
           Author: Strategic Change Team 

  Data taken from CPS: 21st January 2020  
  

  

PROJECT SPONSOR 

Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer, Operational 
Assurance and Service 
Improvement 

PROJECT  MANAGER 
Head of Protection and 
Organisational Performance 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Explanation 
 (where status is red or amber) 

  

 
 

The Chester (Sanctuary Housing) sprinkler installations, including 9 high rise blocks are now underway and should be 
complete by the end of 2020.    
 
Guinness Partnership (Waverley Court Crewe) have confirmed that work should begin on their installation works to fit 
sprinklers in January 2020.  
 
Efforts are still being made with the remaining 3 building owners who have so far not opted to fit sprinklers. We are 
considering entering in to a primary authority partnership with one of these companies and as part of the discussions 
have repeated our desire for them to fit sprinklers. 

1554   PROTECTION REVIEW  

PROJECT SPONSOR 

Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer, Operational 
Assurance and Service 
Improvement 

PROJECT MANAGER 

Head of Protection and 
Organisational 
Performance  

 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Explanation 
 (where status is red or amber) 

 
 

  

This project is amber as it has slipped from the original timescales in order to refine proposals.  

Programme Update 
 

So far there have been limited tangible outcomes from the Hackitt Review or Phase 1 of the Grenfell Tower Inquiry that 
the service has had to adapt to, or that have resulted in significant change to the structure or processes of the 
Protection Department. Whilst the outcomes are generating a lot of work and actions which are being delivered, it has 
not required a major change to the way the department operates so far.  
 
As a consequence, the department review was conducted with the potential for future changes and outcomes in mind 
and a number of options were proposed to improve the department. The condensed review report and full suite of 
recommendations were submitted to the ACFO and following consideration of the recommendations and proposals 
within the review documentation, meetings took place to analyse them. Alternative options have been discussed and 
additional work is taking place to refine the proposals and look at alternative structures prior to revised 
recommendations being submitted. 

Page 68



 Report Submitted to  
Performance and Overview Committee  

 26th February 2020  

 

 
 

  
           Author: Strategic Change Team 

  Data taken from CPS: 21st January 2020  
  

  

 

RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

CPS 
Ref 

Risk Detail  Risk Owner  Risk 
Score  

Progress Update – Mitigation / Progress 

 

  
No red/high project risks to 
report.  
 

   

 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY 

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
DATE:  26 FEBRUARY 2020 
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF GOVERNANCE AND COMMISSIONING  
AUTHOR: LOUISE WILLIS/CHRIS ASTALL 

 

SUBJECT: 
INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT - 
QUARTER 3, 2019-20 

Purpose of Report 

1. To present the Internal Audit progress report covering the period up to the end 
of Quarter 3.   

Recommended: That Members 

[1] Note the information in the report and appendices  

Background 

2. Internal audit is an assurance function that provides an independent opinion to 
the Authority on the organisation’s control environment. Internal audit services 
are provided by Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA). 
  

3.  Recommendations made by MIAA are presented formally in a report to relevant 
senior officers. Each recommendation is prioritised as Critical, High, Medium, or 
Low to reflect the assessment of risk.  It is a management responsibility to 
respond to the recommendations and identify actions that can be taken to 
mitigate or reduce the risk.  

 
4. Terms of reference and final audit reports are reviewed by senior officers and 

significant risks identified may be referred to the Risk Management Board (RMB). 
The Performance and Overview Committee receives quarterly updates for the 
purpose of monitoring and scrutiny of progress.   

 
5.  Delivery of actions to respond to recommendations is monitored and tracked on 

the Service’s Cheshire Planning System (CPS).  

Information 

6. The Progress Report is attached to this report at Appendix 1. The audit activity 
for this quarter is summarised below:- 

 
• IT Service Continuity Review – Limited Assurance 
• Financial Systems  - Substantial Assurance 
• Efficiency Savings Review –  Substantial Assurance 

Page 71

Agenda Item 5



Work on the National Fraud Initiative was also carried out in Quarter 3, see 
separate report attached to this report at Appendix 2. 

 

Financial Implications 

10. Internal audit is an outsourced service funded from base budget. Any additional 

financial implications arising from internal audit recommendation are assesses 

individually as part of the management response to final audit reports. 

Legal Implications 

11. Legal implications are considered when audit reports are presented to senior 

managers. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

12. There are no differential impacts on any particular section of the community 

arising from this report.  

Environmental Implications 

13.    There are no specific impacts on the environment arising from this report. 

 

CONTACT: NAOMI THOMAS, FIRE SERVICE HQ, WINSFORD 

TEL [01606] 868804 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  Information provided by Mersey Internal Audit Agency 

(MIAA) 

Appendix 1 – Internal Audit Quarter 3 Progress Report 
Appendix 2 – Report on National Fraud Initiative 
  

Page 72



Internal Audit Progress Report 

Performance and Overview 

Committee (Feb 2020) 

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire & Rescue Service 

Appendix 1

Page 73



Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee Feb 2020 

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service 

P a g e  | 1 

Contents 

1. Introduction

2. Key Messages for Committee Attention

3. Work in progress and planned

4. Request for Audit Plan Changes

Appendix A: Risk Classification and Assurance Levels 

Appendix B: Contract Performance  

Appendix C: Critical & High Level Risk Action Plans 

Page 74



Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee Feb 2020 

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service 

P a g e  | 2 

1. Introduction

This progress report provides an update to the Performance and Overview Committee

in respect of the assurances, key issues and progress against the Internal Audit Plan

for 2019/20. Comprehensive reports detailing findings, recommendations and agreed

actions are provided to the organisation, and are available to Committee Members on

request. In addition a consolidated follow up position is reported on a periodic basis to

the Performance and Overview Committee.

2. Key Messages for Audit Committee Attention

Since the previous meeting of the Performance and Overview Committee we have

completed the following reviews:

 IT Service Continuity Review – Limited Assurance

 Financial Systems  - Substantial Assurance

 Efficiency Savings Review –  Substantial Assurance

 National Fraud Initiative – Separate Briefing

Appendix A provides the categorisation of assurance levels and risk ratings and 

Appendix B confirms performance against plan. Details of High Level actions agreed 

are provided in Appendix C however due to the sensitive nature of the findings we 

have not included full details in relation to the IT Service Continuity Report. 

Title Assurance Level Recommendations 

IT Service Continuity Limited 0 x Critical 

2 x High 

2 x Medium 

0 x Low 

Management Sponsor: Andrew Leadbetter, Director of Governance and Commissioning/ 

Andy Robson, Head of IT 

Objective: To assess the effectiveness of the IT Service Continuity framework established by 

management to minimise disruption to Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service (CFRS)  in the case 

of localised or more widespread system or infrastructure outages. 

Summary: 

 For approximately two years, Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service’s infrastructure and

IT service provisions have been managed by Cheshire Constabulary. CFRS have two

data centres, one is located at their headquarters (primary) and the other is located in

Warrington (secondary/failover). Backups are taken and stored onsite within the

Service’s headquarters, core service backups were then copied and replicated over to

Page 75



Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee Feb 2020 

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service 

P a g e  | 3 

Title Assurance Level Recommendations 

their Warrington site. The Warrington site is used as CFRS’s failover site, in the event 

systems cannot be recovered at their headquarters. 

 CFRS has a primary Data Centre (DC) and secondary DC, geographically remote,

which provides the failover site for the Service, thus providing resilience.

 All core services have resilience incorporated in the network infrastructure including

multiple lines (and two internet service providers) in and out of core systems, allowing

services to continue in the event a line failure/damage.

 Robust security arrangements for the data centres included full auditable access,

CCTV, restricted access and supervision for all non-vetted personnel.

 Robust arrangements in place to ensure all environmental controls (air conditioning,

fire suppression and generators) are fully serviced regularly.

Areas for Improvement 

 CFRS did not have a formal documented Backup Policy in place that would outline

their strategy, security and the key objectives of the backup regime. There is a risk that

controls in this area do not align to business expectation/needs. However, it was noted

that there was a full policy review underway to identify and address gaps relating to

CFRS’s policies and procedures.

 Upon inspection of a Nessus vulnerability scan of a backups’ SQL server, it was

evident that the current version being used is unsupported and therefore not subject

to any new patches. Due to the out of support version of SQL, there is a risk that the

server is exposed to known security vulnerabilities.

 Although all systems were backed up and core systems replicated on a nightly basis,

in the event of a recovery being needed, CFRS could potentially lose 24 hours worth

of data.

 System owners/senior management had not formally signed off on the CFRS backup

regime and therefore may not understand the potential maximum data loss. There is a

risk the backup strategy does not align to business expectation/needs.

 CFRS had not undertaken any formal risk assessments against their IT Service

Continuity arrangements or the physical environment of the data centres.

 Although CFRS have tested fail over for a number of applications/services, a full

failover test has not been undertaken. There is a risk that the full failover will not work

as intended or there are prolonged delays due to unforeseen issues.

 CFRS did not regularly reconcile backups to identify gaps in coverage using a different,

but comparable source, which may allow omissions to go undetected.

Key areas agreed for action: 

Page 76



Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee Feb 2020 

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service 

P a g e  | 4 

Title Assurance Level Recommendations 

Two High level risk recommendations were agreed and summarised below: 

 Create and formalise a robust backup policy that outlines the strategy, security and the

key objectives of the arrangements. This should be signed off by senior management

and business owners and address the issues raised in terms of regular backups,

testing and reporting.

 Upgrade all unsupported SQL Servers to a version that is currently supported.  In

addition implement a logging and monitoring regime for monitoring access to the SQL

server backup application and changes made to backups and create and formalise a

process to periodically review access and level of access to Veeam to ensure access

is appropriately restricted.

Two Medium level risk recommendation were also agreed: 

 Schedule and undertake a full failover test to the secondary site, in accordance with

the Service’s IT Services Business Continuity Plan. This should form part of a formal

process detailing lessons learnt which is reported to senior management.

 Undertake a formal risk assessment of the environment surrounding the data centres

to identify all risks and establish the mitigation. The arrangements should be subject

to formal periodic reviews, specifically if there are any material changes made to the

accommodation.

Financial Systems Substantial 0 x Critical 

0 x High 

3 x Medium (1 

accepted) 

0 x Low 

Management Sponsor: Wendy Bebbington, Head of Finance 

Objective: To provide assurance that, the most significant key controls in the areas detailed 

are appropriately designed and operating effectively in practice.    

The review focused on the key controls within: 

• General Ledger

• Accounts Payable

• Accounts Receivable

• Treasury Management

Summary: 

Page 77



Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee Feb 2020 

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service 

P a g e  | 5 

Title Assurance Level Recommendations 

General Ledger 

 Balance sheet control account reconciliations are completed on a monthly basis.

Completion is recorded on a reconciliation tracker which shows the status of each

control account.

 Audit testing of a sample of control account reconciliations (Sales, Purchases and

Bank) for the periods M5 – M7, identified that adequate segregation of duties was in

place between the persons preparing and authorising.  All accounts reviewed were

adequately reconciled to the general ledger and trial balance.  Issues were identified

with the timeliness of completion of control account reconciliations.  In some instances,

reconciliations were completed 2 months after the period.  In addition, issues were

identified where the reconciliations were not dated, therefore MIAA were unable to

establish if these had been completed in a timely manner.

 Audit review of journals identified that segregated approval is not required within the

Agresso finance system.   A paper copy of the journal is retained to evidence who

prepared and authorised the journal.  Audit testing of a sample of 20 journals between

the periods April – October 2019 confirmed that in all instances adequate segregation

of duties was in place between the person preparing and authorising the journal.  The

following issues in relation to journals were identified:

o 9 instances were identified where journal approval was done retrospectively, after

the journal was posted.

o User privileges in relation to the posting of journals was evident in the system,

however there was no financial attachment to these, and therefore there is no limit

to the value of journal posting.

 Security arrangements are in place for access to the Agresso system.  Discussions

with key staff found that there is no formal process in place for the creation of new

users to the finance system.  We identified that new users are generally set up through

receipt of an email or telephone call, and access privileges are based on someone in

a similar role.

Accounts Payable 

 The authorised signatory list is built into the finance system Agresso.  Audit testing of

a sample of 20 purchase orders (PO) confirmed that there was adequate segregation

of duties between the person requesting and authorising a purchase order.  All orders

reviewed were approved by a member of Management within delegated limits.

 Audit review found that there were limited invoices raised without a supporting order

(Non-PO).  Where Non-PO’s had been raised, these had been subject to appropriate

approval.

Page 78



Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee Feb 2020 

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service 

P a g e  | 6 

Title Assurance Level Recommendations 

 MIAA review of the invoice payment process highlighted payments are processed

online through BACS.  A payment report is run and checked by two senior members

of Finance staff, prior to payment processing.  A clear audit trail to support the payment

run is retained.

 MIAA testing highlighted that amendment to supplier details is controlled through the

Fire Service Finance Department, on request from suppliers.  A log is maintained to

evidence all changes and updates to details made.  Evidence is in place to support the

amendment to supplier details.

Accounts Receivable 

 Audit testing of a sample of sales invoices per the debtor’s ledger confirmed that there

was adequate segregation of duties between the requestor, approver and creator in all

instances.

 A sample of credit notes were tested and we confirmed that there was adequate

segregation of duties between the requestor and approver.  All of the sample had been

appropriately approved and supporting documentation had been retained.

 Evidence was in place to demonstrate that the Fire Service actively chase outstanding

debt.  Audit review of a sample of aged debt found that there was adequate evidence

to demonstrate follow-up to recover.

 Audit review confirmed that as at 31st October 2019 total aged debt was £104,401.21

of which £53,954.50 was current debt and therefore not yet due.

 Audit review identified that there had been one write-off within the year, as at the time

of our audit.  The write off totalled £333.36.  There was adequate evidence in place to

demonstrate that this had been appropriately approved, in line with the Financial

Regulations.

Treasury Management 

 Evidence was in place to demonstrate that the financial forecast outturn, including cash

flow is regularly reported to the Performance and Overview Committee.

 Audit review of the current bank mandate in place identified there have been 3

amendments to the mandate within the year.  Evidence was provided to demonstrate

that all changes in year were appropriately authorised before being actioned.

Key areas agreed for action: 

Three medium level recommendations were raised but only one accepted as below: 

Page 79



Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee Feb 2020 

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service 

P a g e  | 7 

Title Assurance Level Recommendations 

 Control account reconciliations tracker should be updated to include target dates for

reconciliations to be completed and authorised.  Following this, reconciliations should

be prepared and authorised in line with the expected controls and target dates set.

 All journals should be appropriately approved before being processed within the

ledger.  The Head of Finance should review the delegated limits of staff in regards to

journals, to ensure that they are appropriate. – CFRS Response: Recommendation not

accepted, as it is felt sufficient controls are in place.  Only Finance staff have the ability

to post journals and all are reviewed by a separate member.

 Whilst it is acknowledged that new users are limited and evidence was in place to

support the creation of new users, more robust and formal controls should be put in

place.  A form should be completed for all new users, which is approved by a Senior

Manager within Finance.  CFRS Response: Recommendation not accepted as it is felt

that sufficient controls are in place.  Controls for new user set up and amendment to

user details is monitored by the Finance team.

Efficiency Savings Review Substantial 0 x Critical 

0 x High 

1 x Medium 

1 x Low 

Management Sponsor: Wendy Bebbington, Head of Finance 

Objective: To provide assurance that there are robust systems and processes in place to 

manage the risks and monitor the delivery of savings efficiencies. 

Summary:  

Policies and Procedures 

 Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service (CFRS) have a number of policies which 
incorporate guidance to staff and the public on how the budget is produced and 
maintained. Budget procedures are incorporated in the following approved documents 
in place at CFRS.

 Medium Term Financial Plan 2019-2022 – this document provides the Authority, staff, 

the public and other stakeholders information on the financial outlook, including 

savings, and the estimated available financing over the next three years. The MTFP 

takes into account future high level potential revenue and capital expenditure over 

the period based upon current information.

 Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) – this document assesses local fire and 
rescue related risks and details how these will be addressed. This Annual Action Plan 

Page 80



Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee Feb 2020 

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service 

P a g e  | 8 

Title Assurance Level Recommendations 

outlines the key risks and influences facing Cheshire and how the Authority is currently 

structured to address them, including savings.  

 A Reserves Strategy (2019-2020) – this document sets out the reserves held, their

intended usage and the strategy for ensuring the funds are maintained at an

appropriate level.

Identifying and Assessing Efficiencies 

 Our review confirmed that efficiencies are identified through work completed by the

CFRS finance staff. This includes a review of the corporate budgets and contingencies

for pay awards/inflation, as well as contributions to and from reserves. Discussions are

then held between finance staff and operational managers about the need for budgets

of a particular level. Potential efficiencies are identified and these are then documented

throughout the year on a ‘jotting spreadsheet’ maintained by the CFRS finance team.

 Although all savings and rationale is documented within the ‘jotting spreadsheet’, this

only documents the reasoning behind identifying particular savings and whether it is a

one-off saving. CFRS finance team do not document budget holder – finance team

meetings as these are informal discussions to identify savings, and are not formally

signed off by the budget holders. Secondly, CFRS finance team do not assess the

impact of each saving or the likelihood of achieving this saving.

 The CFRS finance team should look to strengthen its impact assessment with the

introduction of a risk scoring process for each identified savings. This would provide

an audit trail and assurance that any interdependencies and impact of savings on other

areas of the service are reviewed alongside a simple risk assessment aligned to the

likelihood of savings delivery.

 The Authority should also look to introduce a process to ensure each saving identified

is formally signed off from the cost centre budget holder.

 Our testing on a sample of efficiency savings for 2019/2020 identified that there was

sufficient rationale behind each of the savings identified. The budget for 2019/20

included savings of £1.355m and our review confirms that this was approved by the

Fire Authority in February 2019.

Agreement of Efficiency Savings 

 Our review confirmed that the initial savings outlined within the ‘jotting spreadsheet’

were first taken to the SMT budget planning meeting in October 2018, a second formal

review of growth and savings is then completed by the SMT, this was then presented

to the Fire Authority members for comment at their planning day in November 2018.

Page 81



Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee Feb 2020 

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service 

P a g e  | 9 

Title Assurance Level Recommendations 

Finally the savings are then formalised and agreed by the SMT before forming the draft 

and final budgets which were agreed by the Fire Authority in February 2019. 

Budgetary Monitoring and Reporting 

 The Authority was required to approve its budget and set the Council Tax precept for 

the financial year commencing 1st April 2019.  Our review confirmed that the 

Authority took into account Government funding, precept regulations and 

organisational demands and this is supported by the production of the MTFP.  Our 

review confirmed that commentary and updates on efficiencies are outlined within 

the mid-year MTFP reported to Performance and Overview Committee in November 

2019 and there were no significant issues reported that would impact savings on 

the forecast to the year end.

 As part of its budget management, the Authority produces the MTFP which covers a 
three year period. The MTFP is updated regularly to reflect emerging, local, regional 
and national issues and makes informed assumptions about issues such as future pay, 
inflation, government funding and council tax levels which our review confirmed was 
reported to the Fire Authority and Performance and Overview Committee.

 For 2020/2021, The authority has begun to develop a new approach to how it prepares 
and manages its budgets so that is focuses on the key priorities of the organisation 
and activities which have the most significant outcomes for the local community. When 
determining the budget proposals and potential council tax increases, due 
consideration is taken of budgetary pressures and possible savings alongside 
anticipated funding changes over the medium term. Government grant funding has 
been guaranteed up to 2019/20 and this is reflected in the MTFP. 

Key areas agreed for action: 

One Medium level risk recommendation was agreed: 

 CFRS finance team should look to strengthen its impact assessment with the

introduction of a risk scoring process for each identified savings.

One Low level risk recommendation was also agreed 

 CFRS should ensure each saving scheme identified is formally signed off by the cost

centre budget holder.

3. Work in Progress and Planned

The following pieces of work are in progress and/or planned and will be reported to

Committee following completion:

Page 82



Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee Feb 2020 

Cheshire Fire Authority /  

Fire & Rescue Service 

 

P a g e  | 10 

 

Work In progress 

 Collaboration/ Partnerships - Fire and Rescue Indemnity Company (FRIC) – 

Draft Report  

Work planned 

 HMICFRS Action Plan – Phase 2 – Planning ( March 2020 Fieldwork) 

4. Request for Audit Plan Changes 

It is recognised that we may need to update the audit plan during the year as different 

risks emerge. Any proposed changes to the plan are discussed with the Service 

Management Team and this will be reported to the Performance and Overview 

Committee to facilitate the monitoring process.   

 The Performance and Overview Committee approved the deferral of the 

Professional Standards review to late 2020, given the delays to the 

development of national professional standards.

Page 83



Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee Feb  2020 

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service 

 

A p p e n d i x  A  | 1 

 

Appendix A: Assurance Definitions and Risk Classifications 

Level of 

Assurance 

Description 

High There is a strong system of internal control which has been effectively designed to meet 

the system objectives, and that controls are consistently applied in all areas reviewed. 

Substantial There is a good system of internal control designed to meet the system objectives, and 

that controls are generally being applied consistently.  

Moderate There is an adequate system of internal control, however, in some areas weaknesses in 

design and/or inconsistent application of controls puts the achievement of some aspects 

of the system objectives at risk. 

Limited There is a compromised system of internal control as weaknesses in the design and/or 

inconsistent application of controls puts the achievement of the system objectives at risk. 

No There is an inadequate system of internal control as weaknesses in control, and/or 

consistent non-compliance with controls could/has resulted in failure to achieve the 

system objectives. 

 

Risk Rating Assessment Rationale 

Critical Control weakness that could have a significant impact upon, not only the system, 

function or process objectives but also the achievement of the organisation’s objectives 

in relation to: 

 the efficient and effective use of resources 

 the safeguarding of assets 

 the preparation of reliable financial and operational information 

 compliance with laws and regulations. 

High Control weakness that has or is likely to have a significant impact upon the achievement 

of key system, function or process objectives.  This weakness, whilst high impact for the 

system, function or process does not have a significant impact on the achievement of the 

overall organisation objectives. 

Medium Control weakness that: 

 has a low impact on the achievement of the key system, function or process 

objectives; 

 has exposed the system, function or process to a key risk, however the 

likelihood of this risk occurring is low. 

Low Control weakness that does not impact upon the achievement of key system, function or 

process objectives; however implementation of the recommendation would improve 

overall control. 

 

Page 84



Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee Feb  2020 

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service 

 

A p p e n d i x  B  | 1 

 

Appendix B: Contract Performance 

The primary measure of your internal auditor’s performance is the outputs deriving from work 

undertaken. The plan has also been discussed with lead officers to determine the appropriate 

timing of individual work-streams to accommodate priorities, availability, mandatory 

requirements and external audit views. 

General Performance Indicators 

The following provides some general performance indicator information to support the 

Committee in assessing the performance of Internal Audit. 

Element Status Summary 

Progress against plan Green Audit reviews are on track for completion by year end 

Timeliness Green  

Qualified Staff Green 

MIAA Audit Staff consist of: 

 65% Qualified (CCAB, IIA etc.) 

 35% Part Qualified 

Quality Green 

MIAA operate systems to ISO Quality Standards. The 

External Quality Assessment, undertaken by CIPFA, 

provides assurance of MIAA’s compliance with the 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 

Page 85



Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee Feb  2020 

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service 

 

A p p e n d i x  B  | 2 

 

Overview of Output Delivery (2019/20 Plan) 

REVIEW TITLE PLANNED REPORTING TO P & O 
ASSURANCE 

LEVEL 

Commentary 

 Sep Nov Feb April   

CORPORATE SERVICES 

Financial Systems 

 
    Substantial Complete 

Cost Savings 
Plans 

    Substantial  Complete 

Risk Management 
Board 

● ● ● ο N/A Ongoing  

IT Service 
Continuity 

 ●   Limited Complete 

National Fraud 
Initiative (Carry 
forward) 

 ●   N/A Complete 

PROTECTION & ORGANISATIONAL PERFORMANCE 

Professional 
Standards      

Deferred to 
2020/21 plan 

HMICFRS (Carry 
Forward)    ●  

Phase 1 
complete  

Phase 2 March 
2020 

SERVICE DELIVERY / OPERATIONAL POLICY & ASSURANCE 

Collaboration/ 
Partnerships  

     Draft Report 

PREVENTION 

Safety Central 
Volunteers 

    Substantial Final Report 

FOLLOW-UP AND CONTINGENCY 

Follow-up ● ●   N/A Complete 

Contingency 

 
     

 

 

Key ο  = Planned ● = In Progress      = Complete   

Page 86



Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee Feb  2020 

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service 

 

A p p e n d i x  C  | 1 

 

Appendix C: Critical / High Risk Recommendations 

Due to the sensitive nature of the audit the detailed findings and high risk recommendations 

have not been included for the IT Service Continuity review. 

 

 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



National Fraud Initiative  Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service 

P a g e  | 1 

To: Andrew Leadbetter, Director of Governance and Commissioning 

Wendy Bebbington, Head of Finance (Cheshire Constabulary and Cheshire Fire 
and Rescue Service) 

Jerry Faulkner, Principal Accountant (Cheshire Constabulary and Cheshire Fire 
and Rescue Service) 

From: Anne-Marie Harrop, Assistant Director 

Simon Davies, Audit Manager 

Jeanette Sharp, Anti-Fraud Officer 

Jacqui Rutter, Principal Auditor 

Date: January 2020 

Re: National Fraud Initiative (NFI) Final Update - Release of 
Matches 2019/20 – Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service 

1. Introduction and Background

The Cabinet Office co-ordinates the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) through powers under

Part 6 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to conduct data matching exercises

to assist in the prevention and detection of fraud and error.  This programme has been

in existence now for over 20 years and has successfully identified over £1.69bn of fraud

and error within the Public Sector.

The NFI continues to play an important role in protecting the public purse against fraud

and is as important as ever with the true cost of fraud, estimated between £20billion and

£40billion a year.  The task of identifying fraud and error is continuous, to ensure funds

and resources are allocated to the many honest deserving families in need.

The details of the data matches for Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service (CFRS) have

been received from the Cabinet Office and at the request of the Fire Authority, MIAA

have undertaken a review of the matches to identify any potential discrepancies.

2. Objective and Scope

The main objective was to review the data reports provided by the Cabinet Office and to

investigate any identified discrepancies by providing a reason for the match and, where

required, make the appropriate changes.

Appendix 2

Page 89



National Fraud Initiative 

 

 Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 

 

P a g e  | 2 

 

Our review focussed on assessment and review of each match report for the following 

areas:  

 Pensions/Pension Gratuity to DWP Deceased;  

 Payroll to payroll within CFRS and with other bodies;  

 Pensions to payroll within CFRS and with other bodies; 

 Pensions to injury benefits;  

 Payroll to bank accounts/addresses;  

 Creditor payments; 

 Creditor matches by name and postcode;  

 Creditors duplicate payments; 

 Creditors duplicate bank accounts;  

 Creditors duplicate invoice reference, amount and reference; 

 VAT overpaid;   

 Procurement - Payroll to Companies House (Director); 

 There were no matches identified in relation to UK Visa matches. 

MIAA liaised with CFRS’s Payroll/HR department to confirm the information highlighted 

within the payroll matches; including verifying the employment status of an individual’s 

secondary employment and/or sickness records. 

MIAA also liaised with the Finance Department in order to obtain access to CFRS’s 

Finance systems in order to review Creditor payments. 

3. Management Summary 

Work has been undertaken to clear a number of the Pension and Payroll related 

matches. One Pension related match was identified as an overpayment (approx. £120), 

with an internal decision to be made on any action to be taken i.e. write off / recover. 

Investigation work with regard to the ‘Payroll to Payroll’ report has identified one working 

whilst off sick match, which is subject to ongoing internal investigation to establish if a 

fraud has occurred. All other payroll related matches have been cleared with no issues 

identified. 

All creditor related matches have been subject to investigation with no errors or duplicate 

payments identified.  

Work undertaken on the procurement to company house matches identified one 

individual where an updated declaration has been requested. Investigation work 

completed found no conflict to have arisen through the non-declaration of the interest. 

The other matches identified were related to individuals holding interests in a subsidiary 

company of the Cheshire and Fire Rescue Service. 

Page 90



National Fraud Initiative 

 

 Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 

 

P a g e  | 3 

 

4. Summary Of Matches 

The following provides an outline explanation of each report received, the number of 

matches reviewed and any outcomes identified following completion.   

  Certain reports have a flag (gold key) to note which reports the NFI team 

considers a priority. 

 

Report Name / Explanation Priority 

Status* 

Number of 

Matches 

received 

Number of 

Matches 

completed 

Outcomes 

Pensions/Pension Gratuity to 

DWP Deceased   

To identify instances 

where an 

occupational pensioner has died 

but the pension is still being paid. 

High 5 5 One match found to 
have been in receipt 
of payment following 
their death. 
Overpayment of 
approximately £120. 
Internal review to 
establish if the 
payment is to be 
recovered / written 
off. 

Pension to Payroll (within 

CFRS) 

 

 

High 

 

 

 

22 

 

 

22 No issues identified 
with re-employment 
following receipt of 
pension, to conflict 
with pension rules. 

Pension to Payroll (with 
matching authorities) 

To identify pensioners who may 
have gone back into employment 
that could result in an abatement 
of their pension. Generally 
abatements apply in instances 
where the pay from the new 
employment plus the pension 
exceeds the level of pay at the 
time of retirement. 

 2 2 No issues identified 
with re-employment 
following receipt of 
pension, to conflict 
with pension rules. 

Pension to Injury Benefits 

 

To identify individuals in receipt of 
an enhanced injury pension who 
have failed to declare relevant 
state benefits (industrial injuries 
disablement benefit, incapacity 
benefit, employment and support 
allowance) that may remove or 
reduce entitlement to the 
enhanced pension. 

High 15 15 Confirmed no 
overpayments had 
been made. 

Page 91



National Fraud Initiative 

 

 Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 

 

P a g e  | 4 

 

Report Name / Explanation Priority 

Status* 

Number of 

Matches 

received 

Number of 

Matches 

completed 

Outcomes 

 

Payroll to Payroll 

 

To identify individuals who may be 
committing employment fraud by 
failing to work their contracted 
hours because they are employed 
elsewhere or are taking long-term 
sickness absence from one 
employer and working for another 
employer at the same time. 

High 59 58 Fifty eight matches 
have been completed 
with no issues 
identified. One match 
is being subject to 
internal investigation 
to establish if a fraud 
has occurred. This 
match will remain 
open pending the 
investigation 
outcome, which will 
be required to be 
reported through the 
NFI system. 

Payroll to Payroll (Phone 
Number) 

 

 4 4 Agreement with 
Cabinet Office that 
match information 
not deemed relevant 
for investigation by 
the authority. 

Payroll to Creditors (same 
Bank account)  

 

Payroll to Creditors (same 
address) 

 

The match identifies instances 
where an employee and creditor 
are linked by the same bank 
account or the same address to 
identify employees with interests 
in companies with which your 
organisation is trading. 

This may indicate potential 
undeclared interests or abuse of 
the finance system. 

High 

 

 

High 

7 

 

 

 

3 

 

 

 

7 

 

 

 

3 

No issues identified 

 

Duplicate creditors by creditors 
name / reference 

To identify instances where the 
same supplier has been set up 
with more than one reference 
number on the system thus 
increasing the potential for 
creditors to obscure fraudulent 
activity. 

High 11 11 No errors or 

duplications found 

Page 92



National Fraud Initiative 

 

 Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 

 

P a g e  | 5 

 

Report Name / Explanation Priority 

Status* 

Number of 

Matches 

received 

Number of 

Matches 

completed 

Outcomes 

Duplicate creditors by address 
details 

 

To identify multiple creditors 
operating at the same address. 
These may represent simple 
errors, where the same creditor 
may have been set up twice using 
a slightly different spelling, for 
example LIMITED and LTD, or an 
attempt to obscure fraudulent 
activity. 

High 4 4 No errors or 

duplications found. 

Duplicate creditors by bank 
account 

 

To identify multiple creditors set 
up with the same bank account 
number. 

High 1 1 No errors or 

duplications found. 

Duplicate records by 
invoice number, invoice 
amount and creditor reference  

This match highlights possible 
duplicate payments in excess of 
£500 that may have arisen as a 
result of poor controls or 
fraudulent activity by suppliers 
and/or staff. 

High 11 11 No errors or 

duplications found. 

Duplicate records by 
invoice amount and  
creditor reference 

 

This match highlights possible 
duplicate payments in excess of 
£1,000 that may have arisen as a 
result of poor controls or 
fraudulent activity by suppliers 
and/or staff. There are likely to be 
more matches than in report 707 
as this report does not require the 
invoice reference field to match. 

High 241 241 No errors or 

duplications found. 

VAT overpaid 

 

This report identifies instances 
where VAT may have been 
overpaid. This is based on the 
information provided within the 
NFI invoice history data 

High 23 23 No errors identified. 

 

Page 93



National Fraud Initiative 

 

 Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 

 

P a g e  | 6 

 

Report Name / Explanation Priority 

Status* 

Number of 

Matches 

received 

Number of 

Matches 

completed 

Outcomes 

submission and the output 
includes the level and scale of 
overpaid VAT. The VAT amount is 
compared to a calculated 
maximum VAT of 20%, the 
maximum VAT rate in the 
payment period covered by the 
NFI exercise. 

Duplicate records by invoice 
number and amount but 
different creditor reference and 
name 

 

This match highlights possible 
duplicate payments for the same 
goods/services but to creditors 
with different reference numbers, 
which may have arisen as a result 
of poor controls or fraudulent 
activity by suppliers and/or staff. 

High 7 7 No errors or 

duplications found. 

Procurement - Payroll to 
Companies House (Director) 

 

To identify potential undeclared 
interests that have given a 
pecuniary advantage. To do this 
we have matched your payroll 
data to companies house 
information and then to your 
creditors data. 

 

The reports are split between 
those highlighting employees who 
appear to be registered directors 
of companies that the employing 
body has traded with (Report 
750). 

High 3 3 One individual where 

an updated 

declaration has been 

requested, with no 

conflicts identified 

through non-

declaration.  Two 

other matches found 

no issues with 

interests held. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 94



National Fraud Initiative 

 

 Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 

 

P a g e  | 7 

 

5. Timetable 

Match information is required to be investigated and completed usually within one year 

of the information becoming available. The key date which is used by the Cabinet Office 

for reporting purposes is the 31st of March the following year after the matches have 

been released. For this exercise that will be the 31/3/20. MIAA, with the help of Cheshire 

Fire and Rescue Service staff have met this deadline, with the residual match being 

subject to ongoing investigation governed by internal deadlines. The NFI system will 

remain accessible until the 31/12/20 for the outcome to be reported. 

The Cabinet Office will begin work on planning for the next exercise, to link in with the 

upload of Data in October / November 2020 (timetables have not yet been released), 

and subsequent release of data in January 2021. The Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service 

will be required to confirm key contacts with the Cabinet Office as part of a housekeeping 

email issued on the 7/1/20, and ensure it completes key tasks set within the timetable 

(pending issue by the Cabinet Office). 

. 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE FIRE & RESCUE SERVICE 

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE & OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
DATE: 26 FEBUARY 2019 
REPORT OF: HEAD OF PREVENTION 
AUTHOR: ANDREW GRAY 

 

SUBJECT: BONFIRE PERIOD REPORT 2019 

Purpose of Report 

1. The annual Bonfire Period Report 2019 summarises the preventative and 
operational activities of Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service (the Service) and 
partners during the bonfire period dated 24th October 2019 to 7th November 
2019 inclusive (the Bonfire Period).  It is attached to this report as Appendix 1.  
The Report also contains the incident data and performance for the period for 
deliberate fire activity and Anti Social Behaviour.  

Recommended: That 

[1]  the report be noted; 

[2] the recommendations are supported 

Background 

2. The Service, Local Authorities, Cheshire Police and other partners are 
committed to reducing incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) which affect the 
communities we serve.  The deliberate fire-setting which constitutes a large part 
of the ASB during the Bonfire Period has a significant effect on our Service 
target (BV206iii) Secondary Deliberate Fires.  

Information  

3. The Prevention team will ensure that the recommendations within the Report 
are communicated to Unitary Performance Managers and good practice is 
shared when planning initiatives for the 2020 bonfire period.  

 
4. Overall, there was a 22% reduction in deliberate small fires compared to the 

previous Bonfire Period.  All but one of the four unitary areas recorded a year 
on year decrease in deliberate small fires during this year’s bonfire period. 
Warrington was the only Unitary Area to have seen an increase compared to 1 
and 5 years ago respectively. 

 
 

Page 97

Agenda Item 6



Financial Implications 

5. The recommendations in the report identify areas with financial implications 
for future years, such as the use of diversionary engagement events, 
additional appliances, and details cost-effective, efficient deployment of staff 
and resources that will be considered for 2020.   

Legal Implications 

6. The bonfire initiatives are an important element of the Service’s work and there 
are no know legal implications in carrying them out.   

Equality and Diversity Implications 

7. The bonfire initiatives are not aimed at any particular groups.  Therefore, the 
matters covered in this report do not have equality and diversity implications. 

Environmental Implications 

7. Weather conditions during the Bonfire period do have an impact on activity. 
Rain was present on two of the evenings.  It should be recognised that the 
activities conducted during the Bonfire Period provide a positive contribution to 
reducing pollution and reducing carbon emissions from deliberate fires. 

CONTACT: NAOMI THOMAS, GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE PLANNING 

MANAGER 

TEL [01606] 868804 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:   

 

APPENDIX 1 - BONFIRE REPORT 2019 

Page 98



1 

Bonfire Period Report 2019 
Produced by: SM Andy Gray and Dan Taylor 

Appendix 1  

Page 99



2 
 

CONTENTS 

 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Recording of Incidents .................................................................................................................... 3 

3. Pre Planning and Partnership Activity .......................................................................................... 4 

4. Bonfire Removal Schemes and Waste Management ................................................................ 4 

5. Educational Events and Activities ................................................................................................. 5 

6. Diversionary Events, Activities and Enforcement. ...................................................................... 5 

8. North West Fire Control .................................................................................................................. 8 

9. Media and Corporate Communications ........................................................................................ 8 

10. Incident Data and Performance Summary .............................................................................. 13 

11. Accidents and Near Misses........................................................................................................ 18 

12. Recommendations ....................................................................................................................... 18 

13. Summary and conclusions ......................................................................................................... 19 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 100



3 
 

 

 

1. Introduction 

The annual bonfire season represents a period of increased activity for Police and Fire 

& Rescue Services (FRS) in the UK.  As such, plans for limiting deliberate fire activity 

and Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) are put in place during this time. 

ASB includes the setting of deliberate fires, and nuisance fires.  This places pressure 
on the resources of Cheshire Fire & Rescue Service due to an increase in call levels 
to incidents classed as small deliberate fires (SDF). 

The Service and its partners recognise the damage inflicted on communities by ASB 

during the bonfire season.  Significant amounts of time, effort, resources and money 

are expended in an attempt to ensure the safety and well-being of communities, whilst 

allowing and encouraging people to celebrate the season safely.   

We have also considered that Bonfire Period dates coincide with Halloween, and it is 

recognised that these dates are opportunities for ASB of all types, not just fire related 

ASB.  There is also a period referred to as ‘Mischief night’ on the 30th November which 

also presents both Fire and Police staff with increased levels of ASB.    

The Service’s Bonfire Period recording dates align with dates also used by Cheshire 

Constabulary to record ASB so it is a more accurate method of comparing all types of 

ASB together.  The data section in this report will explain this more fully.  

In summary, the alignment of Police and the Service’s dates (this started in 

2017) changes the overall perceived trends when we align the data 

retrospectively.  Although the annual SDF trend continues downward year on 

year, there are some year on year increases in SDF activity in some station 

areas during the reporting period. 

2. Recording of Incidents 
 

The bonfire reporting period 2018 captured data from 0800hrs 24th October to 0800hrs 
7th November.  Data from these dates has also been examined for the preceding 4 
years for all types of ASB 
. 
As there is no specific bonfire reporting category on the Incident Recording System 
(IRS) (this is the national method used to complete a fire report) this report relates to 
all small deliberate fires (SDF). The reason for this is that the difference between a 
bonfire and a pile of rubbish set on fire is a very subjective one for crews attending, so 
the inclusion of all SDF in this report will continue.  
 
The following guidance was promulgated to operational crews, as in previous years, 
to outline reporting parameters during the bonfire period for use on the IRS system.     
 

Page 101



4 
 

 If a Bonfire is lit prior to a planned celebration, i.e. as an act of Anti Social 
Behaviour, and needs to be extinguished because it is a nuisance or 
dangerous, then this must be recorded as a small deliberate fire. 
 

 If a Bonfire is lit for celebratory purposes and needs to be extinguished 
because it is dangerous, out of control or deemed a nuisance, then this will be 
recorded as an accidental small fire. 
 

 If a Bonfire is lit for celebratory purposes and is allowed to burn, and we do 
not need to take any action other than give advice then this should be 
recorded as a false alarm good intent.   Add to the stop message that a 
Dynamic Risk Assessment has been completed and advice has been given.  
When completing the IRS please note that there is a specific category for a 
Good Intent false alarm >> Fire >> Bonfire.     
 

 Other small deliberate or accidental fires e.g. wheelie bins, refuse, 
hedgerows, must be recorded as normal, and the investigation recorded fully 
on the Police Notification Report.  

     
3.  Pre Planning and Partnership Activity 
 

Station Managers and Lead Advocates engaged with local partners to plan a variety 
of interventions and strategies based on local needs and historical data. The 
objectives of these interventions and strategies were as follows: 
 

 

Local strategies were again produced for Ellesmere Port, and Winsford, Warrington, 
and Halton.  Each of these four local ‘Bonfire Groups’ is attended by the local Station 
Manager and/or the Station Manager responsible for arson reduction. Bonfire activity 
levels in any of the individual Cheshire East station areas did not warrant the 
formation of a specific strategy.  SDF activities are, however, addressed at regular 
local meetings and appropriate interventions are planned if necessary.  
 

4.  Bonfire Removal Schemes and Waste Management 
 

All Areas –The Street-scene type format of the reporting and removal of waste 
continues to occur in all council areas, there are some subtle differences across 
areas but essentially the public could access a free of charge a service where by 
using a free phone number to report the location of the waste, it is then removed.  
 

Prevention

Education Removal of 'fuel'
Organising 

'diversionary' 
events

Operational 
Response

Local Waste 
Management & 

Enforcement

Page 102



5 
 

All Areas – Operational crews increased their pre-planned arson route activities in 
2019 enabling them to provide valuable real time information to Street-scene and 
other fuel removal services operating in their local areas.  
 
5. Educational Events and Activities 

A targeted approach to education has been adopted by the Service in recent years, 
and this continued across all areas in 2019.  Using local intelligence, educational 
events were planned and delivered in specific locations based on fire related ASB 
and school catchment areas.  Educational events were delivered by the Service’s 
Prevention team and operational staff in partnership with Cheshire Police at a 
number of schools, community centres and other locations.  A consistent message 
promoting organised displays, the detrimental impact of ASB, and firework safety 
was delivered by our own staff using a presentation developed by Prevention staff. 
    
Bespoke presentations have been utilised for delivery at primary and secondary 
schools. Operational staff organised and delivered the primary school educational 
visits, in conjunction with key stage 2 visits scheduled for the weeks preceding 
bonfire night.   
 
Information was also delivered to the public, relating to having safe bonfires at home.  
This is the first year the Service has adopted this approach as we recognised there 
were a large number of the local communities who did/could not attend organised 
displays. This was as a result of intelligence from previous years showing a need to 
address problem bonfires held on private property. 
 
6. Diversionary Events, Activities and Enforcement. 

The term Diversionary Events and Activities refers to any activity intended to reduce 
opportunities for fire related ASB and which encourages residents to enjoy the 
celebrations in a safe manner.  These include organised bonfire and firework 
displays, youth work and other events. 
   
Diversionary events vary across the 4 local authority areas and the relevant local 
strategy groups in Warrington, Halton, Ellesmere Port, and Winsford.  There are 
dozens of organised displays held by local public houses, community groups, parish 
councils, PTAs etc.  Encouraging people to attend organised displays continues to 
be Service’s approach to bonfire safety, and upon notification of these events, by the 
organiser(s), they are publicised on the Service website. 
 
Cheshire East - fire related ASB and deliberate fire activity in Cheshire East is still at 
a relatively low level in comparison to other unitary areas. 
  
Youth and community groups organise a number of events during the bonfire 
weekend and the preceding half-term school holiday and there were a number of 
organised bonfire and firework events.  Due to relatively low levels of fire related 
ASB, there is limited partnership activity and the formation of a specific strategy in 
Cheshire East is not required. 
 
Cheshire West and Chester – The Winsford Bonfire Strategy Group worked in 
partnership with Cheshire Police, CWAC Council, Weaver Vale Housing, the local 
ASB team and Youth Engagement team to minimise SDF activity during the Bonfire 

Page 103



6 
 

period.  The Service and partners held events for young people within the known 
areas of fire related ASB throughout the lead up to Bonfire Night, events were held at 
Wharton and Over Verdin Youth Clubs.  This included 2 discos, a Halloween Party 
and a Smoothie and Pizza night. 
 
Sessions were used to engage with the young people and to receiving guidance 
from Police and Firefighters and partners.  The Police increased patrols and 
presence in the Winsford area for the period, and 3 multi agency ‘ward walks’ 
enabled Fire, Police and Weaver Vale housing staff to engage with residents.  The 
Service also utilised the On the Streets team in the area to directly engage with the 
public. 
 
The key firework events in CW&C are displays in Chester, Ellesmere Port and 
Winsford. Held at the Roodee, Whitby Park and Barton Stadium respectively.  10 
Family tickets were purchased for members of the public for the Winsford Town 
Firework Display.  To ensure they could not be re-sold the names were on the 
tickets, of the persons attending and therefore were not transferable. 
 
In the Chester and Ellesmere Port area Youth Anti-Social Behaviour (YADE) events 
were held from the 26th Oct – 3rd November to act as diversionary events and to 
improve engagement with the local young people.   
 
In Ellesmere Port extensive partnership working took place. This included joint 
engagement initiatives and intelligence sharing and community engagement.  An 
initiative to create a community group in the Bunbury Green area has resulted in 
residents feel safer and more confident to report anti social behaviour and its 
perpetrators.  Cheshire Police also had dispersal orders in place in hot spot areas in 
Ellesmere Port. 
 
Cheshire Police again engaged with known previous fire related ASB offenders in 
Winsford and Ellesmere Port during half-term to demonstrate to them that their 
behaviour was being monitored.   
 
Prevention and Operational teams also gave safety advice during school visits within 
the areas. 
 
All of these events were supported financially by Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service, 
Cheshire Police and local partners. 
 

Warrington – Crews targeted several areas within Warrington by use of current and 
historical fire related ASB and data. 
 

A multi agency impact event took place on 9th October at Leicester Street and 
Whitecross Street, 29 Home safety assessments were completed. This also included 
a temporary trial of mobile CCTV, which was funded from the Police and Crime 
Commissioner these CCTV units are available for future joint working. 
 
Torus Housing increased visits to the Leicester Street location as part of the local 
Bonfire Strategy as a follow up from the event on the 9th October.  They continued to 
remove potential bonfire waste and promoted the safer bin storage.  During one of 

Page 104



7 
 

these site visits, they identified an abandoned caravan near to the Leicester Street 
roundabout which was subsequently removed.  
 
Protection teams visited small businesses at Manley Gardens promoting safe 
storage of materials as some areas held tyres and pallets.  
 
Cheshire Police added 5 additional patrols which were staffed from the 25th Oct to 
5th November, also using Dispersal Orders in high activity areas. PCSO's attended 
several local schools giving Bonfire and Firework safety. 
 
Halton Borough Council (HBC) - Organises one large firework display, which was 
well very well attended.  This took place on the bank of the Mersey and Ship Canal.  
The council do not advocate other smaller bonfire events to be organised by local 
groups at this time. 
 
Crews continued proactive work in the run-up and during the period, reporting any 
waste removal that was required. 
 
Runcorn crews completed Arson routes and used bin stickers, utilising intelligence 
gained from previous fire locations for a targeted approach.  Crews engaged with the 
owners of bins left out and placed a sticker on the bins of owners not present which 
gave safety advice relating to bin storage. 
 
A Multi Agency Impact Day Event was held in Orford. Police, Torus Housing 
Association and Fire Crews delivered Safe and Well visits to residents.  Prevention 
teams also worked with individual PCSO’s to reassure the community that Police & 
Fire would be visible over the period. 
 
Several School and Nursery visits were completed to promote fire safety and 
firework advice. 
 
7.  Operational Response 

Small Incident Units (SIU) have been deployed in the busier areas during the bonfire 
period for several years. The appliances used for these additional resources in 2019 
were the On-call appliances from Penketh, Runcorn, Winsford, Northwich and 
Macclesfield. 
 
These SIU were deployed flexibly during five evenings from the 31st October – 5th 
November between 1600-2200 hrs. The services Deliberate Fire Reduction Manager 
attended North West Fire Control (NWFC) on the busiest evenings, 31st,1st 2nd and 
5th to enable risk based mobilisation to take place, often overriding the ‘proposed 
resources’ offered by the NWFC mobilising system in order to support and maintain 
cover levels across the County. 
 
Due to the proposed Brexit withdrawal date planned for 31st October 2019 an 

additional 2 SIU were deployed.  To minimise any detrimental impacts as a result. 

Availability of SIU at times of peak activity allows other appliances to be available for 
incidents that may pose a threat to life or property and allows on call staff in 
development to gain operational experience, it is recommended that this practice 
continues in future.  SIU provision and deployment continues to be an effective 

Page 105



8 
 

means of maintaining structural appliance availability. The services Deliberate Fire 
Reduction Manager has thanked all the Oncall crews for there continued support and 
flexibility in this period which resulted in the completion of 80 periods of cover in total 
whilst not effecting the availability of their stations structural appliance. 
 
Throughout the period these additional resources were programmed at NWFC as 
SIU.  These were specifically instigated to deal with small fires prevalent over the 
bonfire period.  However, due to the pre planning and support of Oncall personnel, 
we were able to staff these additional resources with the appropriate skill sets 
required, to attend life risk incidents, this enables us if the appliance is the nearest to 
a life risk it could attend.  
 
8.  North West Fire Control 

Extensive planning took place for the 2019 bonfire period in North West Fire Control 
(NWFC).  Prior to 2014, each FRS control had their own methods of dealing with 
expected spate call conditions. This was in addition to separate procedures for unlit 
bonfires, firework incidents, filtering or challenging calls, and mobilising procedures. 
NWFC planning meetings examined and retained best practice already in place in 
previous FRS Controls and evaluated and reviewed the systems adopted by NWFC 
in 2015 with an intention to adopt them as a common practice where possible. 
 
Many of the practices adopted across all 4 Services by NWFC are based on 
procedures previously used only in Cheshire. Of particular note is the call 
challenging procedure adopted by NWFC in 2014; this originated in Cheshire and 
has resulted in risk based non attendance to incidents in all NWFC FRS areas.  This 
call challenge has also been adopted by Cheshire Police Control so that bonfire 
incidents are assessed before referral to NWFC.  The call challenge and ‘tolerance’ 
procedure was also communicated to all operational police staff in order to reduce 
the number of calls from patrols. 
 
A call handling and mobilising procedure was operated during the period.  NWFC 
staff were permitted to over-ride resources offered by the mobilising system and to 
leave certain calls unattended for a short period if appropriate.  The mobilising 
decisions in each pod were the responsibility of a Station Manager (or higher) from 
each FRS. 
 
9.  Media and Corporate Communications 

The Corporate Communications team actively promoted a number of key messages 
for the Service over the Hallowe’en and Bonfire period which ran from 08:00 on 
October 24 to 08:00 on November 7. 
 
Communications were promoted for the campaign internally and via the local press 
and social media for both events, with the main focus on Bonfire Night celebrations. 
 
A briefing was sent by the Arson Reduction Manager to all stations via The Green to 
let them know what service activity was taking place and giving them a heads up 
about the Corporate Communications campaign.  
 

Page 106



9 
 

Leaflets were produced and placed on the intranet for stations to draw down and 
hand out in their communities. (The leaflets were also utilised in the Burns 
Awareness Pack that personnel delivered in October 2019). 
 
The Service issued three press releases during the Bonfire Period: “Tips to keep you 
safe this bonfire period”, “Mindless vandal’s cause disruption across Halton” and 
“Warrington and Warning to residents following increase in wheelie bin fires”.  
 
The press releases received coverage from a number of local press outlets.  
 
On Bonfire Night itself ( 5 November 2019), a Communications Officer went to North 
West Fire Control and updated incidents on the service website as they happened 
and published more serious incidents onto social media.  
 
The Service issued 22 messages on Twitter and Facebook throughout the Bonfire 
period. Ten of these were issued on Bonfire Night, 5 November.  
  

Page 107



10 
 

 
For Facebook the top three posts that received the most engagement from the public 
were: 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 108



11 
 

 

 

 

Two out of the three top posts were on the night live by the press officer in the 
control room. 

 

 
For Twitter the top three posts that received the most engagement from the public 
were: 

 

 

Page 109



12 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Two of the three posts contained safety advice regarding reducing arson and 
attending organised displays.  
 
An evaluation of the effectiveness of these posts found: 
 

 The posts issued during the Bonfire period didn’t create that much 
engagement on Twitter in comparison to what the Service normally achieves, 
however some of the posts on Facebook managed to achieve a good 
engagement from the public in comparison to what the Service normally 
achieves.  
 

 The live incident posts from the control room were better received on 
Facebook than they were on Twitter.  
 

 Our overall reach from every post on Twitter was 2,193,219 screens. 
 

 Our overall reach from every post on Facebook was 183,813 screens. 
 

 The total number of clicks through to our website containing safety advice for 
Twitter was 726. 
 

 The total number of clicks through to our website containing safety advice for 
Facebook was 455. 
 

 The total engagement (comments, likes, shares, clicks) from every post on 
Twitter was 1235. 
 

 The total engagement (comments, likes, shares, clicks) from every post on 
Facebook was 1449. 
 

 
 

Page 110



13 
 

10. Incident Data and Performance Summary  
 
Incidents recorded during the bonfire period 
 
The following graph (Fig. 1) illustrates the overall trend of Deliberate Small Fires in 
Cheshire over the last 5 years. The 2019 Bonfire Period saw the lowest number of 
Deliberate Small Fires on record, showing a 7% reduction from 5 years ago, and 22% 
reduction from 1 year ago:  

Fig. 1 

 

A total of 18 Deliberate Small Fires were recorded on bonfire night, however a total of 56 bonfire 

related incidents were attended – 26 (46%) of these incidents were ‘False Alarms Good Intent’ 

and 12 incidents (21%) were ‘Accidental Small Fires’.   

The graphs below (Fig. 2 & Fig. 3) display both Fire & Police activity levels by day and incident 
type, showing comparisons between small deliberate fire activity and ASB/Criminal Damage 
reported to the Police during this same time period. As can be expected, peaks are noticeable 
on 31/10 ‘Halloween’, and 05/11 ‘Bonfire Night’.  Firework Related ASB was the most common 
type throughout the period, peaking on 5th Nov. 
 
Fig.2 

 

Page 111



14 
 

Fig.3 

 

 

The following two charts also shows a comparison of the time and day of when activity occurred 
for both deliberate fires and ASB/Criminal Damage.  They show very similar peak times and 
days.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Hour Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun Total

00 0.2% 0.5% 0.2% 0.2% 0.0% 0.2% 0.0% 1.5%

01 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.0% 0.2%

02 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.5% 0.5%

03 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

04 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

05 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

06 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

07 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2%

08 0.0% 0.2% 0.2% 0.0% 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.7%

09 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.2% 0.0% 0.5% 1.2%

10 0.0% 0.0% 0.7% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.7%

11 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2%

12 0.0% 0.5% 0.0% 0.5% 0.0% 0.2% 0.2% 1.5%

13 0.5% 0.5% 1.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 2.2%

14 0.5% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.0% 0.2% 1.7%

15 0.5% 0.0% 1.0% 0.5% 0.0% 0.2% 0.5% 2.7%

16 1.0% 1.0% 0.5% 1.5% 0.0% 0.2% 0.0% 4.2%

17 0.5% 1.2% 1.0% 2.7% 0.7% 1.0% 0.2% 7.4%

18 1.5% 2.0% 0.7% 3.2% 1.2% 1.5% 1.2% 11.4%

19 1.5% 4.5% 4.5% 4.5% 2.0% 1.7% 2.0% 20.6%

20 1.5% 5.0% 4.2% 6.9% 0.2% 0.7% 1.2% 19.9%

21 0.7% 3.2% 1.7% 4.0% 0.2% 2.0% 0.5% 12.4%

22 0.2% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 0.7% 1.0% 0.0% 6.5%

23 0.0% 0.7% 1.0% 0.7% 0.7% 0.5% 0.2% 4.0%

Total 8.9% 21.1% 18.6% 27.0% 7.2% 9.7% 7.4% 100.0%

n=403

ASB/Criminal Damage

Hour Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun Total

00 0.0% 0.0% 1.5% 4.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 6.1%

01 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.5%

02 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

03 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

04 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

05 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

06 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.5% 0.0% 1.5%

07 0.0% 0.0% 1.5% 1.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 3.0%

08 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

09 0.0% 0.0% 1.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.5%

10 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

11 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

12 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

13 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

14 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

15 0.0% 1.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.5%

16 1.5% 1.5% 0.0% 1.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 4.5%

17 1.5% 0.0% 0.0% 1.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 3.0%

18 3.0% 6.1% 1.5% 3.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.5% 15.2%

19 3.0% 3.0% 1.5% 7.6% 0.0% 1.5% 1.5% 18.2%

20 1.5% 10.6% 3.0% 3.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.5% 19.7%

21 0.0% 1.5% 1.5% 3.0% 1.5% 0.0% 1.5% 9.1%

22 0.0% 6.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.5% 7.6%

23 1.5% 4.5% 0.0% 1.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 7.6%

Total 12.1% 34.8% 12.1% 28.8% 1.5% 3.0% 7.6% 100.0%

n=66

Deliberate Fire Activity

Page 112



15 
 

The majority of Deliberate Small Fires and ASB occurred on Bonfire Night and 
Halloween. The majority of fires occurred between the hours of 18:00 – 21:00 (53%), 
which again mirrored the most common times of day for ASB (52%). Overall, 
deliberate small fires saw a 22% decrease from the 2018 Bonfire Period, whereas 
ASB incidents saw a 21% increase from the same period. 
 
Unitary Performance  
 
All but one of the four unitary areas recorded a year on year decrease in Deliberate 
Small Fires during this year’s bonfire period. Warrington was the only Unitary Area to 
have seen an increase compared to 1 and 5 years ago respectively. This can be 
seen as follows (Figs. 4 and 5): 
 

Fig.4  

 
2019 2018 

Year on 
year 

 2015 
5 Year 
change 

Cheshire East 2 9 -7  6 -4 

Cheshire West and Chester 23 29 -6  28 -5 

Halton 16 23 -7  24 -8 

Warrington 25 24 +1  12 +13 

 

 

Fig. 5 

 

 

 

Page 113



16 
 

Station Performance 
 
In total, there were 11 station areas which recorded Deliberate Small Fire activity during 
the Bonfire Period, with 4 of these only reporting 1 incident each. 
 
The following table (Fig. 6) summarises activity by the station areas with the highest 
volume of activity during the 2019 reporting period. 
 
These 5 station areas accounted for 86% of all Deliberate Small Fire activity 
recorded during the period. 
 
Fig. 6 

 

Station 2019 2018 
Year on 

year 
 2015 

5 Year 
change 

Warrington 21 18 +3   10 +11 

Winsford 14 12 +2   5 +9 

Runcorn 9 10 -1   10 -1 

Ellesmere Port 7 15 -8   16 -9 

Widnes 6 12 -6   14 -8 

 

Below shows Bonfire Period Deliberate Small fire hotspot areas from 2015 – 2019: 

 

 

Page 114



17 
 

Below shows the 2019 Bonfire Period Deliberate Small Fire hotspot areas: 

  

Below shows the 2019 Bonfire Period ASB hotspot areas: 

Page 115



18 
 

11.  Accidents and Near Misses 
 

There were no accidents or near misses affecting service personnel or resources 
during the bonfire period for 2019.  
 
12.  Recommendations 
 

It is recommended that:  
 
a) The delivery of targeted and timely education to schools in all Service 

Delivery areas should continue occur 
 

b) Bonfire Strategy Groups should continue to encourage safe organised 
displays to allow people to safely celebrate bonfire night.  Where 
possible or appropriate, these should be supported by the Service and 
partners. 
 

c) Planning meetings for the relevant Bonfire Strategy Groups should start 
well in advance of the bonfire period. 

 
d) Use of SIUs should be targeted over an appropriate number of evenings 

and the number of vehicles to remain as a minimum at 3 to cover the 
known risk areas.  

 
e) Service and partner agency resources and efforts should continue to be 

focused in areas where intelligence suggests that high incident volumes 
may occur. 

   
f) Where possible, partner agencies should be persuaded to continue the 

free removal schemes for the removal of large items, (normally a 
chargeable service). This will continue to be “championed” at Bonfire 
Strategy Group planning meetings. 
 

g) The tolerance approach adopted by the Service has proven successful 
and should be continued.  The desire to celebrate bonfire night is present 
in most areas, and residents will continue to be primarily advised to do so 
in a safe manner, at organised events. 
 

h) Targeted youth activity should be repeated using the On the Streets 
Team and volunteers, utilising data provided by the Business 
Intelligence Unit.  
 

i) Communication team colleagues should continue to provide live social 
media updates. 
 

j) Consideration should again be given to having a local newspaper 
reporter riding appliances accompanied by a communications team 
member in the areas of higher activity.  
  

Page 116



19 
 

k) Consideration should be given to the of making of cash contributions 
towards organised displays, particularly in areas of high deliberate fire 
activity. 
 

l) Diversionary activities should continue to be funded in known areas of 
high deliberate fire activity. 

 
m) The programme of Primary Respect courses in targeted schools should 

continue. 
 

n) Consideration be given to understand the way we staff the SIU this is 
dependent on personnel’s availability, skill sets and external influences 
and may fluctuate year on year. 

 
13.  Summary and conclusions 

The total number of SDF attended during the period was lower than in previous 
years.  It should be noted that there are considerable improvements to the 
totals of almost 300 SDF that we experienced less than 10 years ago. 
   
Engagement: Some areas received increased engagement by our staff and 
other agencies.  Consistent, timely and targeted delivery of bonfire and firework 
education was delivered.  The timeliness of this delivery is important to its 
effectiveness. 
 
Fuel removal: Bonfire removal schemes continue to be an effective means of 
reducing the numbers of SDF.  A visual presence of teams actively removing 
material also discouraged the rebuilding of bonfires. 
 
Incident recording: The tolerant, risk based approach to dealing with incidents 
and recording will have impacted on the number of incidents recorded as SDF. 
 
Weather: It has been found that weather conditions experienced over the 
bonfire period will have an impact on incident volumes. Rainfall was present 
during the period and does suppress activity.  
 
Cross Departmental Work: Departments throughout the Service were proactive 
during the run up to and including the bonfire period. Without the efforts of staff 
and partners it is likely that the number of SDF would have been much greater.   
 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORTY 

 
MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE   

DATE: 26TH FEBRUARY 2020     

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF TRANSFORMATION 

AUTHOR: BENJI EVANS 

_____________________________________________________________ 

 

SUBJECT:  EQUALITY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION 

UPDATE  
_____________________________________________________________ 
 

Purpose of Report 

1. To provide an overview of key equality, diversity and inclusion 
developments within the Service; the recent progress made against the 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Action Plan; and to highlight upcoming 
work. 

Recommended:  That 

[1] Members note the progress to date and highlight any issues for 
further discussion or clarification. 

Background 

2. Under the Equality Act 2010, public sector organisations including 
Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service have a duty to: eliminate 
discrimination; advance equality of opportunity; and foster good relations 
between different groups (“public sector equality duty”). 

3. In order to fulfill the public sector equality duty, the Service currently has 
in place an Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy (‘the Strategy’) for 
the period 2017-2020.  The Strategy includes an associated Equality 
Action Plan, which is updated annually in April and approved by the 
Service’s Equality Steering Group. 

4. A new strategy will be developed for the period 2021-2024 and will be 
submitted for review and approval to Members at a Fire Authority 
meeting later this year.  The purpose of the Strategy will be to provide 
strategic direction and a set of clear and challenging aims for the 
Service to ensure continued progress. The Strategy will also incorporate 
the wider notion of inclusion to welcome and celebrate diversity within 
the community and to establish Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service as an 
employer of choice.   

5. Progress against the Action Plan for the current Strategy has been 
monitored on a quarterly basis at the Equality Steering Group, which is 
chaired by the Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive who holds overall 
responsibility for overseeing equality, diversity and inclusion in the 

Page 119

Agenda Item 7



Service.  At the January 2020 meeting of the Equality Steering Group, 
significant time was taken to review the Action Plan and ensure actions 
were being appropriately managed and progressed. 

Key Areas of Focus and Accomplishments over last 6 Months 

Stonewall Workplace Equality Index 

6. In January 2020, the Service learned that it had secured the position of 
3rd in the Stonewall Workplace Equality Index 2019 for the second 
consecutive year.  This remains the highest ranking that the Service has 
achieved since participating in the index. 

7. Stonewall have advised that the Service’s overall score was higher this 
year and that significant progress was evident.  The position in the index 
however remained the same.    

8. On the strength of the Stonewall result, the Service continues to be the 
top performing emergency service for the 5th consecutive year, the top 
performing employer in the North West region for the 2nd year.  This year  
the Service was also included in the Top Trans employer list.   

9. Every year Stonewall also recognises individuals for their personal 
contributions and commitment to LGBT inclusion in the workplace.  The 
Service was proud to learn that Mark Cashin, Chief Fire Officer and 
Chief Executive, was awarded the ‘Top Performing Leader’ for the North 
West Region.  This is a genuine reflection of Mark’s personal 
commitment as a leader and highlights the importance of senior 
sponsorship.   

10. The Service’s work around LGBT inclusion and its investment in 
Stonewall has delivered tangible improvements.  There has been an 
overall increase in the number of staff identifying as LGBT from 2.9% to 
3.1% currently.  Within the Service there has also been a reduction in 
the number of staff who are unwilling to declare their sexual orientation.  
A year ago 21.7% chose not to declare whereas the current percentage 
is 19.4%. 

HMICFRS 

11. Following feedback from the HMICFRS and a “requires improvement” 
rating in the area of ensuring fairness and promoting diversity, a lot of 
work has been focused in this area.  This has been specifically in 
relation to how leaders act on making changes as a result of staff 
feedback and how communications between staff and managers can be 
improved.  

12. In response to this the Service has engaged more directly with staff and 
sought comprehensive feedback from staff using various methods. A 
communications survey was undertaken to understand how staff wanted 
to communicate and the Service undertook another service wide staff 

Page 120



engagement survey in Summer 2019.  Senior staff have also engaged 
with all staff through a programme of visits which has ensured that either 
a Brigade Manager and/or a member of the service management team 
has visited every station, watch and department.  Visibility has improved 
significantly and staff have welcomed the opportunity to meet face to 
face and provide direct feedback.  

13. Feedback and subsequent actions are logged and reviewed by SMT and 
“you said we did” style communications have been published in the 
Green and Alert magazines to keep staff updated.   
Recently the second cohort of the Staff Engagement Forum was also 
launched which a cross section of staff from all departments to voice 
any concerns, share positive ideas and feedback directly to the Chief 
Fire Officer on a monthly basis.   

14. Relevant actions have been logged on a HMICFRS Action Plan which 
will form part of the evidence to demonstrate progress and 
improvements in the forthcoming HMICFRS inspection. 

Addressing disproportionality in the workforce 

15. Work has continued over the last six months to encourage applications 
from under-represented groups, with the aim of increasing the diversity 
within our workforce. The focus on operational recruitment over the last 
six months has been on call and the Positive Action Working Group has 
continued to meet to develop strategies and share ideas.   

16. The main areas of the Positive Action Working Group’s focus have 
been: 
 

 working with local community groups and attending community 
events to raise awareness of career opportunities amongst under-
represented groups;  
 

 meeting with key representatives in education, visiting 
schools/colleges, arranging taster days on stations, which were 
approaches used to specifically target under-represented groups. 
  

 Promoting the Service’s buddying scheme to encourage diverse 
applicants to talk to current firefighters about the application 
process and working for the Service.   
 

17. Further progress has also been made in respect of the 50/50 campaign 
which is designed specifically to highlight opportunities for under-
represented groups.  The poster campaign is now complete (See 
Appendix A) and plans are underway to use some of these graphics on 
service vehicles specifically the recruitment pod.   

18. As a result of this work, the Service continues to see a gradual increase 
in the diversity of its new recruits, with a particular increase in women. 
Female staff make up 18.7% of the workforce which is an increase from 

Page 121



16.9% one year ago. We have seen a 1.1% increase in female staff 
working in operational positions from 6.2% to 7.3% in the past year. 
Females working in non-operational position has also increased by 2.5% 
from 59.1% to 61.6% in the past year. A full breakdown of equality 
monitoring data is available.  

19. The Service has not seen a sufficient change with regards to staff from a 
BAME background. Our workforce has remained 1.8% BAME over the 
past year. We have seen a slight reduction in White British staff from 
93.3% from 93.5%, although this is a result of people not stating any 
particular category. There is certainly a need for positive action with 
regards to BAME.  

20. This month marks LGBT History Month and for the second consecutive 
year, rainbow flags are being flown not just from Sadler Road, but also 
from the fire stations.  This signals an overt commitment to LGBT 
inclusion to the Service’s local communities. 

Staff Network Groups 

21. The Limitless group has played a key role in raising awareness of 
gender related topics, organising events and creating a platform for 
female staff to voice suggestions that can help improve the Service.  
The membership has grown over the last six months and there appears 
to be a genuine sense of purpose and mutual support.  Recent activities 
include a personal development event in December that was facilitated 
by the Director of Transformation. This event was very well attended and 
was followed by the first Limitless Christmas social event.  The network 
is working hard to strengthen the Service’s support for women, 
developing mentoring and buddying opportunities; visiting 
schools/colleges and arranging regular networking opportunities.  

22. The Service has recently renewed its membership with the national 
‘Women in the Fire Service UK’ and a female firefighter has been 
nominated to attend national network events as the Service’s Women’s 
Champion.  This enables the Service to access training resources, 
guidance documents and best practice regarding gender equality. 

23. The Service attended six pride events last Summer. This included 
attendance at all five pride events in Cheshire, namely Chester, 
Nantwich, Crewe, Congleton and Macclesfield. Like previous years, we 
attended the large scale pride event in Manchester. Each event enabled 
the Service to engage with thousands of community members and 
showcased our support to LGBT people.  

24. The FirePride network also organised and hosted a “Proud to Provide” 
conference in June 2019 at the Storeyhouse in Chester.  This event was 
supported by Stonewall and very well attended by approximately 100 
delegates from a range of local organisations, other FRS, Home Office 
and other emergency service partners.  The keynote speaker was Ruth 

Page 122



Hunt from Stonewall and the feedback from the event was 
overwhelmingly positive.  

25. Work is underway to develop a men’s network within the Service.  This 
is to encourage men to talk and support each other with a particular 
emphasis on mental health which ties in closely with the inclusion 
agenda in respect of disability.  Currently a similar network exists with 
Warrington Wolves called “Off-load” which is designed to enable men to 
speak about their feelings and mental health issues in a safe and 
confidential environment.  The development of the men’s network is 
being spearheaded by the Service’s Mental Health and Wellbeing 
Advisor.   

Policy Development 

26. The Service has recently developed a ‘Menopause’ policy which has 
helped raise awareness of how the Menopause and the associated 
symptoms can affect all staff directly or indirectly.  

27. The Paternity policy has been reviewed to extend the offering.  A 
working group was established to ensure that relevant stakeholders from 
within the Service were given the opportunity to help shape the 
proposals.  This policy is due to launch within the service in March.   

White Ribbon & Domestic Violence Support 

28. Last year, the Service became a White Ribbon accredited organisation 
to help tackle domestic abuse.  In November the Service emphatically 
showed its support by having a visible presence on White Ribbon day in 
Chester by displaying a 60-foot white ribbon from an aerial platform.   

29. At the White Ribbon event the Chief Fire Officer also pledged his 
support for the “He for She” campaign which is an international initiative 
that encourages males to support their female colleagues in the 
workplace.   

Priorities for next 6 Months 

HMICFRS 

30. The Inspectors will be revisiting the Service for a discovery week in 
March 2020 and our official inspection will take place in April 2020. Prior 
to the formal inspection the Service’s HMICFRS Liaison Officer will meet 
with the Equality and Inclusion Officer for a comprehensive briefing on 
the Service’s approach to being an inclusive and welcoming employer 
and service provider. 

Recruitment communications and Attraction Strategy 

31. A microsite will be designed for the 50/50 campaign which will become 
the landing page for the section of the website that relates to operational 
recruitment. The microsite will have the same look and feel of the poster 

Page 123



campaign which will challenge stereotypes of a traditional firefighter. The 
microsite will also highlight the tangible benefits of working for the 
Service.   

32. Further work will be done to expand the sponsorship agreements 
currently in place in respect of female recruitment.  Currently the Service 
sponsors ladies’ rugby teams at Warrington Wolves, Widnes Vikings 
and University of Chester.  The partnership arrangements being 
explored are with Warrington Wolves’ open age women’s, girls under 
16’s, girls under 14’s and girls under 12’s Teams.  

33. The Service’s cap badge logo will also appear on the playing jerseys of 
the physical disability team, the learning disability team and the club’s 
wheelchair rugby team.   

34. All partnerships have enabled the Service to gain additional exposure 
which has helped the Service target female audiences and other 
underrepresented groups.  

EDI Education and Training Review 

35. The service will be reviewing the current EDI training offer and explore 
whether the training packages are still fit for purpose.  

36. For the coming year, it has been agreed that the Service will continue to 
use an external education supplier to provide E-Learning packages that 
staff can access remotely. Although the online method provides 
flexibility, the Equality and Inclusion Officer will also develop bespoke 
equality training that will be delivered to staff face-to-face.  

Staff Networks 

37. In addition to the proposed man’s network, discussions have started 
which explore the possibility of developing two further staff networks 
within the Service; one network to support staff with a disability and/or 
long term health condition; and a second network with a BAME focus. 
The benefit of the additional networks is to create a platform to bring 
staff with an interest in the specific areas of equality and inclusion. 
Through these networks, we are able to critically review all aspects of 
our work and identify practical ways we can promote inclusion for people 
from underrepresented groups. 

38. The Limitless network will be hosting a ‘Each for Equal’ Conference on 
Friday 6th March 2020 to celebrate International Women’s Day.  This will 
provide a valuable platform to launch the new menopause policy and to 
explore the theme of the menopause in more detail.  

39. Plans are being made to host a second “Proud to Provide” conference at 
Chester Storeyhouse in June 2020.  Themes and speakers are currently 
under review, but the event aims to support internal staff members and 
also attract some external partners.   

Page 124



Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) 

40. The service has conducted various Equality Impact Assessment as part 
of the proposals outlined in the draft Integrated Risk Management Plan 
(IRMP). The EIA have enabled the service to consider and assess all 
equality and inclusion factors that may emerge as a result of the 
proposed plans or changes. Other EIA will be conducted with various 
departments in the coming months to ensure our current practices are 
purposeful and inclusive to the communities we serve.   

41. Consideration is being given to broadening the scope of future EIA’s to 
incorporate wider impacts such as wellbeing.   

Financial Implications 

42. During the 2019 budget bidding process, a successful pitch was made 
for the EDI function to have a dedicated budget within the 
Transformation department.  Previously all non salary related funding 
was combined in a budget held by the Joint Communications 
Department.  The new arrangement will promote more ownership and 
better budget monitoring. 

Legal Implications 

43. As referred to in the ‘Background’ section, the above activities will help 
evidence the Service’s commitment to and compliance with the 
provisions of the Equality Act 2010, and in particular to the public sector 
equality duty.   

Equality and Diversity Implications 

44. Equality and diversity implications have been discussed throughout the 
main body of the report. 

Environmental Implications 

45. The Service is currently undertaking some modernisation work to four of 
its fire and rescue stations, so Equality Impact Assessments have been 
conducted for each site to highlight all equality and inclusion 
considerations that will benefit all stakeholders. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 125



Appendix A – 50/50 campaign posters 

 

 

Page 126



“ When I was  
a little girl,  
all I wanted  
to be was  
a firefighter.”

There are no Firemen or Firewomen in the modern service – just Firefighters. We’re a close team of 
self-disciplined individuals who have each other’s backs.
It doesn’t matter about your gender, race or sexual orientation; we’re looking for like-minded team 
players to join today.
Make a difference to other people’s lives - starting with your own.

www.cheshirefire.careersPage 127



“ My husband  
said I would make 
a great firefighter. 
He was right.”

There are no Firemen or Firewomen in the modern service – just Firefighters. We’re a close team of 
self-disciplined individuals who have each other’s backs.
It doesn’t matter about your gender, race or sexual orientation; we’re looking for like-minded team 
players to join today.
Make a difference to other people’s lives - starting with your own.

www.cheshirefire.careersPage 128



“ My brother  
wouldn’t let  
me play with  
his fire engine.  
So I got my own.”

There are no Firemen or Firewomen in the modern service – just Firefighters. We’re a close team of 
self-disciplined individuals who have each other’s backs.
It doesn’t matter about your gender, race or sexual orientation; we’re looking for like-minded team 
players to join today.
Make a difference to other people’s lives - starting with your own.

www.cheshirefire.careersPage 129



...Neither do we.
There are no Firemen or Firewomen in the modern service – just Firefighters. We’re a close team of 
self-disciplined individuals who have each other’s backs.
It doesn’t matter about your gender, race or sexual orientation; we’re looking for like-minded team 
players to join today.
Make a difference to other people’s lives - starting with your own.

Fire doesn’t care 
about gender, 
race or sexual 
orientation...

www.cheshirefire.careersPage 130



“   Fighting 
fires is the 
last thing  
I want  
to do.”

Most of my time is spent on fire prevention, rather than fighting fires. With safety inspections and training 
taking up most of the time. But when called upon, I am part of a  close team of self-disciplined individuals 
who have each other’s backs.
It doesn’t matter about your gender, race or sexual orientation; we’re looking for team players to join today. 
Make a difference to other people’s lives - starting with your own.

www.cheshirefire.careersPage 131



“    There’s no 
glass ceiling 
at the top of 
our ladder”

As a Firefighter, you’ll succeed because of who you are, not what you are. Your gender, race or sexual 
orientation will never come into it. Once you’ve completed your training, you could be earning more than 
£30,000 in just 18 months, with that figure climbing as high as your ambition will take you. There’s also 45 
weeks full pay maternity and adoption policies in place, as well as up to 35 days annual leave. Find out 
what becoming a Firefighter could mean for you.  
Make a difference to other people’s lives - starting with your own.

You could be earning more than £30,000 in 18 months once you’ve completed your training. Then they 
just climb as high as your ambition will take you

www.cheshirefire.careersPage 132



CHESHIRE FIRE & RESCUE SERVICE 

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE  
DATE: 26TH FEBRUARY 2020 
REPORT OF: LEE SHEARS 
AUTHOR: SM MARK POLLARD 

 

SUBJECT: GRENFELL TOWER INQUIRY PHASE 1 UPDATE 

Purpose of Report 

1. To update the Performance and Overview Committee on the Service’s 

planning, position in relation to the recommendations in The Grenfell Tower 

Inquiry: Phase 1 Report (hereafter referred to as the Report).  

Recommended: That 

[1]  The Committee considers the information contained within the paper. 

[2] The Committee continues to support the work the service is carrying 
out in relation to the recommendations contained within The Report.  

 

Background 
 
2. Following the fire at Grenfell Tower on the night of 14 June 2017 Sir Martin 

Moore-Bick was appointed to lead the Grenfell Tower Inquiry (GTI) as the 
Chairman (appointed 28 June 2017). The purpose of the inquiry was to 
examine the circumstances leading up to and surrounding the fire. 
 

3. The Report from Phase 1 of the GTI was released in October 2019. It 
focuses on the factual narrative of the events on the night and consists of an 
overview and 4 volumes, concluding with a number of recommendations. 
   

4. In the run up to the publication of the Report, the Protection Department were 
proactive in responding to consultations and “calls for evidence” from various 
Government departments. These included, but were not limited to:- 
 

 Response to the Dame Judith Hackitt report (Building a Safer Future 
Consultation) 
 

 Response to the call for evidence in relation to the Fire Safety Order 
 

 Response to the competency framework (Raising the Bar) consultation 
 

Page 133

Agenda Item 8



 Response to a call for evidence in relation to proposed changes to 
Approved Document B, specifically relating to Sprinklers (height 
thresholds) and fire safety measures within high rise blocks of flats. 
  

Information 
 
5. The Service undertook a gap analysis concerning the recommendations in 

the Report in order to assess the Service’s current position and to help 
determine any actions that were necessary.  The gap analysis is attached to 
this report as Appendix 1.  

 
6. A paper was presented to Service Management Team in December detailing 

the findings of the gap analysis.  Since then an action plan aimed at 
addressing required improvements has been prepared. 
 

7. The gap analysis demonstrated that the Service was in a relatively good 
position in relation to many of the recommendations. The analysis showed 
that since the Grenfell incident in 2017 the Service has been proactive and 
had carried out considerable work to ensure its operational effectiveness in 
the event of a high rise incident. 

 
8. In response to the Report and to manage the arising action plan an inter-

departmental High Rise Working Group was created.  Additionally, to 
manage the workload generated by the recommendations and gap analysis 
a temporary Watch Manager has been appointed to the Operational Policy 
and Assurance (OPA) Department with responsibility for managing, co-
ordinating and delivering activity in this area. 
 

9. In December 2020 the NFCC issued a briefing note relating to the Report 
detailing its position in relation to the recommendations. This note was 
accompanied with an overview of works completed, the works in progress and 
planned future works.  It is important to note that the NFCC is keen to develop 
common approaches to some of the issues identified in the Report and want 
to lead on many of the recommendations to prevent 45 different approaches 
so as to ensure consistency.  
 

10. Work has already started in a number of areas, including the evaluation of 
smoke hoods through the Operations Committee and the start of a significant 
piece of work on the practicalities of changing from a Stay Put building 
strategy to complete emergency evacuation.  A Steering Group is being 
established by MHCLG to oversee some of the work. 
 

11. Furthermore some of the recommendations suggest new or revised legislation 
is required which will require Government intervention to address.  
 

12. Many recommendations relate directly to fire control rooms and their 
procedures and arrangements for communicating and interacting with the 
incident ground. Work in relation to these recommendations will be carried 
out by North West Fire Control and will be monitored by the Service.  
 

Page 134



13. Since 2017 the protection team has completed audits on each of the 21 high 
rise residential blocks within Cheshire and has been proactive in the 
promotion of sprinklers within such premises. Out of the 21 blocks within 
Cheshire 17 will be fitted with sprinklers by the end of 2020.  Engagement 
work is ongoing in relation to the four outstanding premises. 
  

14. None of the high-rise residential premises within Cheshire were found to 
have Aluminium Cladding Material (ACM) of the type used on Grenfell 
Tower, and the Protection Department continues to monitor current 
Government guidance in relation to other cladding types/systems and take 
action as required. The Decks development in Runcorn is an example of this 
continuing work. 
 

15. In the coming year Protection officers will be completing further joint Site 
Specific Risk Information (SSRI) visits with operational crews to each of our 
high-rise premises. The emphasis of these visits will be to ensure the 
relevant protection information is contained within the SSRI plans. In 
addition the visits will ensure that crews are familiar with and can recognise, 
the risks associated with dealing with incidents in high rise buildings and 
have the relevant information to deal effectively with them.  
 

16. A review of all SSRI plans relating to high-rise premises has been completed 
by the SSRI Training Officer (SSRITO) with further training planned for 
crews in the coming year.  
 

17. The Operational Training Group (OTG) and Command Training Group 
(CTG) have also included high rise training and incident simulation within 
their training programmes. This is best evidenced by the work completed by 
the CTG, who have assessed and trained incident commanders at all levels 
in relation to high-rise scenarios.  
 

18. Crews from Cheshire have also been involved in several over the border 
high-rise exercises with both Merseyside and Greater Manchester Fire and 
Rescue Services. 
 

19. The Operational Policy and Assurance (OPA) department has also ensured 
that Service policies and procedures have been kept up to date with 
changes to the National Operational Guidance (NOG).  

 
20. A regional working group has been established in order to ensure that work 

carried out in relation to the Report recommendations is completed in a 
joined up manner. This is managed through the North West Region 
Operational Convergence Group. The most relevant example of this joined 
up approach has been the adoption of the HIRE protocol. 
 

21. HIRE (High-rise Immediate Resident Evacuation) is a procedure now agreed 

by each Service that uses North West Fire Control (NWFC). In short, HIRE is 

a message that would be initiated from the incident ground where fire spread 

and development is not what the Incident Commander would expect and 

evacuation of the building is deemed necessary. On receipt of the HIRE 

message NFWC will change their response to callers. Advice will change 

Page 135



from instructing them to act in accordance with the building fire evacuation 

strategy (which may include a stay put arrangement), to advising them to 

immediately evacuate the building. NWFC will also make every effort to call 

back previous callers to inform them of the change of advice.  

22. The Service is currently working to embed the HIRE procedure at all levels 

of incident command and will be carrying out a number of table top and live 

exercises to:-  

I. Robustly test crews and incident commanders in the identification of 

situations where HIRE is required and the implementation and use of the 

procedure on the incident ground 

II. Ensure that resources and equipment deployed are suitable and 

sufficient to effectively manage the change to simultaneous evacuation. 

This will include testing communication and information flow between the 

incident ground and NWFC. 

III. Ensure that the procedure is effective and workable based on a local and 

regional response to an incident.  

Financial Implications 

23. At this time the financial implications are limited to the cost of the additional 

Watch Manager post, however it is foreseeable that work arising from this 

report will have additional financial implications and this will form part of future 

papers as required. 

Legal Implications 

24. There are no legal implications directly related to this paper. However, legal 

issues may be highlighted as the work continues to deliver the action plan. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

25. There are no equality or diversity implications arising from this paper.   

Environmental Implications 

26. At this point no environmental implications have been highlighted.  

CONTACT: NAOMI THOMAS, GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE PLANNING 

MANAGER 

TEL [01606] 868804 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:   

Page 136



Appendix 1 – Gap Analysis 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                         

     

    

 

 

  

 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



GTI Chapter 33

S = Section 

P= Paragraph

Recommendation Current position Status Responsible person

S2

S3

S4

P33.1

All fire and rescue services to ensure that 

their personnel at all levels understand the 

risk of fire taking hold in the external walls of 

high-rise buildings and know how to recognise 

it when it occurs. 

Training embedded in ICA, WM7 and 

SMMI input in 2017, 2018, 2019

Two weeks protection input provided for 

Apprentices. 

Periodic training completed with crews 

by the protection department 1 day per 

watch per year (This has not specifically 

covered external cladding at this time)

OPA, CTG, Protection

S5

P33.11

I therefore recommend: a. that the LFB 

review, and revise as appropriate, Appendix 1 

to PN633 to ensure that it fully reflects the 

principles in GRA 3.2; b. that the LFB ensure 

that all officers of the rank of Crew Manager 

and above are trained in carrying out the 

requirements of PN633 relating to the 

inspection of high-rise buildings. 

NB LFB Internal policy document PN633 and 

GRA 3.2 both relate to firefighting in High-rise 

Building.

Op plan 15 embedded within the service.

New high-rise NOG to go live in 2020.

SOP update in line with NOG to include 

HIRE message, external spotters and 

the risk of external fire spread.

SSRI training officer in place.

SSRITO  has conducted Audits on all our 

High Rise records and issued 

recommendations and actions on the 

outcomes of those audits. 

On Call SSRI officer in Place

All High Rise inspected in line with op 

plan 15. including joint SSRI's with a 

protection officer.

Internal audit process for SSRI's in 

place, delivered by SSRITO.

Some Information sharing in relation to 

SSRI's in place between neighbouring 

services. This is currently limited

SSRITO and OPA

Action required 

Use of combustible materials

No recommendation made

Testing and certification of materials 

No recommendation made

Fire and rescue services: knowledge and understanding of materials used in high-rise buildings 

Section 7(2)(d) of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 

Inclusion of more specific Cladding training for crews in line with national 

trends.  

Continued additional high rise specific training during ICA, WM7 and SMMI 

training to be delivered by CTG assisted by Protection.  

High Rise NOG to be introduced in January 2020 with additional detail 

regarding HIRE, external spotters and exterior cladding

SSRITO to continue upskilling crews in relation to SSRI activity in line with 

National trends and relating to the GTI recommendations. 

Joint approach required in the information sharing of high-rise risk information 

with neighbouring services, specifically GMFRS.

GAP ANALYSIS Appendix 1

P
age 139



S6

This recommendation requires 

legislation to be passed. It is highly likely 

that this type of information will form part 

of the safety case for new high-rise 

residential blocks under the Building a 

safer future document. It will require the 

appropriate legislation to ensure that this 

standard is applied retrospectively. This 

was covered in Cheshire's response to 

the BSF consultation.

Much of this information is already 

captured within our SSRI records.

Even without the implementation of new 

legislation we are in a position to contact 

building owners for this information 

where it is not currently available

SDM's  & HIRE Project 

Manager

Fire core is a suitable platform for 

managing this recommendation from an 

operational perspective. 

It is our belief that all SSRi's contain the 

relevant information as stated above. 

Control currently have no access to this 

information.

OPA, NWFC & HIRE Project 

Manager

P33.12

Plans

I therefore recommend that the owner and 

manager of every high-rise residential building 

be required by law: 

a. to provide their local fire and rescue 

services with up-to-date plans in both paper 

and electronic form of every floor of the 

building identifying the location of key fire 

safety systems; 

b. to ensure that the building contains a 

premises information box, the contents of 

which must include a copy of the up-to-date 

floor plans and information about the nature of 

any lift intended for use by the fire and rescue 

services.

I also recommend, insofar as it is not already 

the case, that all fire and rescue services be 

equipped to receive and store electronic plans 

and to make them available to incident 

commanders and control room managers.

Review all current SSRI for High rise to ensure that floor plans are available 

and remedy where deficient. 

Develop a process for recording evacuation from blocks to ensure that the 

process is manageable.

SSRITO to ensure re-enforcement through training on the need to gather this 

information.

It is expected that this will fall out of any future HIRE project work completed.

Contact building owners for the relevant information where it is not currently 

available

Consider this as part of the review in to the command control room concept

Carry out a further review of existing high-rise SSRI records focussing on the 

specific elements in the recommendation

Add to the high-rise working group agenda. 

To be considered alongside the op's support officer which is being established 

who will have access to Fire Core and SSRI plans 

P
age 140



S7

P33.13

I therefore recommend: that the owner and 

manager of every high-rise residential building 

be required by law to carry out regular 

inspections of any lifts that are designed to be 

used by firefighters in an emergency and to 

report the results of such inspections to their 

local fire and rescue service at monthly 

intervals'. that the owner and manager of 

every high-rise residential building be required 

by law to carry out regular tests of the 

mechanism which allows firefighters to take 

control of the lifts and to inform their local fire 

and rescue service at monthly intervals that 

they have done so.

This recommendation requires 

legislation to be passed. It is highly likely 

that this type of information will form part 

of the safety case for new high-rise 

residential blocks under the Building a 

safer future document.   

 We can and do already address this 

recommendation through enforcement of 

RR(FS)O articles 17 and 38.

We believe that this information is 

already captured within our SSRI's

All SSRI's within Cheshire have been 

subjected to a Joint SSRI with a 

protection officer.

SSRITO, Protection & HIRE 

Project Manager

S8
I therefore recommend: a. that the LFB review 

its policies on communications between the 

control room and the incident commander; 

b. that all officers who may be expected to act 

as incident commanders (i.e. all those above 

the rank of Crew Manager) receive training 

directed to the specific requirements of 

communication with the control room; 

c. that all CROs of Assistant Operations 

Manager rank and above receive training 

directed to the specific requirements of 

communication with the incident commander; 

d. that a dedicated communication link be 

provided between the senior officer in the 

control room and the incident commander.

S9
I therefore recommend: a.That the LFB’s 

policies be amended to draw a clearer 

distinction between callers seeking advice and 

callers who believe they are trapped and need 

rescuing; 

Work with NWFC and associated FRS to 

review policy’s.

HIRE message now embedded within 

NWFC.  

Training provided to CRO's.

OPA, NWFC & HIRE Project 

Manager

HIRE action plan in place with NWFC,

Communication processes are 

embedded into our training of 

commanders through CTG. 

Pre planned topic for NWFC refresher 

training in January 2020 - HIRE, ECM, 

FSG.  Also through monthly call handling 

assessments.

Lifts 

Communication between the control room and the incident (Control specific items)

Emergency calls (North West Fire Control specific items)

OPA, NWFC & HIRE Project 

Manager

P33.14

P33.15

Through the internal audit process, ensure that FF Lifts are recorded correctly 

on SSRI’s. 

Crews to familiarise themselves appropriately during SSRI visits.

More work required to develop this to include use of designated talk group for 

evacuation, designation of specific evacuation Officer(s) and links between CU 

(specific to evacuation) and NWFC

Possible WM7 training day.

 Investigate use of dedicated evacuation line (HIRE project)

These recommendations will be addressed as part of the HIRE project

Monitor delivery through established structures

P
age 141



b. that the LFB provide regular and more 

effective refresher training to CROs at all 

levels, including supervisors; 

Pre planned topic for NWFC refresher 

training in January 2020 - HIRE, ECM, 

FSG.  Also through monthly call handling 

assessments.

OPA, NWFC & HIRE Project 

Manager

c. that all fire and rescue services develop 

policies for handling a large number of FSG 

calls simultaneously; 

NWFC can currently pass detailed info to 

appliance MDT's.  

In house working arrangements to 

manage evacuation strategy required.

OPA, NWFC & HIRE Project 

Manager

d. that electronic systems be developed to 

record FSG information in the control room 

and display it simultaneously at the 

bridgehead and in any command units; 

No systems currently available to do this 

in full 

OPA, NWFC, IT  & HIRE 

Project Manager

e. that policies be developed for managing a 

transition from “stay put” to “get out”; 

HIRE message now embedded within 

NWFC.  

Training provided to CRO's

f. that control room staff receive training 

directed specifically to handling such a 

change of advice and conveying it effectively 

to callers. 

Pre planned topic for NWFC refresher 

training in January 2020 - HIRE, ECM, 

FSG.  Also through monthly call handling 

assessments.

P33.16

I therefore recommend that steps be taken to 

investigate methods by which assisting control 

rooms can obtain access to the information 

available to the host control room. 

Currently being investigated and 

addressed by NWFC SPOC within OPA

Tri-partite agreement in place for call 

handling, but not for the passing of 

information.

NWFC & HIRE Project 

Manager

P33.15

Look to produce if not already in place a template for recording FSG caller 

details to ensure accurate information passed to Command units. 

Review capability of MDT’s to receive usable FSG data to the incident ground.

See above.  

CFRS do not currently have capability of receiving messages at bridgehead. 

Liaise with NWFC in relation to training and refresher training. 

These recommendations are  to be addressed as part of the HIRE project.  

NFCC working with MHCLG in the development of guidance and national policy

NFCC leading in relation to supporting MHCLG in the development of guidance 

and national policy.

No processes currently in place.  Work in progress.

P
age 142



P33.17

I therefore recommend that the LAS and the 

MPS review their protocols and policies to 

ensure that their operators can identify FSG 

calls (as defined by the LFB) and pass them 

to the LFB as soon as possible. 

Currently being investigated and 

addressed by NWFC SPOC within OPA.

CRO's would provide detailed brief of 

circumstances.

NWFC & HIRE Project 

Manager

S10
I therefore recommend: a. that the LFB 

develop policies and training to ensure better 

control of deployments and the use of 

resources; 

Use of the BA command pack and 

contents embedded within our training at 

all levels. 

Command training embedded within the 

service in line with national guidance 

including the use of functional sectors to 

manage resources on scene

OPA, NWFC & HIRE Project 

Manager

b. that the LFB develop policies and training 

to ensure that better information is obtained 

from crews returning from deployments and 

that the information is recorded in a form that 

enables it to be made available immediately to 

the incident commander (and thereafter to the 

command units and the control room). 

Use of the BA command pack and 

contents embedded within our training at 

all levels. 

Briefing and debriefing of crews is 

formally captured. This information is 

immediately available to the Incident 

commander via the BA supervisor.

OPA, NWFC & HIRE Project 

Manager

P33.19

I therefore recommend that the LFB develop a 

communication system to enable direct 

communication between the control room and 

the incident commander and improve the 

means of communication between the 

incident commander and the bridgehead. 

Airwave embedded.

SAN J available of numerous 

appliances.

All appliances and Officers are issued 

with Mobile Phones.

Pack set communication is available on 

the incident ground.

Testing and Procurement of new Digital 

pack set's is under way.

Designating communication channels is 

an assessable part of the incident 

command process. 

OPA, NWFC & HIRE Project 

Manager

Consider the need for an additional dedicated communication channel to the 

Incident commander. 

 If deemed appropriate, additional work may be required in addressing how this 

information is then made available to Control.

P33.18

Command and control 

No processes currently in place.

Further work required.

Being considered in the development of future procedures involving the roles of 

mobilising support officer and evacuation officer.

Consider additional training, desk top and live exercises to measure our 

performance of  these tasks under pressure. Possible scenario using BA main 

control. 

P
age 143



P33.2

I therefore recommend that the LFB 

investigate the use of modern communication 

techniques to provide a direct line of 

communication between the control room and 

the bridgehead, allowing information to be 

transmitted directly between the control room 

and the bridgehead and providing an 

integrated system of recording FSG 

information and the results of deployments. 

We do not currently have the facility to 

address this recommendation.

We are unsure that we would want 

information of this nature bypassing the 

Incident commander.

Currently this would be managed locally 

by the command unit and command 

structure.

OPA, IT, NWFC, & HIRE 

Project Manager 

S11
I therefore recommend: a. that the LFB 

urgently take steps to obtain equipment that 

enables firefighters wearing helmets and 

breathing apparatus to communicate with the 

bridgehead effectively, including when 

operating in high-rise buildings;

We are currently looking at updating the 

Packset communications within the 

service.

BA communications will be considered 

as an integral part of any procurement 

going forward. 

Currently new radios and ancillary 

equipment are out on trial at E05 

Runcorn.

Equipment officer & & HIRE 

Project Manager

b. that urgent steps be taken to ensure that 

the command support system is fully operative 

on all command units and that crews are 

trained in its use.

Command support system adopted 

within CFRS in line with national 

operational guidance. 

Robust system in place for auditing the 

effective use of the system through the 

Level 1 audit process by Tac officers.

CTG & OTG

b. that urgent steps be taken to ensure that 

the command support system is fully operative 

on all command units and that crews are 

trained in its use.

Command unit based at Northwich 

staffed by an experienced team with 

some resilience provided by the duty 

system.

Additional resilience provided through 

the training of the Runcorn crews. 

CTG

c. that the owner and manager of every high-

rise residential building be required by law to 

draw up and keep under regular review 

evacuation plans, copies of which are to be 

provided in electronic and paper form to their 

local fire and rescue service and placed in an 

information box on the premises; 

See P33:12

Continued realistic training and operational assurance through attendance at 

major live exercises and through table top simulations

P33.21

Look at 4/5G technology - Toughbook's/demountable tablets to receive info 

from NWFC.

These recommendations to be considered as part of the HIRE project

In line with the recommendations of the GTI report, recommend that any 

ancillary equipment to be used in BA with the new Packset radios is robustly 

tested prior to procurement in a range of situations and building types. 

Continue to test crew's through realistic simulation to ensure that the system is 

embedded in all of our operational activity. 

Continue to train and assess incident commanders in the effective use of the 

system through the Command Training Group.

Equipment 

P
age 144



d. that all high-rise residential buildings (both 

those already in existence and those built in 

the future) be equipped with facilities for use 

by the fire and rescue services enabling them 

to send an evacuation signal to the whole or a 

selected part of the building by means of 

sounders or similar devices; 

Formed part of recent Approved

Document B consultation.

CFRS responded to this consultation on

28th November 2019.

Protection & SSRITO

e. that the owner and manager of every high-

rise residential building be required by law to 

prepare personal emergency evacuation plans 

(PEEPs) for all residents whose ability to self-

evacuate may be compromised (such as 

persons with reduced mobility or cognition); 

Protection

f. that the owner and manager of every high-

rise residential building be required by law to 

include up-to-date information about persons 

with reduced mobility and their associated 

PEEPs in the premises information box; 

SSRITO

g. that all fire and rescue services be 

equipped with smoke hoods to assist in the 

evacuation of occupants through smoke-filled 

exit routes. 

Adopted regionally.

Currently not adopted within CFRS.

Equipment officer & & HIRE 

Project Manager

S12
a.            The government to develop national 

guidelines for carrying our partial or total 

evacuation of high rise residential buildings, 

such guidelines to include means of protection 

fire escape routes and procedures for 

evacuating persons who are unable to use the 

stairs in an emergency, or who might require 

assistance (such as disabled people, older 

people and young children).

Government led response required in 

relation to this task.

HIRE message embedded.

Protection officers robustly challenge 

evacuation strategies for life risk 

buildings and where concerns are 

apparent request demonstration or 

confirmation that the evacuation strategy 

for a building works. 

Protection & HIRE Project 

Manager 

b.            that fire and rescue services develop 

policies for partial and total evacuation of high-

rise residential buildings and training to 

support them; 

Work on going with North west region in 

relation to the HIRE policy, procurement 

of equipment, training and subsequent 

actions

OPA & HIRE Project Manager

Going forward this type of system will need to be recorded on SSRI's and crews 

will need to be trained in the operation of these systems

P33.21

P33.22

Should this become a legislated requirement under the outcomes of the 

Hackett Report or another enactment, additional training would be required via 

the SSRITO ref the capturing of this information. 

There is further research being carried out in relation to the effectiveness of the 

device from both a physical and psychological position.

This is being taken forward nationally by the NFCC and the Service is awaiting 

the outcome prior to making a final decision.

To be further developed alongside the HIRE project.

Monitor national work being conducted by NFCC and MHCLG 

Continue to work as a key part of the NW team in the development and 

implementation of the HIRE policy. 

HIRE project to be cognisant of this recommendation

Evacuation

Management and enforcement of this in 

high-rise blocks of flats/private dwellings 

would, as recommended require a 

change in legislation.

Protection officers currently  challenge 

means of escape and procedures for the 

evacuation of persons with disabilities 

under article 15 of the RR(FS)O 

'Procedures for serious and imminent 

danger and for danger areas'.

P
age 145



c.            that the owner and manager of every 

high-rise residential building be required by 

law to draw up and keep under regular review 

evacuation plans, copies of which are to be 

provided in electronic and paper form to their 

local fire and rescue service and placed in an 

information box on the premises; 

We are currently in a position to request 

this information from our high-rise 

owners if required on a voluntary basis.

Information is known for the 21 high rise 

in Cheshire 

Protection officers robustly challenge 

evacuation strategies for life risk 

buildings and where concerns are 

apparent request demonstration or 

confirmation that the evacuation strategy 

for a building works. 

Protection & HIRE Project 

Manager

d.            that all high-rise residential buildings 

(both those already in existence and those 

built in the future) be equipped with facilities 

for use by the fire and rescue services 

enabling them to send an evacuation signal to 

the whole or a selected part of the building by 

means of sounders or similar devices;

Formed part of recent Approved

Document B consultation.

CFRS responded to this consultation on

28th November 2019.

SSRITO, Protection & HIRE 

Project Manager

e.            that the owner and manager of every 

high-rise residential building be required by 

law to prepare personal emergency 

evacuation plans (PEEPs) for all residents 

whose ability to self-evacuate may be 

compromised (such as persons with reduced 

mobility or cognition);

Protection & HIRE Project 

Manager

f.             that the owner and manager of every 

high-rise residential building be required by 

law to include up-to-date information about 

persons with reduced mobility and their 

associated PEEPs in the premises 

information box; 

that all fire and rescue services be equipped 

with smoke hoods to assist in the evacuation 

of occupants through smoke-filled exit routes.

See 33:21G Equipment Officer and HIRE 

Project Manager

P33.22

Going forward this type of system will need to be recorded on SSRI's.

Crews will need to be trained in the operation of these systems. 

In the absence of any current legislation it will fall to local authorities to look at 

methods for encouraging locally premises owners/managers to adopt this 

approach. 

Consider if this could be delivered locally as part of pro-active engagement. 

See 33:21G

Monitor national work being conducted by NFCC and MHCLG 

Management and enforcement of this in 

high-rise blocks of flats/private dwellings 

would, as recommended require a 

change in legislation.

Consider taking forward the provision of information boxes at the high rise 

premises prior to any legislation and requesting the information be held and 

updated.  

Monitor national work being conducted by NFCC and MHCLG 

P
age 146



S13

S14

S15

P33.27

I therefore recommend that in all high-rise 

buildings floor numbers be clearly marked on 

each landing within the stairways and in a 

prominent place in all lobbies in such a way as 

to be visible both in normal conditions and in 

low lighting or smoky conditions. 

Formed part of recent Approved Document B 

consultation.

CFRS responded to this consultation on 28th 

November 2019.

Protection

P33.28

I therefore recommend that the owner and 

manager of every residential building 

containing separate dwellings (whether or not 

it is a high-rise building) be required by law to 

provide fire safety instructions (including 

instructions for evacuation) in a form that the 

occupants of the building can reasonably be 

expected to understand, taking into account 

the nature of the building and their knowledge 

of the occupants. 

Protection Officers already deliver 

against this recommendation under 

Article 11 of the RR(FS)O, Fire safety 

arrangements.

Protection

S16
 I therefore recommend: a. that the owner and 

manager of every residential building 

containing separate dwellings (whether or not 

they are high-rise buildings) carry out an 

urgent inspection of all fire doors to ensure 

that they comply with applicable legislative 

standards; 

Protection

b. that the owner and manager of every 

residential building containing separate 

dwellings (whether or not they are high-rise 

buildings) be required by law to carry out 

checks at not less than three-monthly 

intervals to ensure that all fire doors are fitted 

with effective self-closing devices in working 

order. 

P33.3

I therefore recommend that all those who 

have responsibility in whatever capacity for 

the condition of the entrance doors to 

individual flats in high-rise residential 

buildings, whose external walls incorporate 

unsafe cladding, be required by law to ensure 

that such doors comply with current 

standards.

P33.29

NFCC leading in relation to supporting MHCLG in the development of guidance and 

national policy

Protection officers to continue to challenging in this area during their audit activity.  

NFCC leading and supporting MHCLG in the development of guidance and national 

policy

Personal fire protection 

No recommendation made

Sprinkler systems 

No recommendation made

Internal signage 

Fire doors 

Ongoing robust auditing by Protection Officers. 

Additional training in relation to the corroboration of evidence planned for 

January.

NFCC leading on the implementation of a national review of risk information 

gathering, accessibility and enforcement

Protection Officers already deliver 

against this recommendation under 

Article 11, 14 and 17 of the RR(FS)O.

Gap Analysis completed following All 

Chief officers letter 1st July 2019.

Training input delivered to Protection 

teams on the robust auditing ethos.

Additional Corroboration of evidence 

training programmed for January 2020 

for all protection officers.

All high rise audited, only one found with 

door issues.

P
age 147



S17
I therefore recommend that the Joint Doctrine 

be amended to make it clear: a. that each 

emergency service must communicate the 

declaration of a Major Incident to all other 

Category 1 Responders as soon as possible; 

Embedded in policy and procedure. 

E learning package on the JESIP 

principles.

training at all levels of incident command 

in the declaration of major incidents and 

the associated METHANE message.

CTG, OPA & HIRE Project 

Manager

b. that on the declaration of a Major Incident 

clear lines of communication must be 

established as soon as possible between the 

control rooms of the individual emergency 

services; 

IC1 channel testing regime now 

embedded to enable communications 

from police to CFRS control rooms. 

Process robustly tested every Tuesday

c. that a single point of contact should be 

designated within each control room to 

facilitate such communication; 

NWFC have set ways of working that 

would facilitate this.  

d. that a “METHANE” message should be 

sent as soon as possible by the emergency 

service declaring a Major Incident.

Embedded in command training at all 

levels, supported by E leaning packages. 

P33.32

I therefore recommend that steps be taken to 

investigate the compatibility of the LFB 

systems with those of the MPS and the LAS 

with a view to enabling all three emergency 

services’ systems to read each other’s 

messages

The Emergency Services Mobile 

Communications Programme (ESMCP).  

Multi Agency incident transfer (MAIT).   

Direct Emergency Incident transfer 

(DEIT).  

OPA & HIRE Project Manager

P33.33

I therefore recommend that steps be taken to 

ensure that the airborne datalink system on 

every NPAS helicopter observing an incident 

which involves one of the other emergency 

services defaults to the National Emergency 

Service user encryption. 

We Have access to this through 

Cheshire Police via JTCC.

P33.34

I therefore recommend that the LFB, the MPS, 

the LAS and the London local authorities all 

investigate ways of improving the collection of 

information about survivors and making it 

available more rapidly to those wishing to 

make contact with them. 

This is managed through existing JTCC 

and the local resilience fora 

OPA & HIRE Project  Manager

S18

P33.31

Other matters

No recommendation made

Carry out a simulation to test this in practice with a major live or desk top 

scenario.

Co-operation between emergency services 

Training will be required following the introduction of any changes to the 

doctrine. 

Amendments will be required to our existing policies and E Learning packages.

NFCC Issued an action note has  to all UK Emergency Services with the 

following recommendations:

1. Each emergency service must communicate the declaration of a Major 

Incident to all other Category 1 Responders as soon as possible;

2. On the declaration of a Major Incident clear lines of communication must be 

established as soon as possible between the control rooms of the individual 

emergency services;

3. A single point of contact should be designated within each control room to 

facilitate such communication;

4. A “METHANE” message should be sent as soon as possible by the 

emergency service declaring a Major Incident.

Follow up actions are in progress.

This is a NWFC specific item and work is ongoing in relation to this 

recommendation being monitored by the service 

Further investigation is required to ensure this stream available at both NWFC 

and the Command unit  

P
age 148



8 July 2021 2 September 2020 25 November 2020 24 February 2021

1. Q4 Performance Report 1. Q1 Finance Report 1. Q2 Finance Report 1. Q3 Finance Report

2. Q4 Programme Report 2. Q1 Performance Report 2. Q2 Performance Report 2. Q3 Performance Report

3.
Internal Audit Report and Director of Audit 

Opinion and Annual Report 2019-20 
3. Q1 Programme Report 3. Q2 Programme Report 3. Q3 Programme Report

4. UPG Annual Report 2019-20 4. Q1 Internal Audit Report 4. Q2 Internal Audit Report 4. Q3 Internal Audit Report

5.
NW Fire Control Performance Annual 

Report (Call Handling)
5. Safety Central Annual Report 5. Annual Health, Safety and Wellbeing report 5. Annual Bonfire Report

6.
Operational and Command Training - End 

of Training Year Report 2019-20
6. Annual Equality Monitoring Report 6. Annual Road Safety Report 6. Equality Monitoring - 6 Monthly Update

7. HMICFRS Action Plan 7. Interim Bonfire Report (Verbal) 7.
Progress Update on Internal Audit 

Recommendations (half yearly update)

8. Annual Prosecutions Report 8. On the Streets Project - Annual Report 8. CFRS Pre-Alert Trial (TBC)

9. Annual Risk Management Report 9. HMICFRS Action Plan 9. Annual Risk Management Report

10. Annual Partnerships Report 10. Grenfell Update 

11. CFRS Pre-Alert Trial

12. Annual Safeguarding Report

IT Audit Report (TBC)

Performance and Overview Committee Meetings

Performance and Overview Committee

Forward Work Programme

P
age 149

A
genda Item

 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1D Minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee
	Minutes

	2 Financial Review - Quarter 3, 2019-20
	3 Performance Report - Quarter 3, 2019-20
	4 Programme Report - Quarter 3, 2019-20
	Item 4 - Appendix 1 - Programme Report - Quarter 3, 2019-20 v0.2

	5 Internal Audit Progress Report - Quarter 3, 2019-20
	Item 5 - Appendix 1 - Internal Audit Progress Report Performance and Overview Committee Feb 2020
	Item 5 - Appendix 2 - National Fraud Initiative (NFI) Final Update - Release of Matches 2019-20 v2

	6 Bonfire Period Report 2019
	Item 6 - Appendix 1 - Bonfire Period Report 2019

	7 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Update
	Item 7 - Appendix 1 - 50-50 Campaign posters

	8 Grenfell Tower Inquiry Phase 1 Update
	Item 8 - Appendix 1 - Grenfell Gap Analysis

	9 Forward Work Programme

